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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
References in this document to “the Registrant,” “Kforce,” “the Company,” “we,” “the Firm,” “management,” “our” or “us” refer to Kforce Inc. and its subsidiaries, except where
the context otherwise requires or indicates.
This report, particularly Part I. Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) and Part II. Item 1A. Risk Factors,
and the documents we incorporate into this report contain certain statements that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements within the meaning of that term in
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and are made in reliance upon
the protections provided by such acts for forward-looking statements. Such statements may include, but may not be limited to, projections of financial or operational performance,
our beliefs regarding potential government actions or changes in laws and regulations, anticipated costs and benefits of proposed acquisitions, divestitures and investments, effects
of interest rate variations, financing needs or plans, funding of employment benefit plans, estimates concerning the effects of litigation or other disputes, the occurrence of
unanticipated expenses, estimates concerning our ability to collect on our trade accounts receivable, developments within the staffing sector including, but not limited to, the
penetration rate (the percentage of temporary staffing to total employment) and growth in temporary staffing, a reduction in the supply of consultants and candidates or the Firm’s
ability to attract such individuals, changes in client demand for our services and our ability to adapt to such changes, the entry of new competitors in the market, the ability of the
Firm to maintain and attract clients in the face of changing economic or competitive conditions, as well as assumptions as to any of the foregoing and all statements that are not
based on historical fact but rather reflect our current expectations concerning future results and events. For a further list and description of various risks, relevant factors and
uncertainties that could cause future results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements, refer to the Risk Factors and MD&A
sections. In addition, when used in this discussion, the terms “anticipate,” “assume,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “will,” “may,” “likely,” “could,” “should,”
“future” and variations thereof and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted. Future events and actual results could differ materially from those
set forth in or underlying the forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained in this report, which speak
only as of the date of this report. Kforce undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Revenue
Direct costs

$

2018

326,738
233,562

$

317,441
224,904

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization

93,176
79,813
1,650

92,537
78,797
1,751

Income from operations
Other expense, net

11,713
923

11,989
1,344

Income from continuing operations, before income taxes
Income tax expense

10,790
2,816

10,645
2,660

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

7,974
18,881

7,985
1,190

Net income
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Change in fair value of interest rate swap, net of tax

26,855

9,175

(280)

Comprehensive income
Earnings per share – basic:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Earnings per share – basic
Earnings per share – diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Earnings per share – diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic
Weighted average shares outstanding – diluted

517

$

26,575

$

9,692

$

0.33
0.77

$

0.32
0.05

$

1.10

$

0.37

$

0.32
0.75

$

0.32
0.05

$

1.07

$

0.37

24,516
25,019

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

3

24,804
25,094

KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS)
March 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $2,915 and $2,800, respectively
Income tax refund receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets held for sale

$

Total current assets
Fixed assets, net
Other assets, net
Deferred tax assets, net
Goodwill
Noncurrent assets held for sale

259
220,520
113
7,956
26,688

$

255,536
28,940
56,429
7,642
25,040
51,025

Total assets

112
210,559
319
7,699
29,773
248,462
34,322
36,664
7,147
25,040
28,273

$

424,612

$

379,908

$

32,151
40,311
5,861
1,398
7,809
17,609

$

32,542
39,384
—
1,616
4,553
12,263

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll costs
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other current liabilities
Income taxes payable
Current liabilities held for sale
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt – credit facility
Long-term debt – other
Other long-term liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities held for sale

105,139
82,500
1,092
55,339
1,970

90,358
71,800
1,359
43,509
4,551

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note E)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par; 15,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par; 250,000 shares authorized, 71,860 and 71,856 issued and outstanding,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost; 46,249 and 45,822 shares, respectively

246,040

211,577

—

—

719
450,276
1,184
259,356
(532,963)

719
447,337
1,296
237,308
(518,329)

178,572

168,331

Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

424,612

$

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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379,908

KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS)
Common Stock
Shares

Amount

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Balance, December 31, 2018
71,856 $
Net income
—
Reclassification of stranded
tax effects (Note A)
—
Issuance for stock-based
compensation and dividends,
net of forfeitures
4
Stock-based compensation
expense
—
Employee stock purchase
plan
—
Dividends ($0.18 per share)
—
Change in fair value of
interest rate swap, net of tax
benefit of $95
—
Repurchases of common
stock
—

719 $ 447,337 $
—
—

Balance, March 31, 2019

719 $ 450,276 $

71,860 $

1,296 $ 237,308
—
26,855

Shares

Amount

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

45,822 $ (518,329) $
—
—

168,331
26,855

—

168

(168)

—

—

—

—

233

—

(233)

—

—

—

—

2,620

—

—

—

—

2,620

—
—

86
—

—
—

—
(4,406)

(5)
—

54
—

140
(4,406)

—

—

(280)

—

—

—

(280)

—

—

—

—

432

(14,688)

Amount

Balance, December 31, 2017
71,494 $
Net income
—
Cumulative effect of
revenue recognition
accounting standard, net of
tax of $63
—
Issuance for stock-based
compensation and
dividends, net of forfeitures
63
Exercise of stock options
5
Stock-based compensation
expense
—
Employee stock purchase
plan
—
Dividends ($0.12 per share)
—
Change in fair value of
interest rate swap, net of tax
of $176
—
Repurchases of common
stock
—

715 $
—

Balance, March 31, 2018

716 $

71,562 $

Retained
Earnings

—

Common Stock
Shares

Treasury Stock

1,184 $ 259,356

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

437,394 $
—

Treasury Stock
Retained
Earnings

100 $ 195,143
—
9,175

(14,688)

46,249 $ (532,963) $

Shares

Amount

178,572

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

45,167 $ (499,075) $
—
—

134,277
9,175

—

—

—

(179)

—

—

(179)

1
—

166
46

—
—

(167)
—

—
1

—
(46)

—
—

—

2,260

—

—

—

—

2,260

—
—

71
—

—
—

—
(2,973)

(6)
—

61
—

132
(2,973)

—

—

517

—

—

—

517

—

—

—

—

319

(8,715)

(8,715)

439,937 $

617 $ 200,999

45,481 $ (507,775) $

134,494

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Deferred income tax provision, net
Provision for bad debts
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Defined benefit pension plan expense
Loss on deferred compensation plan investments, net
Loss on disposal or impairment of property and equipment
Contingent consideration liability remeasurement
Noncash lease expense
Other
(Increase) decrease in operating assets
Trade receivables, net
Income tax refund receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets, net
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll costs
Income taxes payable
Other long-term liabilities

$

2018

26,855

$

9,175

(18,314)
349
1,972
2,620
216
89
801
886
1,662
87

41
368
2,115
2,260
455
110
5
—
—
91

(7,377)
206
894
(1,493)

(12,350)
6,341
91
69

5,841
380
2,951
(6,836)

(2,096)
317
3,388
(130)

Cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Other

11,789

10,250

(1,496)
(1,000)

(1,469)
—

Cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from credit facility
Payments on credit facility
Payments on other financing arrangements
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividend
Other

(2,496)

(1,469)

78,300
(67,600)
(540)
(14,875)
(4,406)
(25)

193,400
(186,723)
(569)
(12,038)
(2,973)
—

(9,146)

(8,903)

147
112

(122)
379

Cash used in financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

259

$

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Unless otherwise noted below, there have been no material changes to the accounting policies presented in Note 1 - “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of the 2018 Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
Basis of Presentation
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC regarding interim financial
reporting. Accordingly, certain information and footnotes normally required by GAAP for complete financial statements have been condensed or omitted
pursuant to those rules and regulations, although Kforce believes that the disclosures made are adequate to make the information not misleading. These
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included
in our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In management’s opinion, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all
adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation. The Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018 was derived from
our audited Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018, as presented in our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation for amounts related to a disposal group held for sale and
discontinued operations. Refer to Note B - “Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations” for further information.
Our quarterly operating results are affected by the number of billing days in a particular quarter, the seasonality of our clients’ businesses and increased
holiday and vacation days taken. In addition, we typically experience an increase in costs in the first quarter of each fiscal year as a result of certain U.S. state
and federal employment tax resets, which negatively impacts our gross profit and overall profitability. The results of operations for any interim period may be
impacted by these factors and are not necessarily indicative of, nor comparable to, the results of operations for a full year.
Principles of Consolidation
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kforce Inc. and its subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation. References in this document to “Kforce,” “the Company,” “we,” “the Firm,” “management,” “our” or “us”
refer to Kforce Inc. and its subsidiaries, except where the context indicates otherwise.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. The most important of these estimates and assumptions relate to the following: allowance for doubtful accounts;
income taxes; self-insured liabilities for workers’ compensation and health insurance; obligations for the pension plan and goodwill and any related
impairment. Although these and other estimates and assumptions are based on the best available information, actual results could be materially different from
these estimates.
Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed as net income divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding (“WASO”) during the period.
WASO excludes unvested shares of restricted stock. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by diluted WASO. Diluted WASO
includes the dilutive effect of potentially dilutive securities such as unvested shares of restricted stock using the treasury stock method, except where the
effect of including potential common shares would be anti-dilutive.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there were 503 thousand and 290 thousand common stock equivalents included in the diluted WASO,
respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there were insignificant anti-dilutive common stock equivalents.
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Health Insurance
Except for certain fully insured health insurance lines of coverage, Kforce retains the risk of loss for each health insurance plan participant up to $500
thousand in claims annually. For its partially self-insured lines of coverage, health insurance costs are accrued using estimates to approximate the liability for
reported claims and incurred but not reported claims, which are primarily based upon an evaluation of historical claims experience, actuarially-determined
completion factors and a qualitative review of our health insurance exposure including the extent of outstanding claims and expected changes in health
insurance costs.
New Accounting Standards
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In August 2018, the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding a customer's accounting for implementation costs incurred for a cloud computing
arrangement that is a service contract. The amendment aligns the requirements for capitalizing these implementation costs with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software, and defer these costs over the non-cancelable term of the cloud
computing arrangements plus any optional renewal periods that are reasonably certain to be exercised. This amendment also requires entities to present cash
flows, capitalized costs and amortization expense in the same financial statement line items as the service costs incurred for such arrangements. The guidance
is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2019 with retrospective application or prospective to all implementation costs incurred after the
date of adoption. We early adopted this standard using the prospective method effective January 1, 2019. Our hosting arrangements that are service contracts
relate to technology solutions applicable to our business. Historically, these implementation costs were recorded as capital expenditures within investing
cash flows and the capitalized costs were included in Other assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets. Due to the adoption of this standard and effective
January 1, 2019, these implementation costs will be recorded within operating cash flows going forward. Capitalized costs will be recorded in Prepaids and
other current assets if expected to be recognized within one year and Other assets, net, if over one year, in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets. As of March 31, 2019, implementation costs capitalized were $0.2 million, and there was no accumulated amortization or amortization expense
recorded during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
In February 2018, the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding the reclassification of certain stranded tax effects from accumulated other
comprehensive income to retained earnings as a result of the change in tax rates related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The guidance is effective for fiscal
periods beginning after December 15, 2018. We elected to adopt this optional standard and reclassified approximately $168 thousand from accumulated
other comprehensive income to retained earnings on January 1, 2019 using the period of adoption method.
In August 2017, the FASB issued authoritative guidance targeting improvements to accounting for hedging activities, which expands and clarifies hedge
accounting for nonfinancial and financial risk components, aligns the recognition and presentation of the effects of the hedging instrument and hedged item
in the financial statements, and simplifies the requirements for assessing effectiveness in a hedging relationship. The guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2018. We adopted this standard using the modified retrospective approach with no required cumulative adjustments as of
January 1, 2019. Additionally, we adopted the presentation and disclosure requirements using the prospective method as required. Refer to Note L “Derivative Instrument and Hedging Activity” for the additional disclosures of the Firm’s derivative instrument.
In February 2016, the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding the accounting for leases, and has since issued subsequent updates to the initial
guidance. The amended guidance requires the recognition of assets and liabilities for operating leases. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2018. We adopted this standard using the optional transition method as of January 1, 2019, without retrospective application to
comparative periods. Refer to Note I - "Leases" for additional accounting policy and transition disclosures related to our leases.
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Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
In August 2018, the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding changes to the disclosure requirement for defined benefit plans including additions and
deletions to certain disclosure requirements for employers that sponsor defined benefit pension or other post-retirement plans. The guidance is effective for
fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2020 with the retrospective method required for all periods presented. The adoption of this guidance will modify
our disclosures but is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding changes to the disclosure requirements for fair value measurement. The amendments
pertaining to changes in unrealized gains and losses, the weighted average and range of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value
measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent interim or annual period
presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. All other amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented upon their effective date. The
guidance is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of this guidance will modify our disclosures but is not expected to
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on accounting for credit losses on financial instruments, including trade receivables. The guidance
requires the application of a current expected credit loss model, which measures credit losses based on relevant information about past events, including
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December
15, 2019. The guidance requires adoption using a modified retrospective approach. We are currently evaluating the potential impact on our consolidated
financial statements, especially with respect our disclosures.
Note B - Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, management committed to a plan to divest of our Government Solutions (“GS”) segment as a result of the
Firm’s strategic decision to focus solely on the commercial technical and professional staffing services and solutions space. The GS segment consisted of
Kforce Government Solutions, Inc. (“KGS”), our federal government solutions business, and TraumaFX®, our federal government product business. We
evaluated the six criteria for classification of assets held for sale and determined that the GS segment was a disposal group held for sale as of March 31, 2019.
We determined that the divestiture of the GS segment was a strategic shift that will have a major effect on operations and financial results of the Firm.
Kforce will not have significant continuing involvement in the operations of the GS segment after its disposition. Therefore, the GS segment was reflected
as held for sale on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and included in discontinued operations in
the consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
The following table summarizes the line items of pretax profit for the GS segment (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Revenue

$

Direct costs
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Income from discontinued operations
Other expense (income), net
Income from discontinued operations, before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

9

2018

26,426
19,015

$

28,852
21,201

7,411
5,432
235

7,651
5,810
242

1,744
864

1,599
(4)

880
(18,001)

1,603
413

18,881

$

1,190

Historically, Kforce was not required to record a deferred tax asset for the excess of the outside tax basis in the equity of KGS over the amount of the inside
basis in the assets of KGS used for external reporting under GAAP as it was not apparent that this deferred tax asset would be realized. During the three
months ended March 31, 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell the stock of KGS; therefore, we were required to record an increase of $18.5
million to deferred tax assets since it became apparent that the temporary difference would reverse in the foreseeable future. The corresponding income tax
benefit was included in Income from discontinued operations, net of tax in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income.
The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities held for sale for the GS segment (in thousands):
March 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

ASSETS
Current assets held for sale:
Trade receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Current assets held for sale
Noncurrent assets held for sale:
Fixed assets, net
Other assets, net
Deferred tax assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Total Noncurrent assets held for sale (1)
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities held for sale:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll costs
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other current liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total Current liabilities held for sale
Noncurrent liabilities held for sale:
Other long-term liabilities
Total Noncurrent liabilities held for sale

$

21,403
5,285

$

24,336
5,437

$

26,688

$

29,773

$

1,354
1,559
20,518
2,866
20,928

$

1,496
293
2,604
2,952
20,928

$

47,225

$

28,273

$

11,727
5,192
682
8
—

$

6,064
5,878
—
16
305

$

17,609

$

12,263

$

1,970

$

4,551

$

1,970

$

4,551

(1) At March 31, 2019, Noncurrent assets held for sale in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets of $ 51.0 million also includes $3.8
million related to a long-lived asset unrelated to the GS segment.
Management considered the qualitative and quantitative factors for the goodwill associated with the GS reporting unit and determined that there was no
indication that the carrying value was likely impaired. The GS reporting unit's goodwill balance of $20.9 million was reclassified to assets held for sale at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
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The contingent consideration liability, related to the acquisition of TraumaFX® in 2014, of $1.1 million is included in Accounts payable and other accrued
liabilities within Current liabilities held for sale as of March 31, 2019 and $0.2 million is included in Other long-term liabilities within Noncurrent liabilities
held for sale as of December 31, 2018. This liability is remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis using the discounted cash flow method. The inputs used to
calculate the fair value of the contingent consideration liability are considered to be Level 3 inputs due to the lack of relevant market activity and significant
management judgment. An increase in future cash flows may result in a higher estimated fair value while a decrease in future cash flows may result in a lower
estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, approximately $0.9 million of expense was
recognized due to the remeasurement of our contingent consideration liability. Remeasurements to fair value are recorded in Income from discontinued
operations, net of tax within the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019, cash provided by operating activities and cash used in investing activities for discontinued operations were
$5.7 million and $0.1 million, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2018, cash provided by operating activities and cash used in investing
activities for discontinued operations were $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
Subsequent Event
On April 1, 2019, Kforce completed the sale of all the issued and outstanding stock of Kforce Government Holdings, Inc., including its wholly-owned
subsidiary KGS, to ManTech International Corporation for a cash purchase price of $115.0 million, subject to a post-closing working capital adjustment. We
expect a gain on the sale, net of transaction costs, of approximately $72.0 million. The transaction costs are expected to total approximately $9.5 million and
primarily include legal fees, commissions, transaction bonuses and accelerated stock-based compensation expense triggered by a change in control of
KGS. The Firm does not expect to pay any income tax on this transaction due to it being structured as a stock sale and Kforce’s significant outside tax basis,
which has been recognized as a deferred tax asset in accordance with GAAP as of March 31, 2019, as discussed above. The gain on the sale of KGS and the
reversal of the related deferred tax asset and income tax benefit of $18.5 million will be recorded in discontinued operations during the three months ended
June 30, 2019.
While the sale of KGS did not include TraumaFX®, management announced on March 1, 2019 that it is exploring strategic alternatives for
TraumaFX® which includes, but is not limited to, a potential sale of the business. This process is continuing and there can be no assurance of any particular
outcome. The conclusion of the process is expected to occur within the next year.
Note C - Reportable Segments
Kforce provides services through the following segments: Technology (“Tech”) and Finance and Accounting (“FA”). Historically, and for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, we have reported sales and gross profit information on a segment basis. Total assets, liabilities and operating expenses are
not reported separately by segment as our operations are largely combined.
The following table provides information on the operations of our segments (in thousands):
Tech

Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
Revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses and other expenses
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes

$
$

2018
Revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses and other expenses
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes

$
$

11

255,643
68,822

236,497
65,376

FA

$
$

$
$

Total

71,095
24,354

80,944
27,161

$
$

326,738
93,176
82,386

$

10,790

$
$

317,441
92,537
81,892

$

10,645

Note D - Revenue
The following table provides information on revenue by segment and type (in thousands):
Tech

Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
Revenue by type:
Flex revenue
Direct Hire revenue
Total Revenue
2018
Revenue by type:
Flex revenue
Direct Hire revenue
Total Revenue

FA

Total

$

250,216
5,427

$

64,765
6,330

$

314,981
11,757

$

255,643

$

71,095

$

326,738

$

231,496
5,001

$

74,550
6,394

$

306,046
11,395

$

236,497

$

80,944

$

317,441

Note E - Commitments and Contingencies
Employment Agreements
Kforce has employment agreements with certain executives that provide for minimum compensation, salary and continuation of certain benefits for a sixmonth to a three-year period after their employment ends under certain circumstances. Certain of the agreements also provide for a severance payment
ranging from one to three times annual salary and one-half to three times average annual bonus if such an agreement is terminated without good cause by
Kforce or for good reason by the executive subject to certain post-employment restrictive covenants. At March 31, 2019, our liability would be
approximately $32.8 million if, following a change in control, all of the executives under contract were terminated without good cause by the employer or if
the executives resigned for good reason and $14.3 million if, in the absence of a change in control, all of the executives under contract were terminated by
Kforce without good cause or if the executives resigned for good reason.
Litigation
We are involved in legal proceedings, claims and administrative matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. We have made accruals with respect to
certain of these matters, where appropriate, that are reflected in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements but are not, individually or in the
aggregate, considered material. For other matters for which an accrual has not been made, we have not yet determined that a loss is probable or the amount of
loss cannot be reasonably estimated. While the ultimate outcome of the matters cannot be determined, we currently do not expect that these proceedings and
claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The outcome of any
litigation is inherently uncertain, however, and if decided adversely to us, or if we determine that settlement of particular litigation is appropriate, we may be
subject to liability that could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Kforce maintains liability insurance
in amounts and with such coverage and deductibles as management believes is reasonable. The principal liability risks that Kforce insures against are
workers’ compensation, personal injury, bodily injury, property damage, directors’ and officers’ liability, errors and omissions, cyber liability, employment
practices liability and fidelity losses. There can be no assurance that Kforce’s liability insurance will cover all events or that the limits of coverage will be
sufficient to fully cover all liabilities. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.
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Note F - Other Assets, Net
Other assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Assets held in Rabbi Trust

$

$

Right-of-use assets for operating leases, net
Capitalized software, net
Deferred loan costs, net
Interest rate swap derivative instrument
Other non-current assets
Total Other assets, net

32,593
15,289
5,477
1,120
525
1,425

29,134
—
4,828
1,182
900
620

$

56,429

$

36,664

Note G - Current Liabilities
The following table provides information on certain current liabilities balances (in thousands):
March 31, 2019

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll costs:
Payroll and benefits
Health insurance liabilities
Payroll taxes
Workers’ compensation liabilities
Total Accrued payroll costs

December 31, 2018

$

20,571
11,580

$

18,793
13,749

$

32,151

$

32,542

$

34,525
3,873
898
1,015

$

34,768
2,680
920
1,016

$

40,311

$

39,384

Our accounts payable balance includes vendor and independent contractor payables. Our accrued liabilities balance includes the current portion of the
deferred compensation plans liability, contract liabilities from contracts with customers (such as rebates) and other accrued liabilities.
Note H - Other Long-Term Liabilities
Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Deferred compensation plan

$

27,343
15,250
11,452
1,294

$

Supplemental executive retirement plan
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total Other long-term liabilities

25,672
15,035
—
2,802

$

55,339

$

43,509

13

Note I - Leases
We determine if a contract or arrangement meets the definition of a lease at inception. Kforce leases property for our field offices as well as certain office
equipment. We adopted the new lease standard using the optional transition method in the period of adoption as of January 1, 2019, without retrospective
application to comparative periods. We recorded approximately $17.6 million of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and $21.0 million of lease liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheet on January 1, 2019 related to operating leases. The difference between the ROU assets and lease liabilities balances relates to
the lease incentive liabilities as of December 31, 2018 in accordance with the previous lease accounting guidance. We determined that no cumulative effect
adjustment to retained earnings was necessary upon adoption. ROU assets for operating leases are recorded within Other assets, net and operating lease
liabilities are recorded within Other current liabilities if expected to be recognized in less than one year and Other long-term liabilities, if over one year, in
the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. Operating lease additions are disclosed as a non-cash transaction in Note N - "Supplemental Cash
Flow Information" and the amortization of the ROU assets is reflected as Noncash lease expense within operating activities in the Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. We elected the package of practical expedients and did not reassess our prior conclusions regarding lease
identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. We did not elect the hindsight practical expedient.
Finance leases are not significant to our operations as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Operating Leases
We elected not to separate lease and non-lease components when determining the consideration in the contract. ROU assets and lease liabilities are
recognized based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date. If there is no rate implicit in the lease, we use our
incremental borrowing rate in the present value calculation, which is based on our collateralized borrowing rate and determined based on the terms of our
leases and the economic environment in which they exist. Our weighted-average discount rate was 4.00% on March 31, 2019. Our lease agreements do not
contain any material residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.
Our lease terms typically range from three to five years with one or more options to renew with similar terms. The exercise of renewal options is at our sole
discretion and is included in the lease term if we are reasonably certain that the renewal option will be exercised. Our weighted-average remaining lease term
was 3.5 years on March 31, 2019.
We elected the short term practical expedient for any leases with an initial term of 12 months or less and did not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for
those leases.
Certain of our operating leases require variable payments of property taxes, insurance and common area maintenance, in addition to base rent. Variable lease
costs, other than those dependent upon an index or rate, are expensed when the obligation for those payments is incurred.
The following table presents operating lease expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
Lease Cost

March 31, 2019

Operating lease expense
Variable lease costs
Short term lease expense
Sublease income
Total operating lease expense
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$

1,768
382
180
(106)

$

2,224

The following table presents the maturities of operating lease liabilities as of March 31, 2019 (in thousands):
Remainder of 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

4,725
5,855
3,431
1,832
1,590
740
459

Total maturities of operating lease liabilities
Less: Interest

18,632
1,319
$

Total operating lease liabilities

17,313

The following table presents the expected future contractual operating lease obligations as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total future contractual operating lease obligations

$

6,994
6,177
3,731
2,142
1,745
1,199

$

21,988

Note J - Employee Benefit Plans
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
Kforce maintains a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for the benefit of certain executive officers. The primary goals of the SERP are to
create an additional wealth accumulation opportunity, restore lost qualified pension benefits due to government limitations and retain our covered executive
officers. The SERP is a non-qualified benefit plan and does not include elective deferrals of covered executive officers’ compensation.
The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit cost (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

2018

Service cost
Interest cost

$

65
151

$

338
117

Net periodic benefit cost

$

216

$

455

The service cost is recorded in SG&A and the interest cost is recorded in Other expense, net in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
The projected benefit obligation as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $15.3 million and $15.0 million, respectively, and is recorded in Other
long-term liabilities in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. There is no requirement for Kforce to fund the SERP and, as a
result, no contributions were made to the SERP during the three months ended March 31, 2019. Kforce does not currently anticipate funding the SERP during
the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Note K - Stock Incentive Plans
On April 23, 2019, the Kforce shareholders approved the 2019 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”). The 2019 Plan allows for the issuance of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards (including restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) and restricted stock units (“RSUs”)) and other stock-based
awards. The aggregate number of shares of common stock that are subject to awards under the 2019 Plan is approximately 2.8 million shares. The 2019 Plan
terminates on April 23, 2029. Prior to the effective date of the 2019 Plan, the Company granted stock awards to eligible participants under our 2017 Stock
Incentive Plan, 2016 Stock Incentive Plan and 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (collectively the “Prior Plans”). As of the effective date of the 2019 Plan, no
additional awards may be granted pursuant to the Prior Plans; however, awards outstanding as of the effective date will continue to vest in accordance with
the terms of the Prior Plans.
During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, stock-based compensation expense from continuing operations was $2.5 million and $2.2 million,
respectively.
Restricted Stock
Restricted stock (including RSAs and RSUs) are granted to executives and management either: for awards related to Kforce’s annual long-term incentive
(“LTI”) compensation program or as part of a compensation package in order to retain directors, executives and management. The LTI award amounts are
generally based on total shareholder return performance goals. Restricted stock granted during the three months ended March 31, 2019 will vest over a period
of ten years, with equal vesting annually.
RSAs contain the same voting rights as other common stock as well as the right to forfeitable dividends in the form of additional RSAs at the same rate as the
cash dividend on common stock and containing the same vesting provisions as the underlying award. RSUs contain no voting rights, but have the right to
forfeitable dividend equivalents in the form of additional RSUs at the same rate as the cash dividend on common stock and the same vesting provisions as the
underlying award. The distribution of shares of common stock for each RSU, pursuant to the terms of the Kforce Inc. Director’s Restricted Stock Unit Deferral
Plan, can be deferred to a date later than the vesting date if an appropriate election is made. In the event of such deferral, vested RSUs have the right to
dividend equivalents.
The following table presents the restricted stock activity for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of Restricted Stock

Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Vested

1,320
12
(8)
(8)

$
$
$
$

24.94
30.72
24.63
20.15

Outstanding at March 31, 2019

1,316

$

25.02

Total Intrinsic
Value of Restricted
Stock Vested

$

308

The weighted-average grant date fair value at December 31, 2018 has been updated in the table above to correct an immaterial reporting error in our 2018
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
As of March 31, 2019, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock was $26.9 million, which will be recognized over a
weighted-average remaining period of 3.8 years.
Note L - Derivative Instrument and Hedging Activity
Kforce is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of our corporate borrowing activities. The Firm uses an interest rate swap derivative as a risk management tool
to mitigate the potential impact of rising interest rates on our variable rate debt.
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On April 21, 2017, Kforce entered into a forward-starting interest rate swap agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the “Swap”). The Swap was effective May
31, 2017 and matures April 29, 2022. The Swap rate is 1.81%, which is added to our interest rate margin to determine the fixed rate that the Firm will pay to
the counterparty during the term of the Swap based on the notional amount of the Swap. The notional amount of the Swap is $65.0 million for the first three
years and decreases to $25.0 million for years four and five.
The Swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge and was effective as of March 31, 2019. The change in the fair value of the Swap was recorded as a
component of Accumulated other comprehensive income in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The following table sets forth the activity in the accumulated derivative instrument gain for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (in thousands):
Accumulated derivative instrument gain, beginning of period
Net change associated with current period hedging transactions

$

900
(375)

Accumulated derivative instrument gain, end of period

$

525

Note M - Fair Value Measurements
Kforce’s interest rate swap is measured at fair value using readily observable inputs, such as the LIBOR interest rate, which are considered to be Level 2
inputs. The Swap is recorded in Other assets, net within the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Refer to Note L - “Derivative
Instrument and Hedging Activity” for a complete discussion of the Firm’s derivative instrument.
Certain assets, in specific circumstances, are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis utilizing Level 3 inputs such as goodwill and other long-lived
assets. For these assets, measurement at fair value in periods subsequent to their initial recognition would be applicable if one or more of these assets were
determined to be impaired.
The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, estimated fair values on a recurring basis (in thousands):

Assets/(Liabilities) Measured at Fair Value:
At March 31, 2019
Recurring basis:
Interest rate swap derivative instrument
At December 31, 2018
Recurring basis:
Interest rate swap derivative instrument

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Asset/(Liability)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs (Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)

$

525

$

—

$

525

$

—

$

900

$

—

$

900

$

—

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2 or 3 assets or liabilities during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
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Note N - Supplemental Cash Flow Information
The following table provides information regarding supplemental cash flows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Cash Paid During the Period For:
Income taxes
Interest, net
Operating lease liabilities
Non-Cash Financing and Investing Transactions:
ROU assets obtained from new operating leases
Unsettled repurchases of common stock
Employee stock purchase plan
Shares tendered in payment of exercise price of stock options

2018

$

184
627
1,836

$

89
1,343
—

$

817
369
140
—

$

—
—
132
46

During the three months ended March 31, 2018, cash provided by operating activities included the receipt of an income tax refund in the amount of $6.8
million.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, management announced that Kforce entered into a definitive agreement to sell KGS and is exploring
strategic alternatives for TraumaFX®. KGS and TraumaFX® comprised the Firm’s GS segment, which was included in discontinued operations in the
consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. Refer to Note B - “Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued
Operations” to the Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion. Except as specifically noted, our
discussions below exclude any activity related to the GS segment, which is addressed separately in the discussion of income from discontinued operations,
net of tax, and certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
The following is an executive summary of what Kforce believes are highlights as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019, which should be
considered in the context of the additional discussions herein and in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto.
• Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2019 increased 2.9% (4.6% on a billing day basis) to $326.7 million from $317.4 million in the
comparable period in 2018.
• Flex revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2019 increased 2.9% (4.6% on a billing day basis) over the comparable period in 2018. Flex revenue
increased 8.1% for Tech (9.8% on a billing day basis) and decreased 13.1% for FA (11.7% on a billing day basis).
• Direct Hire revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2019 increased 3.2% to $11.8 million from $11.4 million in the comparable period in 2018.
•

Flex gross profit margin for the three months ended March 31, 2019 decreased 70 basis points to 25.8% from 26.5% in the comparable period in 2018.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019, Flex gross profit decreased 80 basis points and 10 basis points for Tech and FA, respectively.

•

SG&A as a percentage of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2019 decreased to 24.4% from 24.8% in the comparable period in 2018. SG&A
expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2019 include $2.0 million of severance and other costs due to actions taken as a result of the KGS
divestiture, which negatively impacted SG&A. The overall improvement in SG&A was primarily due to an improvement in associate productivity, lower
overall headcount and a continued focus on expense discipline.
Income from continuing operations for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 of $8.0 million, or $0.32 per share, remained flat as compared to the quarter
ended March 31, 2018. The aforementioned severance and other costs negatively impacted EPS from continuing operations.
The total amount outstanding under our Credit Facility as of March 31, 2019 was $82.5 million, which increased $10.7 million from December 31, 2018,
due to the amount of capital returned to our shareholders in the first quarter of 2019.
The Firm returned $19.0 million of capital to our shareholders in the form of a quarterly dividend of $4.4 million, or $0.18 per share, and common stock
repurchases of $14.6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Cash provided by operating activities was $11.8 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to $10.3 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2018.

•
•
•
•
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Business Overview
Kforce provides professional staffing services and solutions to clients through our Tech and FA segments. Kforce provides staffing services and solutions on
both a temporary (“Flex”) and permanent (“Direct Hire”) basis. We operate through our corporate headquarters in Tampa, Florida with approximately 50 field
offices located throughout the United States. As of March 31, 2019, Kforce employed nearly 2,400 associates and more than 10,300 consultants on
assignment.
Kforce serves clients across many industries and geographies as well as companies of all sizes with a particular focus on Fortune 1000 and similarly-sized
companies. We believe that our portfolio of service offerings are a key contributor to our long-term financial stability.
From an economic standpoint, temporary employment figures and trends are important indicators of staffing demand, which have continued to be positive
during 2019, based on data published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics and Staffing Industry Analysts. The penetration rate (the percentage of temporary
staffing to total employment) and unemployment rate were 2.0% and 4.1%, respectively, in March 2019. Total non-farm employment was up 1.5% year-overyear as of March 2019, and temporary help employment was up 3.8% for the same period. In addition, the college-level unemployment rate, which we believe
serves as a proxy for professional employment and therefore aligns well with the candidate and consultant population that Kforce most typically serves, was
2.0% in March 2019. Further, we believe that the unemployment rate in the specialties we serve, especially in certain technology skill sets, is lower than the
published averages, which we believe speaks to the demand environment in which we are operating.
Operating Results - Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 and 2018
The following table presents, as a percentage of revenue, certain items in our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Revenue by segment:
Tech
FA

2018

78.2 %
21.8

74.5 %
25.5

Total Revenue
Revenue by type:
Flex
Direct Hire

100.0 %

100.0 %

96.4 %
3.6

96.4 %
3.6

Total Revenue

100.0 %

100.0 %

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Income from operations
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income

28.5
24.4
0.5
3.6
3.3
2.4
5.8
8.2
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%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

29.2
24.8
0.6
3.8
3.4
2.5
0.4
2.9

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Revenue. The following table presents revenue by type for each segment and the percentage change from the prior period (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
Increase
(Decrease)

2019

2018

Tech
Flex revenue
Direct Hire revenue

$

250,216
5,427

8.1 % $
8.5 %

231,496
5,001

Total Tech revenue

$

255,643

8.1 % $

236,497

Flex revenue
Direct Hire revenue

$

64,765
6,330

(13.1) % $
(1.0) %

74,550
6,394

Total FA revenue

$

71,095

(12.2) % $

80,944

Total Flex revenue
Total Direct Hire revenue

$

314,981
11,757

2.9 % $
3.2 %

306,046
11,395

Total Revenue

$

326,738

2.9 % $

317,441

FA

Our quarterly operating results are affected by the number of billing days in a quarter. The following table presents the year-over-year revenue growth rates,
on a billing day basis, for the last five quarters:
Year-Over-Year Revenue Growth Rates
(Per Billing Day)
Q1 2019

Billing Days
Tech Flex
FA Flex
Total Flex

Q4 2018

Q3 2018

Q2 2018

Q1 2018

63
9.8 %
(11.7)%

62
9.0 %
(11.7)%

63
10.3 %
(11.8)%

64
9.8 %
(9.4)%

64
6.7 %
(7.9)%

4.6 %

3.6 %

4.5 %

4.7 %

2.8 %

Flex Revenue. The key drivers of Flex revenue are the number of consultants on assignment, billable hours, the bill rate per hour and, to a limited extent, the
amount of billable expenses incurred by Kforce.
Flex revenue for our largest segment, Tech, increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 by 9.8% per billing day as compared to the same period
in 2018. We believe the secular drivers of technology spend remain intact with many companies becoming increasingly dependent on the efficiencies
provided by technology and the need for innovation to support business strategies and sustain relevancy in today’s rapidly changing marketplace. Our belief
in the strength in the demand environment within Tech Flex has not changed.
Our FA segment experienced a decrease in Flex revenue of 11.7% per billing day during the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same
period in 2018. Despite the lower volume of new assignments within FA Flex compared to our expectations, we continue to make progress with our FA
transformation initiative to focus our efforts on higher skillset opportunities as evidenced by the increase in average bill rates within FA Flex of 7.4% year
over year.
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The following table presents the key drivers for the change in Flex revenue by segment over the prior period (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019 vs. March 31, 2018
Tech

FA

Key Drivers - Increase (Decrease)

Volume - hours billed
Bill rate
Billable expenses

$

11,260 $
8,382
(922)

Total change in Flex revenue

$

18,720
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$

(14,380)
4,470
125
(9,785)

The following table presents total Flex hours billed by segment and percentage change over the prior period (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
Increase
(Decrease)

2019

2018

Tech
FA

3,335
1,772

4.9 %
(19.3) %

3,178
2,196

Total Flex hours billed

5,107

(5.0) %

5,374

Direct Hire Revenue. The key drivers of Direct Hire revenue are the number of placements and the associated placement fee. Direct Hire revenue also includes
conversion revenue, which may occur when a consultant initially assigned to a client on a temporary basis is later converted to a permanent placement for a
fee. We do not plan to make material investments in Direct Hire in the near future.
Direct Hire revenue increased 3.2% during the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in 2018.
The following table presents the key drivers for the change in Direct Hire revenue by segment over the prior period (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019 vs. March 31, 2018
Tech

FA

Key Drivers - Increase (Decrease)

Volume - number of placements
Placement fee

$

401
25

$

(1,162)
1,098

Total change in Direct Hire revenue

$

426

$

(64)

The following table presents the total number of placements by segment and percentage change over the prior period:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Increase
(Decrease)

2018

Tech
FA

300
470

7.9 %
(18.3) %

278
575

Total number of placements

770

(9.7) %

853

The following table presents the average placement fee by segment and percentage change over the prior period:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Tech
FA
Total average placement fee

$
$
$

18,106
13,447
15,260

Increase
(Decrease)

0.5 % $
21.0 % $
14.2 % $

2018

18,021
11,115
13,362

Gross Profit. Gross profit is calculated by deducting direct costs (primarily consultant compensation, payroll taxes, payroll-related insurance and certain
fringe benefits, as well as subcontractor costs) from total revenue. There are no consultant payroll costs associated with Direct Hire placements, thus all Direct
Hire revenue increases gross profit by the full amount of the placement fee.

23

The following table presents the gross profit percentage (gross profit as a percentage of total revenue) by segment and percentage change over the prior
period:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Increase
(Decrease)

2019

2018

Tech
FA

26.9 %
34.3 %

(2.5) %
2.1 %

27.6 %
33.6 %

Total gross profit percentage

28.5 %

(2.4) %

29.2 %

The change in total gross profit percentage for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in 2018, is primarily the result of a
decline in Flex gross profit.
Flex gross profit percentage (Flex gross profit as a percentage of Flex revenue) provides management with helpful insight into the other drivers of total gross
profit percentage driven by our Flex business such as changes in the spread between the consultants’ bill rate and pay rate.
The following table presents the Flex gross profit percentage by segment and percentage change over the prior period:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Increase
(Decrease)

2019

2018

Tech
FA

25.3 %
27.8 %

(3.1) %
(0.4) %

26.1 %
27.9 %

Total Flex gross profit percentage

25.8 %

(2.6) %

26.5 %

Flex gross profit percentage decreased 70 basis points for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in 2018.
•

Tech Flex gross profit margin decreased 80 basis points for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in
2018, primarily due to compression in bill and pay spreads and changes in the mix of revenues amongst our customers. Bill rates within Tech Flex
improved 3.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and our pay rates increased at a slightly greater pace given the candidate-constrained
environment.

•

FA Flex gross profit margin decreased 10 basis points for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in 2018.

Kforce continues to focus on training our revenue-generating associates on effective pricing and optimizing the spread between bill rates and pay rates. We
believe this will serve to obtain the optimal volume, rate, effort and duration of assignment, while ultimately maximizing the benefit for our clients, our
consultants and Kforce.
The following table presents the key drivers for the change in Flex gross profit by segment over the prior period (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019 vs. March 31, 2018
Tech

FA

Key Drivers - Increase (Decrease)

Revenue impact
Profitability impact

$

Total change in Flex gross profit

$

4,882 $
(1,862)
3,020

$

(2,725)
(18)
(2,743)

SG&A Expenses. Total compensation, commissions, payroll taxes and benefit costs as a percentage of SG&A represented 83.5% for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 as compared to 83.9% for the comparable period in 2018. Commissions and other bonus incentives for our revenue-generating talent are
variable costs driven primarily by revenue and gross profit levels, and associate performance. Therefore, as gross profit levels change, these expenses would
also generally be anticipated to change, but remain relatively consistent as a percentage of revenue.
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The following table presents components of SG&A as a percentage of revenue (in thousands):
2019

Three Months Ended March 31,
Compensation, commissions, payroll taxes and benefits costs
Other (1)
Total SG&A

% of Revenue

2018

% of Revenue

$

66,635
13,178

20.4 % $
4.0 %

66,090
12,707

20.8 %
4.0 %

$

79,813

24.4 % $

78,797

24.8 %

(1) Balances in “other” include bad debt expense, lease expense, professional fees, travel, telephone, computer and certain other expenses.
SG&A as a percentage of revenue decreased 40 basis points for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in 2018. Included in
the three months ended March 31, 2019 was approximately $2.0 million of severance and other costs due to actions taken as a result of the KGS divestiture,
which negatively impacted SG&A as a percentage of revenue. The overall improvement in SG&A leverage is primarily a result of an improvement in
associate productivity, lower overall headcount and a continued focus on expense discipline.
The Firm continues to focus on improving the productivity of our associates and exercising solid expense discipline to generate future leverage in SG&A
with revenue growth.
Depreciation and Amortization. The following table presents depreciation and amortization expense and percentage change over the prior period by major
category (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

Increase
(Decrease)

2018

Fixed asset depreciation (includes finance leases)
Capitalized software amortization

$

1,323
327

(12.4) % $
35.7 %

1,510
241

Total Depreciation and amortization

$

1,650

(5.8) % $

1,751

Other Expense, Net. Other expense, net for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $0.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively, and consists
primarily of interest expense related to outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility.
Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense as a percentage of income from continuing operations, before income taxes (our “effective tax rate” from
continuing operations) for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was 26.1% and 25.0%, respectively.
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, management announced that Kforce entered into a
definitive agreement to sell KGS and is exploring strategic alternatives for TraumaFX®. KGS and TraumaFX® comprised the Firm’s GS segment. We
determined that the GS segment was a disposal group held for sale as of March 31, 2019. As such, GS was included as discontinued operations for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. Refer to Note B - “Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations” to the Notes to the Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion.
The effective tax rate for discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was (2,043.7)% and 25.8%, respectively. During three
months ended March 31, 2019, we were required to record an income tax benefit of $18.5 million, which relates to the excess of the outside tax basis in the
equity of KGS over the amount of the inside basis in the assets of KGS.
On April 1, 2019, Kforce completed the sale of all the issued and outstanding stock of Kforce Government Holdings, Inc., including its wholly-owned
subsidiary KGS, to ManTech International Corporation for a cash purchase price of $115.0 million, subject to a post-closing working capital adjustment. We
expect a gain on the sale, net of transaction costs, of approximately $72.0 million. The transaction costs are expected to total approximately $9.5 million and
primarily include legal fees, commissions, transaction bonuses and accelerated stock-based compensation expense triggered by a change in control of KGS.
The Firm does not expect to pay any income tax on this transaction due to it being structured as a stock sale and Kforce’s significant outside tax basis, which
has been recognized as a deferred tax asset in accordance with GAAP as of March 31, 2019, as discussed above. The gain on the sale of KGS and the reversal
of the related deferred tax asset and income tax benefit of $18.5 million will be recorded in discontinued operations during the three months ended June 30,
2019.
While the sale of KGS did not include TraumaFX®, management announced on March 1, 2019 that it is exploring strategic alternatives for TraumaFX®
which includes, but is not limited to, a potential sale of the business. This process is continuing and there can be no assurance of any particular outcome. The
conclusion of the process is expected to occur within the next year.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Free Cash Flow. “Free Cash Flow,” a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined by Kforce as net cash provided by operating activities determined in
accordance with GAAP, less capital expenditures. Management believes this provides an additional way of viewing our liquidity that, when viewed with our
GAAP results, provides a more complete understanding of factors and trends affecting our cash flows and is useful information to investors as it provides a
measure of the amount of cash generated from the business that can be used for strategic opportunities including investing in our business, making
acquisitions, repurchasing common stock or paying dividends. Free Cash Flow is limited, however, because it does not represent the residual cash flow
available for discretionary expenditures. Therefore, we believe it is important to view Free Cash Flow as a complement to our Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, Free Cash Flows includes results from discontinued
operations.
The following table presents Free Cash Flow (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Net income
Non-cash provisions and other
Changes in operating assets/liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

Capital expenditures
Free cash flow
Change in debt
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividend
Other
Change in cash and cash equivalents

$

2018

26,855 $
(9,632)
(5,434)

9,175
5,445
(4,370)

11,789
(1,496)

10,250
(1,469)

10293
10,700
(14,875)
(4,406)
(1,565)

8781
6,677
(12,038)
(2,973)
(569)

147

$

(122)

Adjusted EBITDA. “Adjusted EBITDA”, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined by Kforce as net income before income from discontinued operations, net
of taxes, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, interest expense, net and income tax expense. Adjusted EBITDA should not be
considered a measure of financial performance under GAAP. Items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA are significant components in understanding and
assessing our past and future financial performance, and this presentation should not be construed as an inference by us that our future results will be
unaffected by those items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is a key measure used by management to assess our operations including our
ability to generate cash flows and our ability to repay our debt obligations and management believes it provides a good metric of our core profitability in
comparing our performance to our competitors, as well as our performance over different time periods. Consequently, management believes it is useful
information to investors. The measure should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net income, cash flows or other financial statement
information presented in the consolidated financial statements as indicators of financial performance or liquidity. The measure is not determined in
accordance with GAAP and is thus susceptible to varying calculations. Also, Adjusted EBITDA, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures of other companies.
In addition, although we excluded amortization of stock-based compensation expense because it is a non-cash expense, we expect to continue to incur stockbased compensation in the future and the associated stock issued may result in an increase in our outstanding shares of stock, which may result in the dilution
of our stockholder ownership interest. We suggest that you evaluate these items and the potential risks of excluding such items when analyzing our financial
position.
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The following table presents Adjusted EBITDA and includes a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (in thousands):
2019

Three Months Ended March 31,
Net income
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Income from continuing operations

$

2018

26,855
18,881

$

9,175
1,190

7,974
1,650
2,534
923
2,816

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Interest expense, net
Income tax expense
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations

$

15,897

7,985
1,751
2,184
1,297
2,660
$

15,877

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019 was negatively impacted by $2.0 million of severance and other
costs due to actions taken as a result of the KGS divestiture.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
To meet our capital and liquidity requirements, we primarily rely on operating cash flow as well as borrowings under our Credit Facility. At March 31, 2019,
Kforce had $141.3 million in working capital compared to $140.6 million at December 31, 2018.
Cash Flows
We are principally focused on achieving an appropriate balance of cash flow across several areas of opportunity such as: generating positive cash flow from
operating activities; returning capital to our shareholders through our quarterly dividends and common stock repurchase program; maintaining appropriate
leverage under our Credit Facility; investing in our infrastructure to allow sustainable growth via capital expenditures; and maintaining sufficient liquidity
to complete acquisitions and/or other strategic investments.
As previously discussed, the GS segment has been reflected as discontinued operations. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the total operating and
investing cash flows from discontinued operations were $5.7 million and $0.1 million, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2018, the total
operating and investing cash flows from discontinued operations were $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The absence of cash flows from the GS
segment is not expected to have a significant effect on the future liquidity, financial position or capital resources of Kforce. The accompanying Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are presented on a combined basis (continuing operations and discontinued operations).
Cash provided by operating activities was $11.8 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to $10.3 million during the three months
ended March 31, 2018. Our largest source of operating cash flows is the collection of trade receivables and our largest use of operating cash flows is the
payment of our associate and consultant compensation. The increase is primarily due to increasing levels of profitability and improved collections of our
accounts receivable.
Cash used in investing activities was $2.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to $1.5 million in the three months ended
March 31, 2018, which includes capital expenditures. Cash provided by investing activities during the three months ended June 30, 2019 will include the
proceeds from the previously mentioned sale of KGS.
Cash used in financing activities was $9.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to $8.9 million during the three months ended
March 31, 2018. This was primarily driven by an increase in proceeds from our Credit Facility offset by an increase in cash used for repurchases of common
stock and dividends for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
The following table presents the cash flow impact of the common stock repurchase activity (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019

2018

Open market repurchases
Repurchase of shares related to tax withholding requirements for vesting of restricted stock

$

14,775
100

$

9,565
2,473

Total cash flow impact of common stock repurchases

$

14,875

$

12,038

Cash paid in current period for settlement of prior year repurchases

$

556

$

3,323
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During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, Kforce declared and paid quarterly dividends of $4.4 million ($0.18 per share) and $3.0 million
($0.12 per share), respectively. The declaration, payment and amount of future dividends are discretionary and will be subject to determination by our Board
each quarter following its review of, among other things, the Firm’s current and expected financial performance as well as the ability to pay dividends under
applicable law.
We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations, and available borrowings under our Credit Facility will be adequate to meet
the capital expenditure and working capital requirements of our operations for at least the next 12 months. However, a material deterioration in the economic
environment or market conditions, among other things, could negatively impact operating results and liquidity, as well as the ability of our lenders to fund
borrowings. Actual results could also differ materially from these indicated as a result of a number of factors, including the use of currently available
resources for potential acquisitions, strategic investments, additional repurchases or dividends.
Credit Facility
Under the Credit Facility, our maximum borrowing capacity of $300.0 million which, subject to certain conditions and participation of the lenders, may be
increased up to an aggregate additional amount of $150.0 million in the form of revolving credit loans, swingline loans and letters of credit. Letters of credit
and swingline loans under the Credit Facility are subject to sublimits of $10.0 million. As of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, $82.5 million and
$71.8 million was outstanding, respectively.
The Firm will continually be subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants including (but not limited to), the maintenance of a fixed charge coverage
ratio of no less than 1.25 to 1.00 and the maintenance of a total leverage ratio of no greater than 3.25 to 1.00. The numerator in the fixed charge coverage
ratio is defined pursuant to the Credit Facility as earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation
expense and other permitted items pursuant to our Credit Facility (disclosed as “Consolidated EBITDA”), less cash paid for capital expenditures, income
taxes and dividends. The denominator is defined as Kforce’s fixed charges such as interest expense and principal payments paid or payable on outstanding
debt other than borrowings under the Credit Facility. The total leverage ratio is defined pursuant to the Credit Facility as total indebtedness divided by
Consolidated EBITDA. Our ability to make distributions or repurchases of equity securities could be limited if an event of default has occurred. Furthermore,
our ability to repurchase equity securities could be limited if (a) the total leverage ratio is greater than 2.75 to 1.00 and (b) the Firm’s availability, inclusive of
unrestricted cash, is less than $25.0 million. As of March 31, 2019, Kforce was not limited in making distributions and executing repurchases of its equity
securities.
On April 21, 2017, Kforce entered into the Swap with Wells Fargo to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates and the Swap has been designated as a cash flow
hedge. As of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Swap asset was $0.5 million and $0.9 million, respectively. Refer to Note L “Derivative Instrument and Hedging Activity” in the Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, included in this report for a
complete discussion of our Credit Facility.
In connection with our Credit Facility, Kforce entered into the First Amendment and Consent, by and among, Kforce
and its subsidiaries, Wells Fargo, National Association, and the other lenders thereto (the “Credit Facility Amendment”) on
February 28, 2019. The Credit Facility Amendment amended certain provisions of the Credit Facility to permit (i) the GS
divestiture and (ii) increased flexibility to make investments in partnerships and ventures and funding of our SERP. Kforce does not expect the GS divestiture
to affect future compliance with Kforce’s covenants under the Credit Facility.
Stock Repurchases
In March 2019, in anticipation of using the net cash proceeds from the KGS divestiture and allowing flexibility to utilize our free cash flow to repurchase
shares, the Board approved an increase in our stock repurchase authorization bringing the then available balance to $150.0 million. During the three months
ended March 31, 2019, Kforce repurchased approximately 430 thousand shares of common stock on the open market at a total cost of approximately $14.6
million. As of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, $147.5 million and $92.9 million, respectively, remained available for further repurchases under the
Board-authorized common stock repurchase program.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
There have been no material changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to our off-balance sheet arrangements previously
disclosed in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Other than those changes described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, there have been no material changes during the period covered by this report on Form
10-Q to our contractual obligations previously disclosed in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In connection with the preparation of our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements, we are required to make assumptions and estimates about future events, and apply judgments that affect the
reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and the related disclosures. We base our assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical
experience, current trends and other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
are prepared. On a regular basis, management reviews the accounting policies, estimates, assumptions and judgments to ensure that our unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with GAAP. However, because future events and their effects cannot be determined
with certainty, actual results could differ from our assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.
Refer to Note 1 – “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Estimates” in our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more detailed
discussion of our significant accounting policies and critical accounting estimates.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Refer to Note A - “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item
1. Financial Statements of this report for a discussion of new accounting standards.
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
With respect to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk, there have been no material changes to the information included in Part II, Item
7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of March 31, 2019, we carried out an evaluation required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act (the “Evaluation”) under the supervision
and with the participation of our CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under
the Exchange Act (“Disclosure Controls”). Based on the Evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that the design and operation of our Disclosure Controls
were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is: (1) recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms; and (2) accumulated and communicated to management,
including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management has evaluated, with the participation of our CEO and CFO, whether any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during our last fiscal quarter have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on the
evaluation we conducted, management has concluded that no such changes have occurred.
Inherent Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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CEO and CFO Certifications
Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications of the CEO and the CFO, respectively. The Certifications are required in accordance with Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Section 302 Certifications”). This Item of this report, which you are currently reading, is the information concerning the
Evaluation referred to in the Section 302 Certifications and this information should be read in conjunction with the Section 302 Certifications for a more
complete understanding of the topics presented.
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
We are involved in legal proceedings, claims and administrative matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. We have made accruals with respect to
certain of these matters, where appropriate, that are reflected in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements but are not, individually or in the
aggregate, considered material. For other matters for which an accrual has not been made, we have not yet determined that a loss is probable or the amount of
loss cannot be reasonably estimated. While the ultimate outcome of the matters cannot be determined, we currently do not expect that these proceedings and
claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The outcome of any
litigation is inherently uncertain, however, and if decided adversely to us, or if we determine that settlement of particular litigation is appropriate, we may be
subject to liability that could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Kforce maintains liability insurance
in amounts and with such coverage and deductibles as management believes is reasonable. The principal liability risks that Kforce insures against are
workers’ compensation, personal injury, bodily injury, property damage, directors’ and officers’ liability, errors and omissions, cyber liability, employment
practices liability and fidelity losses. There can be no assurance that Kforce’s liability insurance will cover all events or that the limits of coverage will be
sufficient to fully cover all liabilities.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
There have been no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed in our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
In March 2019, the Board approved an increase in our stock repurchase authorization bringing the then available authorization to $150.0 million. Purchases
of common stock under the Plan are subject to certain price, market, volume and timing constraints specified in the plan. The following table presents
information with respect to our repurchases of Kforce common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2019:

Period

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
(1)

Average Price Paid
per Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

January 1, 2019 to January 31, 2019
February 1, 2019 to February 28, 2019
March 1, 2019 to March 31, 2019

181,832
14,135
236,216

$
$
$

32.09
33.92
35.45

181,832
11,530
236,216

$
$
$

87,105,640
86,725,802
147,477,881

Total

432,183

$

33.98

429,578

$

147,477,881

(1) Includes 2,605 shares of stock received upon vesting of restricted stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements for the period February 1, 2019 to
February 28, 2019.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
None.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
Exhibit Number

3.1
3.1a
3.1b
3.1c
3.1d
3.1e
3.2
10.1*
10.2*
10.3
10.4
10.5
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.1

Description

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33-91738) filed with the SEC on April 28, 1995.
Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S4/A (File No. 333-111566) filed with the SEC on February 9, 2004, as amended.
Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S4/A (File No. 333-111566) filed with the SEC on February 9, 2004, as amended.
Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S4/A (File No. 333-111566) filed with the SEC on February 9, 2004, as amended.
Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 000-26058) filed with the SEC on May 17, 2000.
Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 000-26058) filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
Amended & Restated Bylaws, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-26058) filed
with the SEC on April 29, 2013.
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated February 28, 2019, by and among ManTech International Corporation, Kforce Government
Solutions, Inc., Kforce Government Holdings, Inc., and Kforce, Inc.
Amendment No. 1 to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 29, 2019, by and among ManTech International Corporation,
Kforce Government Solutions, Inc., Kforce Government Holdings, Inc., and Kforce, Inc.
Kforce Inc. 2019 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333231073) filed with the SEC on April 26, 2019.
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2019 Stock Incentive Plan.
First Amendment and Consent, dated February 28, 2019, between Kforce Inc. and its subsidiaries, Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, and the other lenders thereto.
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of Kforce Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of Kforce Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of Kforce Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of Kforce Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 2350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The following material from this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kforce Inc. for the period ended March 31, 2019, formatted in
XBRL Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income; (ii) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets; (iii)
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity; (iv) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows; and (v) related notes to these financial statements.

*Confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted from the exhibit.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Kforce Inc.
(Registrant)
Date:

May 2, 2019

By:

/s/ DAVID M. KELLY
David M. Kelly
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date:

May 2, 2019

By:

/s/ JEFFREY B. HACKMAN
Jeffrey B. Hackman
Senior Vice President, Finance and Accounting
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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[***] indicates that certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted because the information is (i) not
material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if disclosed.
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STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT
THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of February 28, 2019, by and
among ManTech International Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Purchaser”), Kforce Government Solutions, Inc., a
Pennsylvania corporation (the “Company”), Kforce Government Holdings Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Parent”), and Kforce Inc.,
a Florida corporation (the “Seller”). Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
given to such terms in Section 1.1.
BACKGROUND
The Company is engaged in the business of providing, both as a prime contractor and as a subcontractor, innovative solutions
and business consulting services to the federal government in areas such as: information technology, healthcare information
technology, data and knowledge management, financial management and accounting, and related areas (the “Business”). As used
herein, the Business shall not include the TFX Business.
The Parent owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company and the Seller owns 100% of the
issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Parent.
Seller and the Company have entered into the TraumaFX Contribution Agreement pursuant to which the TFX Excluded
Assets have been contributed by the Company to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, TraumaFX Solutions Inc., a Florida
corporation (“TFX”), and the equity interests in TFX have been distributed to the Seller, all of which have been consummated in
accordance with the TraumaFX Contribution Agreement.
The Parties acknowledge that the Company utilizes, and has utilized, certain ancillary and corporate shared assets and services
of the Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Company or Parent) in the performance of functions relating to its operations and
Business, which are summarized on Exhibit A, attached hereto (collectively the “Shared Services and Assets”) and that the Shared
Services and Assets will not be included in the transaction contemplated hereby or available following Closing except to the extent
made available pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement.
The Seller desires to sell, and the Purchaser desires to purchase, all of the issued and outstanding shares (the “Shares”) of
capital stock of the Parent on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties and agreements hereinafter set
forth, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties agree as follows:

TERMS
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.1 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
“Accounting Principles” means GAAP and the principles and any exceptions to GAAP set forth on Exhibit C.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person which, directly or indirectly, controls, is under
common control with, or is controlled by, such specified Person.
“Agreement” means this Agreement and the Disclosure Schedules hereto, as this Agreement may be amended from
time to time.
“Arbitrator” is defined in Section 2.3(b).
“Benefit Plan” means any collective bargaining agreement, any “employee benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section
3(3) of ERISA), and any bonus, profit sharing, deferred compensation, incentive compensation, performance, retirement, vacation or
other paid-time-off, severance or termination, disability, death benefit, employment, retention, change-in-control, hospitalization, fringe
benefit, medical, dental, vision, stock purchase, stock option, phantom stock, equity compensation or other material plan, program,
policy, arrangement or Contract (whether or not subject to the Laws of the United States) established, maintained, contributed to, or
participated in, or required to be established, maintained or contributed to, or participated in, by or on behalf of the Parent, the Seller,
the Company or any of their ERISA Affiliates, in each case, for the benefit of or relating to any current or former employee of the
Company, and in each case whether written or oral, informal or formal, subject to ERISA or not, or with respect to which the Parent or
the Company could reasonably be expected to have any liability or obligation. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
term “Benefit Plan” shall also include any plan, program, policy, arrangement or Contract with respect to which the Company or any
of its ERISA Affiliates may have liability (including potential, secondary or contingent liability) under Title IV of ERISA to any
Person and including any liability by reason of any Person's being or having been an ERISA Affiliate.
“Business” is defined in the Recitals.
“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, or (ii) a day on which banking institutions located
in Florida, New York or Virginia are permitted or required by Law, executive order or decree of a Governmental Entity to remain
closed.
“Cap Amount” is defined in Section 8.6(b).

“Cash” means, as of the date and time of determination, with respect to any Person, the amount (which may be positive
or negative) equal to the aggregate amount of the unrestricted cash of such Person (with respect to the Company, determined in
accordance with the Accounting Principles and with respect to any other Person, determined in accordance with GAAP), minus the
aggregate amount of all outstanding checks written against any cash accounts of such Person.
“Closing” is defined in Section 7.1.
“Closing Cash” is defined in Section 2.3(a).
“Closing Date” is defined in Section 7.1.
“Closing Date Net Working Capital” is defined in Section 2.3(a).
“Closing Debt Amount” means collectively, but without duplication, all Indebtedness included in subclauses (i) and (ii)
of the definition of Indebtedness, of the Company and Parent as of the Closing.
“Closing Statement” is defined in Section 2.3(a).
“Closing Transaction Expenses” is defined in Section 2.3(a).
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Company” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Company Benefit Plans” is defined in Section 3.19(a).
“Company Deferred Compensation Plans” means the Kforce Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Government
Practice Plan and the Kforce Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Government Practice Plan II, as in effect from time to time.
“Company Group” means the Company and the Parent collectively and either of the Company and the Parent as a
separate Person.
“Company Income Tax Proceeding” is defined in Section 9.6(b).
“Company Intellectual Property” means, collectively, Company Owned Intellectual Property and Company NonOwned Intellectual Property.
“Company Non-Owned Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property not-owned by the Company that is
licensed to or used by the Company, unless immaterial to the Business.
“Company Owned Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property that is owned or purported to be owned by the
Company.

“Company Taxes” means (i) any and all Taxes imposed on or assessed against the Company Group for any PreClosing Period that are not taken into account as a Current Liability in the calculation of Closing Date Net Working Capital and (ii)
any and all Taxes resulting from a breach of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.17 hereof or payable pursuant to a
covenant of the Seller set forth in this Agreement that are not taken into account as a Current Liability in the calculation of Closing
Date Net Working Capital; provided, however, that Company Taxes with respect to a Straddle Period shall be determined pursuant to
Section 9.3.
“Company Transaction Expenses” means the aggregate fees and related expenses incurred by the Seller, the Parent or
the Company or any of their Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the TFX Contribution
Agreement, including (i) with respect to brokers, finders or investment bankers for investment banking or advisory services for any of
the Parent, the Seller, the Company or any Affiliate thereof in connection with such transactions, (ii) with respect to legal counsel for
legal services to any of the Parent, the Seller and the Company or any of their Affiliates in connection with such transactions, (iii) with
respect to accounting and advisory services to the Parent, the Seller, the Company or any Affiliate thereof in connection with such
transactions, (iv) with respect to any other service provider engaged by the Seller, the Parent or Company or any of their Affiliates
prior to the Closing to the extent of pre-Closing services provided by any of them in connection with such transactions, (v) all
Transaction Compensation Payments, including the payments set forth on Exhibit B, attached hereto, and (vi) all employment-related
Taxes of the Seller, the Parent, Company or its Subsidiaries (if any) arising in connection with the payments referred to in clause (v)
above.
“Competing Transaction” is defined in Section 5.14.
“Confidentiality Agreement” is defined in Section 5.9.
“Constitutive Documents” means, for any corporation, its Articles or Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.
“Contract” means any loan or credit agreement, bond, debenture, note, mortgage, indenture, guarantee, lease or other
contract, commitment, agreement, instrument, obligation, undertaking, concession, franchise, license or legally binding arrangement or
legally binding understanding, whether written or oral.
“Controlled Group Liability” means any and all liabilities under (i) Title IV of ERISA, (ii) Section 302 of ERISA, (iii)
Sections 412 and 4971 of the Code, (iv) the continuation coverage requirements of Section 601 et seq. of ERISA and Section 4980B
of the Code, (v) the portability and nondiscrimination requirements of Section 701 et seq. of ERISA and Section 9801 et seq. of the
Code, and (vi) Section 4975 of the Code.
“Copyright” means any registered or unregistered copyright and any copyrightable works of authorship, including all
applications and registrations therefore, together with all author’s and moral rights therein.

“Current Assets” means those current assets determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles and listed in the
example net working capital set forth on Exhibit D (excluding any Cash).
“Current Government Contract” is defined in Section 3.25(a).
“Current Liabilities” means any current liabilities determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles, including
those current liabilities listed in the example net working capital set forth on Exhibit D.
“Defense Notice” is defined in Section 8.4(a).
“Delivery Date” is defined in Section 2.3(a).
“Disclosure Schedule” means a schedule of exceptions to the representations and warranties of the Seller set forth in
Article III, delivered by Seller to Purchaser contemporaneously with this Agreement.
“Disputed Matters” is defined in Section 2.3(b).
“Effective Time” is defined in Section 7.1.
“Enforceability Exceptions” means those exceptions to enforceability due to (i) the effect of any applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, rehabilitation or similar Laws relating to the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, (ii) the
availability of the remedies of specific performance or injunctive relief which may be subject to the discretion of the court before which
any Legal Proceeding for such remedies may be brought, or (iii) the exercise by any court of its discretion in invoking general
principles of equity.
“Environment” means any and all environmental media, including, but not limited to, ambient air, surface water, ground
water, drinking water supply, land surface, subsurface strata, wetlands or sediments.
“Environmental Law” means any and all federal, state, or local statutes, laws, codes, regulations, rules, orders,
judgments, binding judicial decisions, writs, decrees, approvals, injunctions, ordinances and binding directives pertaining to or relating
to protection or restoration of the Environment, pollution, or the manufacture, generation, handling, storage, use, emission, discharge,
release, transportation, treatment, disposal or remediation of any Hazardous Material and exposure of employees in the workplace
environment to Hazardous Material, including the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act,
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Toxic
Substances Control Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act, the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and
Rodenticide Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act and any similar federal, state or local law,
as each is in effect as of the date hereof.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

“ERISA Affiliate ” means any Person which is (or at any relevant time was) a member of a “controlled group of
corporations” with, under “common control” with, or a member of an “affiliated service group” with the Parent as such terms are
defined in Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.
“Financial Statements” are defined in Section 3.9(a).
“Fundamental Representations” is defined in Section 8.1.
“GAAP” means accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, as in effect from time to time and
consistently applied in a manner consistent with the accounting practices, policies, judgments and methodologies used in the
preparation of the Financial Statements (but only to the extent such practices, policies, judgments and methodologies are consistent
with GAAP).
“Government Bid” means a bid, quote, offer or proposal which, if accepted, would result in a Government Contract.
“Government Contract” means any Contract, including an individual task order, delivery order, purchase order, blanket
purchase agreement, basic ordering agreement, and letter contract, between the Company and the U.S. Government or any other
Governmental Entity, as well as any subcontract or other arrangement by which (i) the Company has agreed to provide goods or
services to a prime contractor, to the Governmental Entity, or to a higher-tier subcontractor or (ii) a subcontractor or vendor has agreed
to provide goods or services to the Company, where, in either event, such goods or services ultimately will benefit or be used by the
Governmental Entity, including any closed Contract or subcontract as to which the right of the U.S. Government or a higher-tier
contractor to review, audit, or investigate has not expired.
“Governmental Entity” means any nation, state, province, county, city or political subdivision and any official, agency,
arbitrator, authority, court, department, commission, board, bureau, instrumentality or other governmental or regulatory authority of any
thereof.
“Group Return” is defined in Section 3.17(a).
“Hazardous Material” means, whether alone or in combination, whether solid, liquid or gaseous: (i) any pollutant,
contaminant, substance, chemical or material that is listed, classified or regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law; (ii) any
petroleum, petroleum product, waste oil, crude oil and its fractions, asbestos and asbestos-containing material, urea formaldehyde,
nuclear material, natural or synthetic gas, pesticide, or polychlorinated biphenyl; (iii) any pollutant, contaminant, substance, material,
chemical or waste that is explosive or radioactive; or (iv) any hazardous chemical, pollutant, contaminant, hazardous waste, toxic
chemical, all as defined as hazardous under any Environmental Law.
“HSR Act” means collectively, if and as applicable, Section 7A of the Clayton Act (Title II of the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder).

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (i) all indebtedness for borrowed money; (ii) all principal,
interest, prepayment fees and costs and penalties and premiums and other obligations as evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or
similar instruments; (iii) any deficit balance in Cash; (iv) all Qualified Accounts Payable of such Person (to the extent not included in
the calculation of Closing Date Net Working Capital); (v) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed for deferred purchase price
payments; (vi) all obligations of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance,
guarantee or similar credit transaction; (vii) all interest rate and currency swaps, caps, collars and similar agreements or hedging devices
under which payments are obligated to be made by such Person, whether periodically or upon the happening of a contingency; (viii) all
obligations of such Person created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to property
acquired by such Person; (ix) all obligations of such Person secured by Lien on any asset of such Person; and (x) any guaranty of any
Indebtedness of any other Person.
“Indemnification Deductible” is defined in Section 8.6(a).
“Indemnified Party” means either a Purchaser Indemnified Party or a Seller Indemnified Party.
“Indemnifying Party” means either a Purchaser or a Company Indemnifying Party.
“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property rights in any jurisdiction throughout the world, including any (i)
Patents, (ii) Marks, (iii) Copyrights, (iv) trade secrets(under applicable Law) and other confidential know-how, formulas, compositions,
manufacturing and production processes and techniques, methods, schematics, technology, technical data, designs, drawings,
flowcharts, block diagrams, specifications, customer and supply lists, pricing and cost information, and business and marketing plans
and proposals, (v) Software, (vi) licenses and agreements pursuant to which a Person has acquired rights in or to any of the foregoing
or licenses or agreements pursuant to which a Person has licensed or transferred the right to use any of the foregoing, and (vii) rights of
privacy, and rights of publicity.
“Internal Systems” means the computer, communications network and other information technology systems and any
application service provider services, hosted service, “Software-as-a-Service,” “Infrastructure-as-a-Service,” “Platform-as-a-Service” or
similar “cloud” services used by the Company for its internal purposes.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
“Judgment” means any judgment, order or decree of, or issued by, any Governmental Entity.
“Knowledge” means, (a) with respect to the Seller as to any matter in question, the actual knowledge of Maureen
Coyle, David Kelly, Kathleen Massie or Robert Bartholomew, (b) with respect to the Purchaser as to any matter in question, the actual
knowledge of Michael

Putnam or Stephen Vather, and (c) in each case of (a) and (b), such knowledge as any of them would have after reasonable inquiry in
connection with such Person’s duties in the Ordinary Course of Business. “Known” is synonymous with “Knowledge.”
“Law” means any constitution, act, statute, law, ordinance, treaty, rule or regulation of any Governmental Entity.
“Leased Property” is defined in Section 3.13(a).
“Leases” is defined in Section 3.13(a).
“Legal Proceeding” means any action, suit, proceeding, claim, arbitration, mediation, demand or notice of
noncompliance, before any Governmental Entity or before any arbitrator or mediator or similar party, or any audit, investigation,
inquiry or review by any Governmental Entity.
“Liability” or “Liabilities” means any direct or indirect liability, indebtedness, guaranty, endorsement, claim, loss,
damage, deficiency, cost, expense, obligation or responsibility, either accrued, absolute, contingent, mature, unmatured or otherwise
and whether known or unknown, fixed or unfixed, choate or inchoate, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured.
“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, hypothec, right of others, claim, security interest, encumbrance,
lease, sublease, license, occupancy agreement, adverse claim or interest, easement, covenant, encroachment, burden, title defect, title
retention agreement, voting trust agreement, interest, equity, option, lien, right of first refusal, charge or other restrictions or limitations
of any nature whatsoever, other than restrictions on the offer and sale of securities under the Securities Act and state securities Laws.
“Listed Contract” is defined in Section 3.14(a).
“Losses” means any Liabilities or obligations, losses, damages, deficiencies, Judgments, assessments, fines, fees,
penalties, expenses (including amounts paid in settlement, interest, court costs, costs of investigators, fees and reasonable expenses of
attorneys).
“Mark” means any registered or common law trademark, trade name, trade dress, service mark or domain name, and all
registrations and applications for registration of the foregoing.
“Material Adverse Change” means any change, circumstance, development, state of facts, event or effect (i) that has
had or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse change or effect (taken alone or in the aggregate with any other
adverse change or effect) in or with respect to the business, properties, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), liabilities (contingent
or otherwise), results of operations or future prospects of the Parent, the Company or the Business, or (ii) that has had or would
reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the consummation by the Company, the Parent
or the

Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided that none of the following occurring after the date hereof shall be
deemed to constitute, and none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be a Material
Adverse Change: (A) any change relating to the United States economy, financial and securities markets or business conditions in
general, so long as any impact on the Business or the Company is not disproportionate; (B) national or international political or social
conditions, including sequestration, government shutdown, the engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant
to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon the U.S., or any of its
territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or personnel of the U.S.; (C)
changes in GAAP; (D) changes in laws, rules, regulations, orders, or other binding directives issued by any governmental entity; (E)
the taking of any action required by this Agreement; (F) changes or effects directly resulting from the announcement or pendency of
this Agreement; (G) any failure to meet a forecast provided by the Seller to the Purchaser of revenue, earnings, cash flow, or other data
for any period or any change or forecast (it being understood that the facts and circumstances underlying any such failure shall be
considered in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Change); (H) any hurricane, earthquake, flood or other natural
disaster or act of God; and (I) any adverse change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development described in clause (i) or (ii)
above resulting from conditions generally affecting the industry in which the Company participates.
“Most Recent Balance Sheet” is defined in Section 3.9(a).
“Most Recent Balance Sheet Date” means December 31, 2018.
“Non-Company Benefit Plans” is defined in Section 3.19(a).
“Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation Agreement” means the noncompetition and nonsolicitation agreement to be executed
as of the Closing in the form attached as Exhibit E.
“Notice of Disagreement” is defined in Section 2.3(b).
“Ordinary Course of Business” means any action taken if: (i) such action is consistent with past practice, events or
happenings including as to amount and frequency and is taken in the course of normal day-to-day operations, and (ii) such action
complies with Law.
“Parent” is defined in the Preamble.
“Party” means a party to this Agreement.
“Patent” means any patent, any patent application, or any continuation, continuation-in-part, division, renewal,
extension (including any supplemental protection certificate), reexamination or reissue thereof.
“Pension Plan” means any “employee pension benefit plan,” as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA.

“Permit” means any federal, state or local, governmental consent, approval, order, authorization, certificate, filing,
notice, permit, concession, registration, franchise or license.
“Permitted Liens” means collectively, (i) Liens that are disclosed in the Most Recent Balance Sheet, (ii) Liens for Taxes
not yet payable or the validity of which are being contested in good faith by appropriate Legal Proceedings as set forth in the
Disclosure Schedule, (iii) mechanics’, workmen’s, repairmen’s, warehousemen’s, processor’s, landlord’s, carrier’s, maritime,
materialmen’s, consignee’s or other like Liens, including all statutory Liens, in each case arising or incurred in the Ordinary Course of
Business and imposed by Law for amounts not yet due and payable, (iv) Liens arising in connection with worker’s compensation,
unemployment insurance, old age pensions and social security benefits which are not overdue or are being contested in good faith by
appropriate Legal Proceedings as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule, (v) deposits made in the Ordinary Course of Business to secure
the performance of bids, tenders, statutory obligations, fee and expense arrangements with trustees and fiscal agents (exclusive of
obligations incurred in connection with the borrowing of money or the payment of the deferred purchase price of property) and
deposits securing surety, indemnity, performance, appeal and release bonds, (vi) any imperfection of title, or encumbrances on title or
similar Lien which does not and would not reasonably be expected to impair in any material respect the value, use or operations of the
Business, (vii) licenses, leases and subleases of property and assets entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, (viii) customary
rights under Law of set-off, revocation, refund or chargeback, (ix) Liens arising by operation of Law on insurance policies and
proceeds thereof to secure premiums thereunder, (x) Liens to secure capital lease obligations to the extent the incurrence of such
obligations does not violate this Agreement (which Liens are set forth in the Disclosure Schedule), (xi) any Liens incurred pursuant to
equipment leases in the Ordinary Course of Business as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule, and (xii) Liens disclosed on the
Disclosure Schedule.
“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust,
Governmental Entity, unincorporated organization or other entity.
“Personal Information” means any personal information or personally identifiable information as defined in and
regulated by applicable Laws and is maintained by or on behalf of the Company.
“Pre-Closing Period” means all Taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle
Period that ends on the Closing Date.
“Purchase Price” is defined in Section 2.2.
“Purchase Price Adjustment” is defined in Section 2.3(a)(ii).
“Purchaser” is defined in the Preamble.
“Purchaser Indemnifiable Loss” is defined in Section 8.2.

“Purchaser Indemnified Party” is defined in Section 8.2.
“Qualified Accounts Payable” means any account payable of the Company not paid at or before the Closing which has
been outstanding for more than sixty (60) days or which is overdue in accordance with the payment terms thereof, except for those
payables described or set forth on Section 3.9(c) of the Disclosure Schedule.
“R&W Policy” means that certain Representations and Warranties Insurance Policy issued by the R&W Policy
Provider, for the benefit of Purchaser as the named insured, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit G, or an alternative
representations and warranty insurance policy for the benefit of Purchaser as the named insured with substantially the same terms as
those set forth on the form attached as Exhibit G.
“R&W Policy Expenses” means all costs and expenses due or arising under the R&W Policy, including the total
premium, underwriting costs, brokerage commission, Taxes due and arising under such policy and other fees and expenses of such
policy.
“R&W Policy Provider” means AIG Specialty Insurance Company.
“Registered Intellectual Property” means Intellectual Property registered, filed, issued or granted under the authority of,
with or by, any Governmental Entity (or other registrar in the case of domain names), including all Patents, registered Trademarks,
registered, Copyrights, and all applications for any of the foregoing, in each case owned, assigned to, held, applied for or otherwise
possessed or controlled by the Company.
“Related Party” means (a) any Affiliate of the Seller, the Parent or the Company, (b) each individual who is (i) an
officer, director or member of management of the Seller, the Parent, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates, or (ii) a member
of the immediate family (including parents, brothers, sisters, in-laws, spouses, and children) of any of the individuals referred to in
clause (b)(i) above, and (c) any entity which is controlled by any of the individuals referred to in clause (b) above.
“Representatives” means, with respect to a Person, such Person's legal, financial, internal and independent accounting
and other advisors and representatives.
“Retained Personnel” is defined in Section 3.20(d).
“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Seller” is defined in the Preamble.
“Seller Consolidated Tax Proceeding” is defined in Section 9.6(b).
“Seller Credit Facility” means collectively (i) that certain Credit Agreement, dated May 25, 2017, between the Seller
and its subsidiaries and Wells Fargo Bank, National

Association, and the other lenders thereto, (ii) that certain Master Loan and Security Agreement Number 29826-7000 dated October
26, 2015 by and between Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC, Seller and the Company, as supplemented by that Addendum
dated November 20, 2015; and (iii) that certain Master Loan and Security Agreement Number 472379 dated October 7, 2015 by and
between Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc. as Lender and Seller and the Company as co-Borrowers, as supplemented by that
Addendum (Co-Borrowers) dated as of April 6, 2016.
“Seller Group Return” is defined in Section 9.1(a).
“Seller Indemnified Party” is defined in Section 8.3.
“Seller Prepared Return” is defined in Section 9.1(a)
“Seller Tax Proceeding” is defined in Section 9.6(b).
“Shared Services and Assets” is defined in the Recitals.
“Shares” is defined in the Recitals.
“Software” means computer software (including source code, object code, macros, scripts, objects, routines, modules
and other components) and documentation therefor.
“Straddle Period” is defined in Section 9.2.
“Straddle Period Return” is defined in Section 9.2.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, or
other business entity of which (i) if a corporation, a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the
occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers, or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled,
directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof or (ii) if a limited
liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity (other than a corporation), a majority of partnership or other similar
ownership interest thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that
Person or a combination thereof and for this purpose, a Person or Persons owns a majority ownership interest in such a business entity
(other than a corporation) if such Person or Persons shall be allocated a majority of such business entity’s gains or losses or shall be or
control any managing director or general partner of such business entity (other than a corporation); and the term “Subsidiary” shall
include all Subsidiaries of such Subsidiary.
“Target Net Working Capital” means Six Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($6,500,000).
“Tax” or “Taxes” means United States, provincial, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, sales, license, excise,
severance, documentary, stamp, occupation, premium,

windfall profits, environmental (including, without limitation, taxes under Section 59A of the Code), highway use, commercial rent,
customs duties, capital stock, paid-up capital, franchise, profits, single business, registration, ad valorem, real or immovable property,
personal or movable property, sales, use, transfer, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, recordation, grantee/grantor,
registration, privilege, goods and services, estimated, net worth, transfer and recording taxes, and all similar charges, duties, fees, levies
or other assessments of any kind whatsoever imposed by or required to be collected or withheld by any Governmental Entity, together
with any interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax, damage costs, or additional amounts attributable to, or imposed upon, or with respect
to, any such taxes, charges, duties, fees, levies, other assessments (whether payable directly or by withholding and whether or not
requiring the filing of a Tax Return) whether disputed or not and shall include any liability for such amounts as a result of (i) being a
transferee or successor or member of a combined, consolidated, unitary or affiliated group or similar group of entities, or (ii) a
contractual obligation to indemnify any Person.
“Tax Proceeding” is defined in Section 9.6.
“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return other document (including
any related or supporting schedule, report, declaration, attachment, statement or information) filed or required to be filed in connection
with the determination, assessment, withholding or collection of any Tax of any Person or the administration of any Laws, regulations
or administrative requirements relating to any Tax, including any amendment thereof.
“Tax Sharing Agreement” means any Contract providing for sharing or allocation of Tax liabilities or Tax attributes
with another Person, including by providing indemnification or reimbursement to any other Person against losses attributable to
imposition of any Tax or agreement to take a specified reporting position in any Tax Return, but excluding Contracts (other than with
employees or service providers) entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business in which such provisions are not a significant purpose
of the Contract and are commonly included in Contracts dealing with the subject matter of such Contract, such as leases, or licenses or
lending agreements.
“Taxing Authority ” means any Governmental Entity responsible for the assessment, determination, collection or
administration of any Tax.
“TFX” is defined in the Recitals.
“TFX Business” means the business of the development, manufacturing and/or marketing of the following product
lines: Multiple Amputation Trauma Trainer (MATT)® Trauma Trainer; AirwayPlus Lifecast (APL) Upper Torso Trainer; Airway Plus
Lifecast with Abdominal Evisceration (APL-AE); Airway Plus Lifecast - Intubation/Packable (APL-IP); Packable Hemostatic Wound
Trainer (HEMO); Multiple Amputation Trauma Trainer (MATT)® Abdominal Casualty Expectant (ACE); and all other products,
substances and materials as listed or described in the Product Catalog attached hereto as Appendix A; together with the development,
manufacturing, and/or marketing of various task trainers and prototypes for such

business and the development, manufacturing and/or marketing of upgrades or retrofits to existing products for such business; and any
other medical training devices for such business under development for such business as of or prior to the Transfer Effective Date.
“TFX Contribution Agreement” means that certain Asset Transfer and Contribution Agreement, dated as of February 1,
2019, by and between the Company, the Seller and TraumaFX Solutions Inc., as amended or modified through the date hereof and
hereafter in accordance with this Agreement, attached hereto as Section 3.26 of the Disclosure Schedule.
“TFX Contribution Agreement Closing” means the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the TFX
Contribution Agreement.
“TFX Divestiture” means the transfer and/or restructuring of the TFX Business (including the applicable personnel,
assets and liabilities transferred pursuant to the TFX Contribution Agreement as well as the transfer of stock of TraumaFX Solutions,
Inc. from the Company to the Seller or another Subsidiary of the Seller prior to the date hereof) from the Company and/or the Seller to
another Subsidiary of the Seller (other than Parent or the Company) or the wind down of the operations of the TFX Business.
“TFX Excluded Assets” has the meaning set forth in the TFX Contribution Agreement.
“TFX Retained Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in the TFX Contribution Agreement.
“TFX Transition Services Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the TFX Contribution Agreement.
“Third Party Claim” means any Legal Proceeding by a Person other than a Person from which indemnification may be
sought under Article VIII.
“Transaction Compensation Payments” means, without duplication, any payments of any stay bonus, discretionary
bonus, sale bonus, change of control payment, severance payment, retention payment, transaction bonus, success fee, phantom equity
payout, “stay-out” or other compensatory payment or payment obligation to any Person, in each case that is conditioned on, or will
become due and payable by the Parent or the Company as a result of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any Transaction
Document or as result of, the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby; provided, however, that, for
avoidance of doubt, the term “Transaction Compensation Payments” shall not include any operating, discretionary or incentive
bonuses paid in the Ordinary Course of Business, or any payments to be made pursuant to obligations first entered into by the
Company after the Closing, in each case to the extent unrelated to this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.
“Transaction Documents” means the Transition Services Agreement, the TFX Transition Services Agreement, the TFX
Contribution Agreement, the Non-Competition; Non

-Solicitation Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and any other agreement, document, certificate or instrument executed and delivered
by a Party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
“Transition Services Agreement” means the transition services agreement to be executed as of the Closing in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Seller and the Purchaser.
“WARN Act” means the United States Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1991.
“Working Capital Statement” is defined in Section 2.3(a).
ARTICLE II
PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES
2.1 Purchase and Sale of Shares. Upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing the Seller shall sell
to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall purchase from the Seller, the Shares, free and clear of all Liens.
2.2 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price for the Shares is $115,000,000 (the “Purchase Price”), subject to adjustment
pursuant to Section 2.3 and Article VII. On the Closing Date, the Purchaser will pay to the Seller (or to third parties on the Seller’s
behalf in accordance with this Agreement and the Flow of Funds Memorandum) by wire transfer in immediately available funds an
aggregate amount equal to the Purchase Price as set forth in Article VII.
2.3 Purchase Price Adjustment.
(a) Within sixty (60) days after the Closing (the “Delivery Date”), the Seller shall deliver to the Purchaser a statement
(the “Closing Statement”), prepared in accordance with the Accounting Principles, consisting of (i) a working capital statement,
showing the Current Assets and Current Liabilities of the Company Group, as of the Effective Time (the “ Working Capital
Statement”), (ii) the calculation of the amount (which may be positive, negative or zero) equal to the sum (without duplication) of the
Current Assets of the Company Group minus the sum (without duplication) of the Current Liabilities of the Company Group, in each
case as of the Effective Time (“Closing Date Net Working Capital”), (iii) the amount of Cash of the Company Group as of the
Effective Time, if any (the “Closing Cash”), (iv) the unpaid Closing Debt Amount after taking into account any payment, satisfaction,
discharge or extinguishment thereof made in accordance with Section 7.2, and (v) the amount of all unpaid Company Transaction
Expenses as of the Effective Time, after taking into account any payment thereof made in accordance with Section 7.2 (the “Closing
Transaction Expenses”), provided that (x) the Working Capital Statement and Closing Date Net Working Capital each shall be
calculated on a consolidated basis, but taking into account the TFX Contribution Agreement Closing; and (y) for purposes of such
calculation of Closing Date Net Working Capital, any item included in the definition of “Closing Debt Amount” or “Company
Transaction Expenses” that are paid by the Seller at or before the Closing (and any liability or obligation extinguished in accordance
with

Section 7.2) shall be excluded from the calculation of Closing Date Net Working Capital. The Closing Statement (including the items
specified therein) shall be prepared, calculated or determined (A) without giving effect to any action taken by the Purchaser or any
event or occurrence after the Closing and (B) without reflecting any impact of purchase accounting associated with the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Seller shall also make available to the Purchaser, upon the Purchaser’s
request, copies of working papers and other applicable books and records of the Seller and its Subsidiaries used or related to the
preparation of the Closing Statement. Prior to the Delivery Date, each of the Purchaser and the Company shall make its accounting
personnel reasonably available to the Seller to facilitate the Seller’s calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital.
(i) In the event that the Closing Date Net Working Capital is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.3 to be
less than the Target Net Working Capital, within three (3) Business Days after such final determination of the Closing Net Working
Capital, (i) the Seller and the Purchaser shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent, instructing the Escrow Agent to
distribute to the Purchaser the amount of such shortfall from the Working Capital Escrow Deposit (up to Two Million Five Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000)) and to distribute to Seller any funds remaining in the Working Capital Escrow Deposit after the
distribution to Purchaser, and (ii) the Seller shall pay directly to the Purchaser the portion of such shortfall, if any, greater than the Two
Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) paid by the Escrow Agent to the Purchaser, in each case, in cash by wire
transfer of immediately available U.S. funds.
(ii) In the event that the Closing Date Net Working Capital is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.3 to
be greater than the Target Net Working Capital, within three (3) Business Days after such final determination of the Closing Net
Working Capital, the Seller and the Purchaser shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent, instructing the Escrow Agent
to distribute to the Seller the full amount of the Working Capital Escrow Deposit.
Any amounts determined to be owed by the Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to this Section 2.3(a) shall be final and binding for
purposes of this Section 2.3 on the fifteenth (15th) day after the Delivery Date, unless disputed in accordance with Section 2.3(b). If
any such amount finally determined to be owed by the Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to this Section 2.3(a) is not timely paid in
accordance with this Section 2.3, then any amount, other than amounts payable from the Working Capital Escrow Deposit, shall bear
interest at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum from the date such amount is due hereunder until paid in full. The adjustment to the
Purchase Price provided for in this Section is hereinafter referred to as the “Purchase Price Adjustment.”
(b) The Purchaser shall have twenty (20) days from the Delivery Date to deliver a written notice of disagreement to the
Seller regarding the Purchase Price Adjustment (a “Notice of Disagreement”). During such period and for so long thereafter that the
Closing Date Net Working Capital has not been finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.3, the Seller shall make its accounting
personnel reasonably available to the Purchaser. Any such Notice of Disagreement shall specify in reasonable detail the nature of any
disagreement, and the basis

therefor. If no Notice of Disagreement is delivered within such thirty (30) day period, the Closing Date Net Working Capital amount
shall become final and binding upon the Parties for purposes of this Section 2.3. Following delivery of a Notice of Disagreement, the
Parties shall use reasonable efforts in good faith to resolve any differences which they may have with respect to any matter specified in
the Notice of Disagreement. If the Parties fail to reach a written agreement with respect to all such matters within thirty (30) days of the
Notice of Disagreement, then all such matters as specified in the Notice of Disagreement as to which such written agreement has not
been reached (the “Disputed Matters”) shall be submitted to and reviewed by Grant Thornton, or such other internationally recognized
independent accounting firm mutually agreeable to Seller and the Purchaser (the “Arbitrator”). The Parties shall select and engage the
Arbitrator within fifteen (15) days after the end of such thirty (30) day period. Any amounts related to matters that are not Disputed
Matters shall be paid as if no Notice of Disagreement was delivered within five (5) days of the earlier to occur of (i) delivery of a
Notice of Disagreement by the Seller, and (ii) the Closing Date Net Working Capital amount becoming final and binding on the Parties
in accordance with this Section 2.3(b). Promptly, and no later than twenty (20) days after the Arbitrator is engaged, the Seller and the
Purchaser shall each submit to the Arbitrator a written statement setting forth their respective computations of the Closing Date Net
Working Capital and specific information, evidence and support for their respective positions as to all items in dispute, with a copy
submitted to the other party simultaneously. Unless requested by the Arbitrator, no party hereto may present any additional information
to the Arbitrator, either orally or in writing. Neither the Seller nor the Purchaser shall have or conduct any communication, either
written or oral, with the Arbitrator without the other Party either being present or receiving a concurrent copy of any written
communication. The Seller and the Purchaser, and their respective Representatives, shall cooperate fully with the Arbitrator during its
engagement and respond on a timely basis to all requests for information or access to documents or personnel made by the Arbitrator,
all with the intent to fairly and in good faith resolve all disputes relating to the Closing Date Net Working Capital as promptly as
reasonably practicable. The Arbitrator shall conduct its review, resolve all disputes and, to the extent necessary, compute the Closing
Date Net Working Capital in accordance with the Accounting Principles and based solely on the information submitted by the Seller
and the Purchaser (not by independent review). The findings and determinations of the Arbitrator as set forth in his or her written
report shall be deemed final, conclusive and binding upon the Parties for purposes of this Section 2.3. In resolving any disputed item,
the Arbitrator may not assign a value to any particular item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either the Seller or
the Purchaser, or less than the lowest value for such item claimed by either the Seller or the Purchaser, in their respective
determinations of the Closing Date Net Working Capital. The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator incurred in resolving the Disputed
Matters shall be borne: (i) by the Seller in that proportion that the amount the Seller is not awarded bears to the aggregate amount
contested by the Seller and (ii) by the Purchaser in that proportion that the amount the Seller is awarded bears to the aggregate amount
contested and the Arbitrator shall make an allocation of its fees and expenses consistent with the foregoing. For example, if the
Purchaser submits a Disputed Matter to the Arbitrator with a value of $100,000 and the Arbitrator awards $75,000 to the Seller, the
Seller shall bear 25% of the Arbitrator's fees and expenses and the Purchaser shall bear 75% of the Arbitrator's fees and expenses. The
Parties shall be entitled to have a judgment entered on such report in any court of competent jurisdiction. All payments

made pursuant to this Section 2.3 shall be treated by all Parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER
Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule, the Seller represents and warrants to the Purchaser as follows:
3.1 Organization and Standing. Each of the Company, the Seller and the Parent: (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation; (ii) has all requisite corporate power and authority to
own its properties, carry on its business as now being conducted and as contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) is duly qualified or
licensed to do business and is in good standing or has active status in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the
ownership, leasing or operation of its properties makes such qualification or licensing necessary, which jurisdictions in the case of the
Company only are listed in Section 3.1 of the Disclosure Schedule, except to the extent that the failure to be so qualified or licensed
would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change. The Seller has made available to the Purchaser complete
and correct copies of the Company’s and the Parent’s Constitutive Documents, in each case, as amended, to date. The Company is not
in violation of any of the provisions of the Company’s Constitutive Documents. The Parent is not in violation of any of the provisions
of the Parent’s Constitutive Documents. The Parent is a holding company and has never conducted any business, has no, and has
never had, active operations, is not and has never been a party to any Contract (other than the Seller Credit Facility that will be repaid
at Closing or with respect to which any Liens against the Parent, the Company or any of their respective assets shall be released at
Closing), has no, and has never had any continuing rights or licenses to use any Intellectual Property owned by a third party, and has
no and has never had any employees.
3.2 Power and Authority; Binding Agreement. Each of the Parent, the Seller and the Company has all requisite corporate
power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which each of them is specified to be a
party, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The
execution and delivery by the Parent, the Seller and the Company of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which each of
them is specified to be a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized
by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Parent, the Seller and the Company and no other Legal Proceedings on the part of
the Parent, the Seller and the Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. This Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which each of the Parent, the Seller
and the Company is specified to be a party have been or will be duly executed and delivered by the Parent, the Seller and the
Company and, assuming due execution and delivery by the other Parties, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Parent, the
Seller and the Company, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms, except as limited by the Enforceability
Exceptions.

3.3 Noncontravention; Consents.
(a) Other than as set forth in Section 3.3(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the execution and delivery by the Parent,
the Seller or the Company of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents to which each of them is specified to be a party, the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such Transaction Documents nor the performance of their
respective obligations hereunder or thereunder do or will require any consent, notice, waiver, filing or other action by any Person
under, conflict with, or result in any material violation or breach of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) under, or
result in, termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to a loss of a material benefit under, or result in the creation of
any Lien in or upon the Shares or any Lien other than immaterial Liens on any of the properties or assets of the Seller, the Parent or the
Company under, or give rise to any increased, additional, accelerated or guaranteed rights or entitlements under, any provision of: (i)
the Constitutive Documents of the Parent, the Seller or the Company; (ii) any Indebtedness or Contract to which the Parent, the Seller
or the Company is a party or bound by or its properties or assets are bound by or subject to or otherwise under which the Parent, the
Seller or the Company has rights or benefits other than the Indebtedness that will be repaid or released at Closing; or (iii) any (A) Law,
or (B) Judgment or (C) any Listed Contract or any other Contract that is material to the operation of the Business (which for avoidance
of doubt excludes any immaterial vendor or supply agreements that are not (I) sole source agreements or (II) the termination of which
would have an adverse impact to the Business) to which the Parent, the Seller or the Company is a party or bound.
(b) Exclusive of the TFX Divestiture in accordance with the TFX Contribution Agreement and distributions undertaken
in accordance with the TFX Contribution Agreement, other than the required filings (if any required) with the SEC and under the HSR
Act and as set forth in Section 3.3(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, no consent, approval, order or authorization of, registration,
declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Entity or other Person is required by or with respect to the Parent, the Seller
and the Company in connection with the execution and delivery by the Parent, the Seller and the Company of this Agreement or the
Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party, the consummation by the Parent, the Seller and the Company of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the compliance or performance by the Parent, the Seller and the Company with the
provisions of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party, except for such consents, approvals,
orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations, filings and notices, the failure of which to be obtained or made individually or in the
aggregate would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Parent or the Company or impair in any material respect the ability of
the Parent, the Seller and the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is
specified to be a party, or prevent or materially impede or delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
3.4 Compliance with Laws. Except as set forth in Section 3.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Parent and the Company are and
have been in material compliance since January 1, 2016 with all applicable Laws and Judgments applicable to its businesses except for
instances of

non-compliance that individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Parent or the Company.
Other than as set forth in Section 3.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Seller, the Parent nor the Company has received a written
notice or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, other communication that is currently pending alleging a possible material violation by the Parent
or the Company of any applicable Law or Judgment applicable to the Parent’s or the Company's businesses or operations.
3.5 Title to Shares. The Seller has good and marketable title to the Shares, free and clear of all Liens other than Liens with
respect to the Seller Credit Facility that shall be released at Closing. As of the Closing, the Seller will transfer good and marketable title
to the Shares to the Purchaser free and clear of all Liens.
3.6 Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of the Parent consists of 10,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value per
share, of which 100 shares are issued and outstanding. The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 1,000 shares of
common stock, no par value per share, of which 1,000 shares are issued and outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding Shares
have been duly authorized, are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and are held of record and beneficially by the Seller. All of
the issued and outstanding equity interests of the Company have been duly authorized, are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable,
and are held by record and beneficially by the Parent. The Shares are, and as of the Closing Date will be, all of the issued and
outstanding capital stock and equity securities of the Parent. The rights, preferences and privileges of the Shares are as set forth in the
Articles of Incorporation of Parent. There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights,
conversion rights, exchange rights, or other Contracts or commitments that could require the Parent or the Company to issue, sell, or
otherwise cause to become outstanding any of its capital stock. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom
stock, profit participation, or similar rights with respect to the Parent or the Company. There are no voting trusts, proxies, stockholder
agreements, rights of first offer, rights of first refusal or other agreements or understandings with respect to the transfer or voting of, or
otherwise relating to, the capital stock of the Parent or the Company.
3.7 Subsidiaries. The Company is the sole Subsidiary of the Parent. The Company has no Subsidiaries. Neither Parent nor the
Company owns, of record or beneficially, or holds the right to acquire any shares of stock or any other security or interest, directly or
indirectly, of or in any Person (other than the Company in the case of the Parent), including any partnership or joint venture.
3.8 Permits. The Company validly holds and has in full force and effect all material Permits necessary for it to own, lease or
operate its properties and assets and to carry on the Business as now conducted. The Company is in compliance in all material respects
with the terms and conditions of all such Permits and there has occurred no material default (with or without notice or lapse of time or
both) or material violation of, or under, or event giving to any other Person any right of termination, amendment or cancellation of, any
such Permit. None of such Permits are or will be subject to suspension, modification, revocation or nonrenewal as a result of the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or in the Transaction

Documents or the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents. No Legal Proceeding is pending or, to the
Seller’s Knowledge, threatened, seeking the revocation or limitation of any such Permit. Section 3.8 of the Disclosure Schedule lists
each Permit of a material nature issued or granted to or held by the Company and necessary for it to own, lease or operate its properties
and assets and to carry on the Business as now conducted. Other than its facility security clearance, the Parent does not hold any
Permits and is not required to hold any Permits.
3.9 Financial Statements.
(a) Section 3.9(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31,
2018 (the “Most Recent Balance Sheet”), December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, together with the related unaudited statements
of income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (collectively, the “Financial
Statements”). The Financial Statements: (i) are consistent with the books and records of the Company; (ii) have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP (except that the Most Recent Balance Sheet lacks the footnote disclosure and other presentation items, and are
subject to normal year-end adjustments otherwise required by GAAP, which adjustments, collectively, are not expected to be material);
and (iii) present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the respective dates
thereof and for the periods referred to therein. The Financial Statements have been presented without regard to the TFX Business.
(b) All accounts receivable of the Company, whether reflected on the Most Recent Balance Sheet or otherwise, are
bona fide claims of the Company and arose from valid transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business. The Company has received no
written (or, to the Seller's Knowledge, other) notice or other indication that the Company’s accounts receivable will not be collected,
and the Company’s accounts receivable in the aggregate, net of reserves, will be collected when due in accordance with their
respective terms.
(c) All accounts payable of the Company, whether reflected on the Most Recent Balance Sheet or otherwise, are bona
fide claims against the Company and arose from valid transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business. Section 3.9(c) of the Disclosure
Schedule sets forth an accounts payable aging report for the Company that is true, correct and complete in all material respects.
(d) The Company maintains a system of accounting and internal controls and procedures as are reasonably necessary, in
light of the Company’s size and the nature of its business, to provide assurances that (i) transactions are executed with management’s
authorization; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the financial statements of the Company and to
maintain accountability for the Company’s assets; (iii) accounts, notes and other receivables and inventory are recorded accurately, and
proper and adequate procedures are implemented to effect the collection thereof on a current and timely basis; and (iv) material
information regarding the Company and its financial condition is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management. To
the Knowledge of Seller,

there is no fraud that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal controls.
(e) Section 3.9(e) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all leases held by the Company other than the leases to be
transferred to TFX pursuant to TFX Contribution Agreement.
3.10 Absence of Changes or Events. Except as set forth in Section 3.10 of the Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2017,
except for the marketing of the Company for sale, the TFX Divestiture in accordance with the TFX Contribution Agreement and
distributions of TFX assets undertaken in accordance with the TFX Contribution Agreement:
(a) The Company has conducted the Business only in the Ordinary Course of Business; the Parent has conducted no
business whatsoever;
(b) There has occurred no Material Adverse Change;
(c) Neither the Company nor the Parent has: (i) amended its Constitutive Documents; (ii) issued, sold, transferred,
pledged, disposed of or encumbered any of its capital stock or any commitments or rights of any kind to acquire any of its capital stock;
(iii) purchased or otherwise acquired directly or indirectly any of its capital stock, or any instrument or security which consists of or
includes a right to acquire such capital stock; or (iv) declared or paid any dividends or distributions on or with respect to its capital
stock;
(d) Neither the Company nor the Parent has adopted a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger,
consolidation, restructuring or other reorganization of the Company or the Parent;
(e) Neither the Company nor the Parent has changed in any material respect any of the accounting policies or methods
used by it;
(f) The Company has not incurred loss of, or damage to, its tangible personal property assets in excess of $150,000
individually or $250,000 in the aggregate whether as a result of any natural disaster, labor trouble, accident, other casualty or
otherwise;
(g) Neither the Company nor the Parent has mortgaged, pledged or subjected to any Lien (other than Permitted Liens),
any of its assets;
(h) The Company has not sold, exchanged, transferred or otherwise disposed of any of its assets, except in the Ordinary
Course of Business;
(i) The Company has not canceled any debts or claims, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(j) The Company has not reserved for or written down the value of any assets or written off as uncollectible any
accounts receivable, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(k) The Company has not made, or committed to make, any capital expenditures in excess of $150,000 individually or
$250,000 in the aggregate;
(l) There has not been any labor dispute or disturbance adversely affecting the business operations, prospects or
financial condition of the Company, including, the filing of any petition or charge of unfair labor practice with any Governmental
Entity, and, to the Seller’s Knowledge, efforts to effect a union representation election, actual or threatened employee strike, work
stoppage or slowdown;
(m) Except as in the Ordinary Course of Business and the Transaction Compensation Payments set forth on Exhibit B
attached hereto, there has not been any employment, severance, termination, retention, change of control or similar agreements or
arrangements entered into or modified by the Parent or the Company related to any current or former employee, director or
independent contractor, or any bonuses, salary increases, severance or termination pay made or granted by the Parent or the Company
to any current or former employee, director or independent contractor, or other increase in the compensation or benefits provided to
any current or former employee, director or independent contractor of the Parent or the Company;
(n) Neither the Company nor the Parent has entered into, modified or terminated any Listed Contract or waived any
material rights under any Listed Contract other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(o) There has not been any loan or advance of money or other property by the Company to any employee other than
business travel advances, use of a Company credit card in the Ordinary Course of Business or any loans which may have been
satisfied prior to the date hereof; and
(p) Neither the Company nor the Parent has made any agreement to do any of the foregoing, other than negotiations
with the Purchaser and its Representatives regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents to
which it is specified to be a party.
3.11 Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in Section 3.11 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company does not have any
Liabilities, obligations or commitments, except: (i) Liabilities, obligations or commitments which are accurately reflected or reserved
against in the Most Recent Balance Sheet; (ii) Liabilities, obligations or commitments which have been incurred in the Ordinary
Course of Business since the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date; (iii) Liabilities, obligations or commitments disclosed in Section 3.11 of
the Disclosure Schedule, and (iv) Liabilities, obligations or commitments which are otherwise not in excess of $150,000 individually or
in the aggregate. The Parent has no Liabilities.
3.12 Assets other than Real Property. Except as set forth on Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedule, or disposed of in the
Ordinary Course of Business since the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet, the Company has good title to, a valid leasehold interest
in, or a valid license to use, all material items of tangible personal property reflected on the Most Recent

Balance Sheet as owned or used by the Company for the operation of the Business, free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted
Liens. Excluding the assets owned by Seller or its Affiliates and used by them in the course of providing the Shared Services and
Assets, all equipment used by the Company in the Ordinary Course of Business is in adequate working condition and repair and
sufficient for the operation of the Business as presently conducted (normal maintenance, wear and tear excepted). Except for (a) the
assets owned by Seller or its Affiliates and used by them in the course of providing the Shared Services and Assets, and except for the
services to be provided under the Transition Services Agreement, and (b) those assets owned or otherwise provided by customers of
the Company pursuant to the terms of the Contracts with such customers identified on the Disclosure Schedule, the assets (including
real, personal, tangible and intangible or of any other nature whatsoever) owned or leased by the Company, or that the Company
otherwise has the right to use, comprise all of the assets used or held for use in the Company’s business and include all of the assets
necessary and sufficient for the Purchaser and the Company to conduct the Company’s business immediately after the Closing in the
same manner as the Company’s business is currently conducted in all material respects. Except for the assets owned by Seller or its
Affiliates and used by them in the course of providing the Shared Services and Assets, no assets necessary to conduct the business of
the Company are owned by, or licensed or leased solely to, the Seller or any Affiliate of the Seller (other than the Company). The
Parent has no personal property, real property or other assets (other than its facility security clearance), other than the capital stock of
the Company.
3.13 Real Property.
(a) The Company owns no real property. Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all real property and
interests in real property leased by or to the Company, (each, a “Leased Property”), other than Leased Property transferred to TFX
pursuant to the TFX Contribution Agreement. The Company has made available to the Purchaser a complete and correct copy of
each lease, sublease or any other material agreement pertaining to any of the Leased Property (collectively, the “Leases”) identified
on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule. Assuming good title in the landlord, the Company holds a valid leasehold interest in
the Leased Property listed on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, in each case free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Liens
listed or described on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, and (ii) Permitted Liens. No representation or warranty is made
herein regarding the status of the fee title (and any matters pertaining to such fee title) of any Leased Property listed on Section
3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule; it being understood and agreed that the provisions of this Section 3.13 pertain only to the
leasehold interest of the Company. Except as set forth on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Leased Property listed on
Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule constitutes all of the real property currently used or occupied by the Company. There are
no (x) subleases, assignments (collateral or otherwise), occupancy agreements, or other agreements pursuant to which the Company
has granted to any Person the right of use or occupancy of any of the Leased Property, and (y) capital expenditures or restoration
obligations set forth in any of the Leases that in the aggregate exceed $100,000.
(b) Except as reflected on Section 3.13(b) of the Disclosure Schedule:

(i) to the Seller’s Knowledge, no portion of any Leased Property listed on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure
Schedule is subject to any pending condemnation Legal Proceeding or other Legal Proceeding by any Governmental Entity materially
adverse to such Leased Property and there is no threatened condemnation or other Legal Proceeding with respect thereto materially
adverse to such Leased Property; and
(ii) the Company is not a lessor under, or otherwise a party to, any lease, sublease, license or concession
pursuant to which the Company has granted to any Person the right to use or occupy all or any portion of the Leased Property listed on
Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule.
3.14 Contracts.
(a) Except as set forth in Section 3.14(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor the Parent is party to or
bound by any of the following Contracts (each such Contract, whether or not set forth in such section of the Disclosure Schedule, a
“Listed Contract”):
(i) Any Contract that involves annual expenditures or receipts by the Company in excess of $150,000 in any
twelve month period;
(ii) Employment or independent contractor or consulting Contracts (other than Contracts with Company
subcontractors), or any employee collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any labor union or any employee of the
Company that provides for annual compensation in excess of $100,000 or provides for severance or change in control payments, or is
otherwise material to the Company or the operation of the Business as currently conducted, other than any Contracts requiring payment
of the Transaction Compensation Payments set forth in Exhibit B hereto;
(iii) Contract containing any “non-solicitation” or “no-hire” provision that restricts the Company or its conduct
of the Business in any manner other than (A) customer Contracts (including customer Contracts that are Government Contracts) and
(B) Contracts with Company subcontractors and suppliers, or (C) teaming agreements, in the case of each of clause (A), (B) and (C)
containing customary provisions in the industry as to restrictions on the solicitation or hiring of personnel to work on the projects or
programs covered by such Contracts;
(iv) Contract containing any provision that purports to apply to or restrict the Company from engaging in any
line of business, either directly or through any other conduct of the Business, anywhere in the world, other than restrictions set forth in
(A) any customer Contracts that are Government Contracts between the Company and the U.S. Government or any other
Governmental Entity or (B) teaming agreements entered into by the Company in the Ordinary Course of Business with restrictions
limited to the opportunity set forth in the corresponding Government Bid;

(v) (A) any Contract between the Company or the Parent, on the one hand, and the Seller or any Affiliate of the
Seller (other than the Company and the Parent) or any Related Party of the Seller, the Parent or the Company, on the other hand; or (B)
any Contract between the Company and the Parent;
(vi) Lease, sublease or similar Contract with any Person under which the Company is a lessor or sublessor of, or
makes available for use to any Person (other than the Company), (A) any Leased Property listed on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure
Schedule, or (B) any portion of any premises otherwise occupied or used by the Company;
(vii) Lease or similar Contract with any Person under which (A) the Company is lessee of, or holds or uses, any
machinery, equipment, vehicle or other tangible personal property owned by any Person (other than any Contracts that individually do
not involve the payment by or to the Company of more than $100,000 in any twelve-month period), or (B) the Company is a lessor or
sublessor of, or makes available for use by any Person, any tangible personal property owned or leased by the Company (other than
any Contracts that individually do not involve the payment by or to the Company of more than $100,000 in any twelve-month period);
(viii) Contract calling for performance over a period of more than one (1) year, other than (A) any Contracts that
individually do not involve the payment by or to the Company of more than $100,000 in any twelve-month period, (B) Government
Contracts between the Company and the U.S. Government or any other Governmental Entity, and (C) teaming agreements entered
into by the Company in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(ix) Contract for the disposition of any assets of the Company (other than sales of inventory in the Ordinary
Course of Business) or any Contract for the acquisition, directly or indirectly, of the assets (other than acquisitions of inventory or other
disposable assets in the Ordinary Course of Business) or business of any other Person or any Contract with an earnout, deferred
payment or other contingent payment obligation;
(x) Contract for any joint venture or partnership;
(xi) Contracts (other than Government Contracts between the Company and the U.S. Government or any other
Governmental Entity), (A) granting any Person any license to, or making available (including on a service basis) to any Person, any
Company Intellectual Property, or (B) pursuant to which the Company has been granted by any Person any license to any Intellectual
Property or pursuant to which any Person has made available (including on a service basis) any Intellectual Property to the Company
(other than any Contract for generally available, commercial, off-the-shelf Software that is (1) not distributed by the Company to any
Person, and (2) has a per-user, copy or seat license fee of Two Hundred Fifty Dollars ($250) or less or aggregate annual license fees of
Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500) or less), or any other license, option or other Contract relating in whole or in part to
Company Intellectual Property or the Intellectual Property of any other Person (except, in each case in this Section 3.14(a)(xi), any
Contract that is disclosed in Section 3.14(a)(v));

(xii) Contract (other than trade debt incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business) under which the Company has
borrowed any money from, or issued any evidence of Indebtedness to, any Person;
(xiii) Contract under which the Company has directly or indirectly guaranteed Indebtedness, liabilities or
obligations of any Person (other than endorsements for the purpose of collection in the Ordinary Course of Business);
(xiv) Contract (other than trade debt incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business) under which the Company
has, directly or indirectly, made any advance, loan, extension of credit or capital contribution to, or other investment in, any Person;
(xv) Mortgage or other Lien upon any Leased Property listed on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule,
other than Permitted Liens and Liens which would not materially impair the current uses or the occupancy by the Company of such
Leased Property;
(xvi) Contract involving a research or development collaboration or similar arrangement;
(xvii) Contract granting any third party a security interest in any of the Company's assets, excluding the Shared
Services and Assets;
(xviii) Any settlement agreement involving claims by or against the Company under which the Company has
executory obligations or outstanding monetary obligations in excess of $25,000 that are not accrued on the Most Recent Balance
Sheet;
(xix) Any Contract that grants the other party of any third Person “most favored nation” or similar status, or any
right of first refusal, first notice or first negotiation, other than (A) any customer Contracts that are Government Contracts between the
Company and the U.S. Government or any other Governmental Entity, (B) teaming agreements entered into by the Company in the
Ordinary Course of Business with restrictions limited to the opportunity set forth in the corresponding Government Bid or (C) vendor
or supply agreements that are immaterial to the operation of the Business;
(xx) Any Contract that obligates the Company to sell or purchase any good or service exclusively to or from a
single Person;
(xxi) Any Contract entered into outside the Ordinary Course of Business of the Company involving payment or
obligations in excess of $100,000 in any twelve (12) month period that is not otherwise described in this Section 3.14(a); and
(xxii) Any Contract material to the operation of the Company in which any party has notified the Company, in
writing, or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, oral notice, that it intends to terminate or seek to modify the terms and conditions thereof in a
manner adverse to the Company.

(b) Each Contract to which the Company is a party or bound is in full force and effect, and is legal, valid, binding and
enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by the Enforceability Exceptions. Seller has provided
copies of each Listed Contract set forth in Section 3.14(a) of the Disclosure Schedule (and a written summary of the terms of any such
Listed Contracts that are oral) to the Purchaser. Except as set forth in Section 3.14(a)(xxii) of the Disclosure Schedule, there is no
material default, material violation or material breach under any Listed Contract (or any other material Contract) by the Company or, to
the Seller’s Knowledge, by any other party thereto. Except as set forth in Section 3.14(a)(xxii) of the Disclosure Schedule, no notice,
waiver, consent or approval is required (or the lack of which would give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of, or
entitle any party to accelerate, whether after the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, any obligation under any Listed Contract)
under or relating to any Listed Contract (or any other material Contract) in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. Except as set forth on
Section 3.14(a)(xxii) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not received from any counterparties to any Contract: (i) any
written notice or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, any other notice of any material breach or default or any notice that any such party intends
to terminate, cancel or not renew any Listed Contract (or any other material Contract); (ii) any written claim, or to the Seller’s
Knowledge, any other claim for material damages or indemnification with respect to the products sold or performance of services
pursuant to any Listed Contract (or any other material Contract); or (iii) solely with respect to any of the Listed Contracts listed under
Section 3.14(a)(viii), any notice that such party intends to substantially alter (including as a result of any material reduction in the rate
or amount of sales or purchases or material increase in the prices charged or paid, as the case may be) any such Listed Contract.
3.15 Intellectual Property.
(a) Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of Company Intellectual Property
indicating: (i) Company Owned Intellectual Property and (ii) the general categories of Company Non-Owned Intellectual Property, and
those items within each of these categories that are significant to the Business as now being operated, and (iii) each item of Registered
Intellectual Property. Each item of Registered Intellectual Property was properly registered and is in good standing and, to the
Knowledge of the Seller, is enforceable. The Company Intellectual Property (which includes for the avoidance of doubt, the Shared
Services and Assets) constitutes all Intellectual Property necessary for the Company to conduct the Business in the manner currently
conducted. The Company does not license, distribute, or make available (including for use on a service or subscription basis or on a
hosted service, “Software-as-a-Service,” “Infrastructure-as-a-Service,” “Platform-as-a-Service” or similar “cloud” service basis), and
has not licensed, distributed, or made available in connection with the Business in the past three (3) years, any Software, hardware,
firmware, appliance, sensor, server, equipment or device to any Person who is not an Affiliate of the Company.
(b) Except as set forth in Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule: (i) the Company owns, free and clear of all Liens,
other than Permitted Liens, all Company Owned

Intellectual Property; (ii) excluding the Shared Services and Assets, the Company has valid and enforceable written license agreements
permitting the Company to use, free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens, all Company Non-Owned Intellectual Property,
and the Company has not breached any such license agreement; (iii) to the Seller’s Knowledge, there are no claims or demands
asserted in writing by any other Person pertaining to any Company Intellectual Property; and (iv) to the Seller’s Knowledge, no Legal
Proceeding has been instituted, or is pending or threatened, which challenges the validity or enforceability of, or the Company's rights
in or ownership of, or alleges any infringement in respect of, Company Intellectual Property. To Seller’s Knowledge, the Company’s
conduct of the Business, or any of its other activities, does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate, and has not infringed,
misappropriated, or otherwise violated, any Intellectual Property of any Person. To the Seller’s Knowledge, none of the Company
Intellectual Property is being or has been infringed, misappropriated or violated by any other Person.
(c) The Company maintains reasonable industry standard disaster recovery and security plans, procedures and facilities
for the continued operations of the Company as presently conducted. There have been no unauthorized intrusions or breaches of the
security of the Internal Systems or of confidential, personal or proprietary information of Company or any of their employees,
contractors, customers or suppliers maintained by or on behalf of the Company, in each case, that pose a material risk of harm to the
Company or such Persons or that could create material Liability for the Company or such Persons.
(d) The Company has used commercially reasonable industry standard efforts to protect and maintain the trade secrets
and confidential information of the Company and to otherwise to safeguard and maintain the secrecy and confidentiality of all
Company Owned Intellectual Property which is or was a trade secret under applicable Law. All officers, employees, independent
contractors and consultants of the Company who have had access to trade secrets or confidential information of the Company are
bound by written employment policies or agreements obligating such Persons to maintain the confidentiality of such trade secrets and
confidential information. No trade secrets owned by the Company that are or were (at the time of disclosure or access) material,
individually or taken as a whole, to the operation of the Business have been disclosed to, or accessed by, any unauthorized Person.
(e) All material Company Owned Intellectual Property has been created, developed and invented solely by employees
or contractors of the Company, within the course and scope of their employment or engagement, each of whom has executed and
delivered to the Company valid, binding and enforceable agreements, pursuant to which such employees or contractors assigned all
right, title, and interest in such Intellectual Property to the Company, as well as all Intellectual Property relating to the business of the
Company or arising from the services performed for the Company by such employees or contractors. The Company is not a member of
or party to any patent pool, industry standards body, trade association or other organization under the rules of which it is obligated to
license any existing or future Company Intellectual Property to any Person or to refrain from enforcing any rights.

(f) The Company has (i) complied in all material respects with all applicable contractual and legal requirements
pertaining to information privacy and security; and (ii) implemented, maintained and monitored compliance with reasonable
administrative, technical and physical safeguards to protect Personal Information against loss, damage, and unauthorized access,
acquisition, use, disclosure, modification, or other misuse. In the past three (3) years, there has been no loss, damage, unauthorized
access, acquisition, use, disclosure, modification or breach of security of Personal Information, third party proprietary or confidential
information in the possession, custody or control of the Company, in each case, that pose a material risk of harm to the Company or
that could create material Liability for the Company. There are no written claims made or actions commenced, by any person
(including any Governmental Entity) with respect to loss, damage, or unauthorized access, use, acquisition, disclosure, modification, or
breach of security of Personal Information maintained by or on behalf of the Company.
3.16 Litigation. Except as set forth in Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedule:
(a) there is no Legal Proceeding that is pending (or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened) against the Company or the
Parent or TFX;
(b) neither the Company nor the Parent is operating under or is subject to any Judgment, writ, injunction or award of
any Governmental Entity, court, judge, justice, magistrate, or arbitrator, including any bankruptcy court or judge;
(c) there are no unsatisfied Judgments outstanding against the Company or the Parent; and
(d) there is no Legal Proceeding pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against the Parent, the Seller or the
Company that seeks to enjoin or obtain damages in respect of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or
the Transaction Documents or that questions the validity of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, or any action taken or to be
taken by the Parent, the Seller or the Company in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby.
3.17 Taxes.
(a) All Tax Returns required to have been filed by the Company Group have been timely filed and all Taxes required to
have been paid by the Company Group (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been timely paid. All Tax Returns that are
required to have been filed on a combined, consolidated, unitary or affiliated group or similar group basis (each, a “Group Return”) in
which the Company Group has been or was required to have been included have been timely filed, and all Taxes required to have
been paid with respect to such Group Return for which the Company Group may be liable have been timely paid. The Company
and/or any Person that files Tax Returns which include the Company Group are not delinquent in the payment of any Taxes with
respect to such Tax Returns.
(b) All Tax Returns filed by the Company Group are true, correct and complete in all material respects and were
prepared in compliance with all applicable Laws and

regulations. All Group Returns that have been filed that relate to the Company Group are true, correct and complete in all material
respects and were prepared in compliance with all applicable Laws and regulations.
(c) All Taxes required to have been paid by the Company Group (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been
paid. The Company Group does not have any Liability with respect to Taxes in excess of the amounts accrued with respect thereto that
are reflected in the Most Recent Balance Sheet, except for Taxes that has been incurred by the Company Group in the ordinary course
of business since the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date. There are no Liens with respect to Taxes upon any of the properties or assets,
real or personal, tangible or intangible of the Company Group (other than for Taxes not yet due and payable or actively being
contested in good faith in proceedings disclosed in Section 3.17(e) of the Disclosure Schedules).
(d) The Company Group has withheld and paid all Taxes required by Law to have been withheld and paid and have
complied in all material respects with all rules and regulations relating to the withholding or remittance of Taxes (including employeerelated Taxes) and with the Company Group’s related document retention requirements. The Company Group has complied in all
material respects with all sales Tax collection, withholding and resale certificate exemption requirements and has complied in all
material respects with all documentation requirements relating to transactions in which the Company Group has either claimed an
exemption from payment of sales or use Tax or has not collected sales Tax from another Person in reliance on an exemption from such
Tax, including retention of purchase for resale and other exemption certificates provided by any such Person.
(e) Except as set forth in Section 3.17(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, there is no audit or other Legal Proceeding
presently pending or to threatened in writing (or to the Knowledge of the Seller in any other manner) with regard to any Tax Liability
or Tax Return of the Company Group or of the Seller arising from the inclusion of the Company Group in the Seller’s Group Returns.
Except as set forth in Section 3.17(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company Group nor any Person on behalf of the
Company Group has waived any statute of limitations or agreed to any extension of time that has continuing effect with respect to
assessment or collection of any Tax for which the Company Group may be held liable. The Company Group has not participated
within the preceding five (5) years in a “Tax amnesty” or similar program offered by any Governmental Entity to avoid the assessment
of any Tax. Except as set forth in Section 3.17(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, there is not currently in effect any power of attorney
authorizing any Person to act with respect to any Tax matter on behalf of the Company Group or receive information relating to the
Company Group (other than authorization of the Seller pursuant to Treasury Regulations 1.1502-77 (or comparable administrative
rule) in its capacity as common parent with respect to Group Returns and authorizations to contact Tax Return preparers included in
Tax Returns filed by or for the Company Group).
(f) Schedule 3.17(f) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies by list all material Tax Returns (classified by jurisdiction and
type of Tax) that the Company Group has filed for taxable periods ending after, or transactions occurring on or after, January 1, 2013
and the taxable period covered by such Tax Returns, and identifies those Tax Returns or taxable periods

that have been audited or are currently the subject of an audit by a Taxing Authority; provided, however, that omission of any Tax
Return from Section 3.17(f) of the Disclosure Schedule shall not constitute a disclosure of any exception under any other subsection of
this Section 3.17. The Seller has made available to the Purchaser complete and accurate copies of all of the following materials:
(i) all income Tax Returns filed by the Company Group that relate to taxable periods ending after December 31,
2014 (other than Group Returns) and a pro-forma separate federal income tax return consistent with the information related to the
Parent and the Company as reported in the federal consolidated Group Return filed by the Seller for each such year;
(ii) all examination reports (or relevant portions thereof) issued by any Taxing Authority since January 1, 2016,
in connection with Tax audits or examinations or asserted failures to file Tax Returns or pay Taxes by the Company Group or the
Seller with respect to items of the Company Group;
(iii) all statements of Taxes assessed against or agreed to by the Company Group since January 1, 2016 that
were not shown on Tax Returns filed for the relevant taxable period by the Company Group before such assessment or agreement;
(iv) all written rulings from, and written agreements with, any Governmental Entity relating to Taxes of the
Company Group that were either received since January 1, 2016 or would have continuing effect in the determination of Tax for any
taxable period for which a Tax Return has not yet been filed by or on behalf of the Company Group, and any request for issuance of
any ruling by a Taxing Authority related to the Company Group since January 1, 2016 (regardless of whether the requested ruling was
issued);
(v) all elections relating to Taxes of the Company Group that have been made or filed by or on behalf of the
Company Group with any Taxing Authority (other than elections which are included in or obvious from the Tax Returns referred to in
clause (i) above) that would have continuing effect for any taxable period ending after the Closing Date; and
(vi) to the extent reasonably requested in writing by the Purchaser, any other document to the extent relating to
Taxes or Tax Returns of the Company Group (and in the case of a Group Return, limited to the portion of such Group Returns
relevant to the Company Group).
(g) Section 3.17(g) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all jurisdictions and periods for which the Company Group has
either directly filed Tax Returns since January 1, 2013 or been included in income Group Returns filed by the Seller since January 1,
2013. No Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction has asserted in writing that the Company or the Parent is or may be subject to taxation by
that jurisdiction or has an obligation to file Tax Returns or pay or collect Taxes in such jurisdiction, other than with respect to Taxes
and Tax Returns of a type that the Company Group has filed in the most recently ended taxable period for which such Tax Returns
were due as shown on Section 3.17(g) of the Disclosure Schedule. The Company Group has not

conducted activities or transacted business in any jurisdiction that will require it to pay Taxes or file Tax Returns of a type that had not
been paid or filed by, or with respect to it, in such jurisdiction for the most recently ended preceding taxable period for which a Tax or
a Tax Return of such type was due.
(h) Neither the Company nor Parent is, or has ever been, a United States real property holding corporation within the
meaning of Section 897 of the Code.
(i) The Company and Parent are members of an “affiliated group” (as that term is defined in Section 1504 of the Code)
which has the Seller as the common parent corporation, and will be included in a federal consolidated income Tax Return filed by the
Seller for its taxable year that includes the Closing Date.
(j) Since January 31, 2006, neither the Company nor the Parent, except with respect to Seller’s affiliated group, has ever
been a member of an “affiliated group” (within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code) filing a Group Return. Since January 31,
2006, the Company Group has not had any liability for Taxes of any other Person (i) under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or
any similar provision of Law) other than for other members of the affiliated group of which the Seller is the common parent
corporation, (ii) either by assumption by Contract or operation of Law as transferee or successor, (iii) or under any Tax Sharing
Agreement. Section 3.17(j) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of (w) any Person that has ever merged with or into the Parent or
the Company, (x) any Person a majority of whose capital stock (or similar outstanding ownership interests) has ever been acquired by
the Company Group, (y) any Person all or substantially all of whose assets have ever been acquired by the Company Group, in either
case, since January 31, 2006.
(k) The Company Group has not taken any action not in accordance with past practice that would have the effect of
deferring a measure of Tax from a period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date to a period (or portion thereof)
beginning after the Closing Date. Except to the extent adequately reserved for on its Most Recent Balance Sheet or incurred after the
Most Recent Balance Sheet Date in the Ordinary Course of Business, the Company Group has no deferred income or Tax Liability
arising out of any transaction, including from any (i) disposition of any property in a transaction accounted for under the installment
method pursuant to Section 453 of the Code, (ii) “closing agreement” described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or
similar provision of state, local, or foreign Tax law) executed on or before the Closing Date, (iii) except as set forth in Section 3.17(k)
of the Disclosure Schedule, intercompany transaction pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-13, or Sections 367 or 482 of
the Code, (iv) excess loss account (as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-19) with respect to the stock of the Company,
(v) use of the long-term contract method of accounting, or (vi) receipt of any prepaid amount on or before the Closing Date.
(l) Except as set forth in Section 3.17(l) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company Group has not requested to make or
agreed to make, nor is required to make, any change in method of accounting that would require the Company Group to make an
adjustment to its income pursuant to Section 481(a) of the Code on any Tax Return for any taxable period for

which the Company Group has not yet filed a Tax Return, and no Taxing Authority has proposed to require a change in method of
accounting that would require such an adjustment.
(m) The Company Group (i) is not a party to any joint venture, partnership or other agreement or arrangement that is
treated (or required to be treated) as a partnership for federal income Tax purposes, and (ii) does not own any interest in an entity that
either is treated or required to be treated as an entity disregarded as separate from its owner for federal income Tax purposes, or is an
entity as to which an election pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3 has been made.
(n) Neither the Company nor the Parent has constituted either a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation”
within the meaning of Section 355(a)(1)(A) of the Code in a distribution qualifying (or intended to qualify) under Section 355 of the
Code (or so much of Section 356 as relates to Section 355).
(o) Neither the Company nor the Parent is subject to Tax in any jurisdiction other than its country of incorporation,
organization or formation by virtue of having employees, a permanent establishment or any other place of business in such jurisdiction.
(p) To the extent that the Company Group has applied for, received and used aid granted by a Governmental Entity, in
whatever form, in the nature of Tax incentives or benefits that are not generally available to all similarly situated taxpayers without
specific application or approval, such aid was availed of only in accordance with applicable Laws and in compliance with all
regulatory orders, conditions and impositions. No such aid will have to be unwound, repaid or discontinued as a result of the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other existing circumstance.
3.18 Property, Casualty and Liability Insurance. Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all property, casualty
and liability insurance policies owned or maintained by the Company, copies of which have been made available to the Purchaser. All
such insurance policies are in full force and effect as of the date of this Agreement. All premiums under any such insurance policy have
been paid, and the Company has not received any notice of cancellation or termination in respect of any such policy and is not in
default under any such policy. Except as set forth in Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedule, no material outstanding claims exist
under any insurance policy set forth in Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedule that to the Seller’s Knowledge are reasonably likely to
exhaust the applicable limitation of liability. For the avoidance of doubt, Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedule does not list any
property, casualty and liability insurance policies maintained by the Parent or the Seller for the benefit of the Company as part of the
Shared Services and Assets and all coverage for the Company under such policies maintained by the Parent or the Seller will be
discontinued as of the Closing.
3.19 Benefit Plans.
(a) Section 3.19(a)(1) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all Benefit Plans sponsored, maintained or
contributed to by or on behalf of the Parent or the Company

(collectively, the “Company Benefit Plans”). Section 3.19(a)(2) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a description of each unwritten
Benefit Plan and a list of each Benefit Plan sponsored by the Seller or any ERISA Affiliate other than the Parent or the Company
(collectively, the “Non-Company Benefit Plans”). The Company has made available to the Purchaser true and complete copies of: (i)
each Benefit Plan (including amendments since the most recent restatement); (ii) the annual report (Form 5500) filed with the IRS or
the Department of Labor with respect to each Benefit Plan (if any such report was required) for the three most recent plan years; (iii)
the most recent determination letter issued to, or opinion letter issued with respect to, each Pension Plan that is intended to be qualified
under Section 401(a) of the Code and any pending applications for a determination letter for such plans; (iv) the most recent summary
plan description (and any summary of material modifications since the most recent summary plan description) for each Benefit Plan for
which such a summary plan description is required and any summaries or other material communications distributed to participants for
each Benefit Plan whether or not required to provide a summary plan description; (v) all material personnel, payroll, and employment
manuals and policies covering employees of the Company; (vi) each trust agreement, insurance or annuity contract, recordkeeping or
other third-party agreement and group annuity Contract relating to any Benefit Plan sponsored by the Parent or the Company; (vii) all
notices that were given in the last three years by the Company or any Benefit Plan sponsored by the Company to the IRS, the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation, the Department of Labor, the SEC, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or any other
Governmental Entity relating to a Benefit Plan; and (viii) all notices that were given in the last three years by the IRS, the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation, the Department of Labor, the SEC, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or any other
Governmental Entity to the Company or relating to any Benefit Plan. Neither the Parent nor the Company has agreed or committed to
institute any plan, program, arrangement or agreement for the benefit of current or former employees, directors or independent
contractors, other than the Benefit Plans, or to amend any of the Benefit Plans, except as may be required by applicable Law.
(b) Each Benefit Plan has been operated and administered in all material respects in accordance with its terms and
complies in form and has been operated and administered in all material respects in accordance with applicable Laws, including, but
not limited to, ERISA and the Code. Each Company Benefit Plan that is intended to comply with Section 401(a) of the Code has
received a current, favorable determination letter issued by the IRS or is maintained under a prototype or volume submitter plan and
may rely upon a current, favorable opinion or advisory letter issued by the IRS with respect to such prototype or volume submitter
plan. To the Seller’s Knowledge, no event has occurred with respect to any Company Benefit Plan which will or could reasonably be
expected to give rise to disqualification of such plan, the loss of intended Tax consequences under the Code or any material Tax or
liability or penalty. There is no pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened action in or by any court or Governmental Entity
with respect to any Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits), nor, to the Seller’s Knowledge is there any basis for such an
action, except to the extent it would not reasonably be expected to result in a material liability of the Parent or the Company.
(c) Except as set forth in Section 3.19(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Parent nor the Company provides, is
required to provide or has offered to provide health or

life insurance coverage to any individual, or to the family members of any individual, for any period extending beyond the termination
of the individual's employment by the Parent or the Company except to the extent required by the health care continuation (also known
as “COBRA”) provisions of ERISA and the Code or similar benefit continuation Laws. Each Benefit Plan that is a group health plan,
as such term is defined in Section 5000(b)(1) of the Code, complies in all material respects with Sections 601 et seq. and 701 et seq. of
ERISA and Section 4980B and Subtitle K of the Code.
(d) Neither the Parent nor the Company has ever been required to issue any notice of a plant closing or a mass layoff
under the WARN Act.
(e) Neither the Parent nor the Company has engaged in a transaction in connection with which it could be subject either
to a civil penalty assessed pursuant to Section 502(i) of ERISA or a Tax imposed by Section 4975 of the Code.
(f) Except as set forth in Section 3.19(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, each Benefit Plan maintained by the Parent or the
Company may be unilaterally amended or terminated by the Parent or the Company (with respect to Parent and Company employees),
without material liability or penalty, subject to the vested rights of existing participants under the Benefit Plans (with respect to
employees of the Parent and the Company).
(g) Except as set forth on Section 3.19(g) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Parent nor the Company has any
Benefit Plan or any other agreement or arrangement under which the Parent or the Company has any liability with respect to a
“nonqualified deferred compensation plan” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and applicable Treasury guidance
thereunder (the “409A Plans”) which does not comply in all material respects (in form and operation) with the requirements of Section
409A of the Code and the applicable guidance thereunder. Neither the Parent nor the Company is obligated to gross up or otherwise
reimburse any service provider for any Taxes that may be incurred under Section 409A of the Code.
(h) Except as set forth on Section 3.19(h) of the Disclosure Schedule, all material contributions to, and material
payments from, each Benefit Plan that may have been required to be made in accordance with the terms of such Benefit Plan, and,
where applicable, the laws of the jurisdiction that govern such Benefit Plan, through the date hereof have been made in a timely
manner, except to the extent that any failure relates to a Non-Company Benefit Plan and the failure would not reasonably be expected
to result in a liability of the Parent or the Company. There are no unfunded benefit obligations under any Benefit Plan which have not
been accounted for by reserves, or otherwise fully accrued on the Most Recent Balance Sheet.
(i) There is not now and, to the Seller's Knowledge, there are no existing circumstances that could give rise to, any
requirement for the posting of security with respect to a Benefit Plan or the imposition of any Lien on the assets of the Parent or the
Company under ERISA or the Code.
(j) There does not now exist and, to the Seller's Knowledge, there are no existing circumstances that could result in, any
Controlled Group Liability that would be a

liability of the Company following the Closing. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company has not engaged in any
transaction described in Section 4069 of ERISA or any transaction that constitutes a withdrawal under Section 4201 et seq. of ERISA.
(k) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any Transaction Document or the consummation of any of
the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (either individually or together with the occurrence of any other event) will (i) result in
the payment by the Parent or the Company of any amount or benefit to any “disqualified individual” with respect to the Parent or the
Company (as such term is defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1) that could, individually or in combination with any other
payment, constitute an “excess parachute payment” as defined in Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code and neither the Parent nor the
Company is obligated to gross-up or otherwise reimburse any person for any Taxes that may be incurred under Section 4999 of the
Code or, (ii) except as set forth in Section 3.19(k) of the Disclosure Schedule, (A) result in any payment or benefit becoming due under
any Benefit Plan, (B) increase any compensation or benefits (including severance, deferred compensation and equity benefits)
otherwise payable or provided under any Benefit Plan, or (C) result in the acceleration of the time of payment, vesting or funding of
any such benefits to any extent.
(l) Neither the Parent nor the Company shall have any liability or obligation with respect to any Non-Company Benefit
Plan following the Closing.
3.20 Employee and Labor Matters.
(a) Except as set forth in Section 3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no pending employment charges or
claims (and for the last twelve (12) months there have been no such charges or claims) against the Company or any current or former
employees of the Company before any court, arbitral forum, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any other
Governmental Entity responsible for the prevention of unlawful employment practices nor, to the Seller's Knowledge, does any basis
exist therefor. The Company has not received notice of the intent of any Governmental Entity responsible for the enforcement of labor
or employment Laws to conduct an investigation of the Company and, to the Seller’s Knowledge, no such investigation is in progress.
(b) The Company has complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to employment or retention of
its employees, including Laws governing payment of minimum wages and overtime rates, Laws governing the withholding and
payment of Taxes from compensation of employees and the payment of premiums and/or benefits under applicable worker
compensation, classification of employees or independent contractors under federal or state Law, and other Laws relating to hours of
work, leaves of absence, equal employment opportunity, whistleblowing and occupational health and safety. The Company has
complied in all material respects with all Laws governing the employment of personnel by United States companies and the
employment of non-United States nationals in the United States, including the Immigration and Nationality Act and its implementing
regulations.
(c) There is no labor strike, slowdown, stoppage or lockout actually pending or to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened
against the Company. The Company is not and has

never been a party to any collective bargaining or other similar labor Contracts with respect to any employee of the Company, and to
the Seller’s Knowledge, there is not pending any demand for recognition or any other request or demand from a labor organization for
representative status with respect to any employee of the Company. To the Seller’s Knowledge, there is also no such demand
threatened. No labor union has been certified by the National Labor Relations Board or any other Person as bargaining agent for any
employee of the Company. The Company has not experienced a material work stoppage or other material labor difficulty during the
two-year period ended on the date hereof.
(d) Section 3.20(d)(1) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a true and complete list of the names, positions, rates of base
compensation and incentive compensation (including commissions), status as exempt or nonexempt under the Fair Labor Standards
Act, and accrued and unused paid time off as of February 19, 2019 of all officers, directors, employees and individual consultants of
the Company, as of the date hereof, excluding any officers and directors of the Company who remain employees of the Seller,
showing each such person's name, positions, status (employee, independent contractor or consultant) and annualized remuneration for
the current fiscal year. The officers and directors who will cease to be officers or directors of the Company as of the Effective Time
and will continue as employees of the Seller after the Effective Time are listed in Section 3.20(d)(2) of the Disclosure Schedule (the
“Retained Personnel”), without any compensation information provided. Except as set forth in Section 3.20(d)(1) of the Disclosure
Schedule, the Company has no Contracts or other agreements with any employees of the Company or any policies requiring payment
by the Company to any of its employees in the event he or she is terminated from employment by the Company. Except as set forth in
Section 3.20(d)(1) of the Disclosure Schedule and the Transaction Compensation Payments set forth on Exhibit B attached hereto,
there are no unpaid bonus, retention, deferred compensation or transaction based amounts payable with respect to current or former
employees of the Company. All employees of the Company are employed on an at will basis, which means that their employment can
be terminated at any time, with or without notice, for any reason or no reason at all. No employee of the Company has been granted
the right to continued employment by the Company or any successor. The employees of the Company listed in Section 3.20(d)(1) of
the Disclosure Schedule, excluding the Retained Personnel, comprise all of the employees of the Company necessary and sufficient for
Purchaser and the Company to conduct the Company’s business immediately after the Closing in the same manner as the Company’s
business is currently conducted in all material respects, other than positions that are open and in the process of being filled in the
Ordinary Course of Business.
(e) Section 3.20(e) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a true and complete list of the individuals who are currently
performing services for the Company who are classified as independent contractors whose earnings are reported on a Form 1099 basis,
including the respective compensation of each individual and the date the individual’s service commenced.
(f) The Company is in full compliance with the Worker Readjustment and Notification Act (the “ WARN Act ”) (29
USC §2101) and any applicable state laws or other Legal Requirements regarding redundancies, reductions in force, mass layoffs, and
plant closings, including all obligations to promptly and correctly furnish all notices required to be given

thereunder in connection with any redundancy, reduction in force, mass layoff, or plant closing to affected employees, representatives,
any state dislocated worker unit and local government officials, or any other Governmental Entity. No reduction in the notification
period under the WARN Act is being relied upon by the Company. Schedule 3.20(f) sets forth an accurate, correct and complete list of
all employees terminated (except with cause, by voluntarily departure or by normal retirement), laid off or subjected to a reduction of
more than 50% in hours or work during the two full calendar months and the partial month preceding the date hereof.
(g) The Company is and has been in compliance in all material respects with Executive Order 11246 (EO 11246), as
amended, Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 503), the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of
1974 (VEVRAA), and Executive Order 13706 (Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors). Seller maintains and complies
with affirmative action plans in compliance with E.O. 11246, Section 503, and VEVRAA. To the Knowledge of Seller, the Company
is not currently the subject of any audit, investigation, or enforcement action by any governmental entity in connection with any
Government Contract or related compliance with E.O. 11246, Section 503, or VEVRAA.
(h) The Company is and has been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements pertaining to the Service Contract Act (the “SCA”), including all requirements related to paying Company employees and
independent contractors covered by the SCA, their applicable wage rates, fringe benefits, vacation and holiday pay.
3.21 Environmental Matters.
(a) The Company and the Parent are and have been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Environmental Laws. To the Seller’s Knowledge, no property currently or formerly operated or leased by the Company is or was
contaminated with any Hazardous Material in concentrations or quantities that exceed applicable standards established by any
Governmental Entity or in violation of Environmental Laws as a result of or in connection with the operations or activities of the
Company or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, any other Person. The Company has generated, manufactured, handled, used, processed,
stored, treated, released, refined, discharged, emitted, transported, imported and disposed of all Hazardous Materials in material
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws.
(b) Neither the Company nor the Parent has received any notice of any pending or threatened Legal Proceeding relating
to any liability under any Environmental Law, including, but not limited to, any liability arising from or relating to the presence,
generation, manufacture, production, transportation, importation, use, treatment, processing, handling, storage, discharge, release,
emission or disposal of any Hazardous Material. Neither the Company nor the Parent is subject to any order, decree or injunction of
any Governmental Entity or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, is a party to any indemnity agreement or other Contract with any third party
relating to liability for Hazardous Material under any Environmental Law. Copies of all environmental reports, studies, assessments,
sampling data and other written documentation in the possession of the Company or the Parent relating to the Company's and Parent’s
compliance with Environmental Laws have been made available to the Purchaser.

(c) To the Seller’s Knowledge, any violation of any Environmental Law caused by the prior ownership, possession or
use of any third party of any property currently owned, leased or used by the Company that required remediation pursuant to the order
or directive of any Governmental Entity, has been remediated to the satisfaction of such Governmental Entity.
3.22 Brokers. Except as set forth in Section 3.22 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company, the Seller and the Parent have not
employed or entered into any Contract with any investment banker, broker, finder, consultant or intermediary that would be entitled to
any investment banking, brokerage, finder's or similar fee in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
3.23 Certain Business Practices. Since January 1, 2016, no stockholder, director, officer or employee of the Company nor, to
the Seller’s Knowledge, any agent or Representative on the Company’s behalf, has made, directly or indirectly, with respect to the
business of the Company or any of its business activities, any illegal bribes or kickbacks, illegal political contributions, payments from
corporate funds not recorded on the books and records of the Company, payments from corporate funds for any illegal contribution,
gift or entertainment to government officials (or any employees, agents, Affiliates, Representatives or family members of such officials)
for the purpose of affecting their action or the action of the government they represent, to obtain favorable treatment in securing
business or licenses or to obtain special concessions, or illegal payments from corporate funds to obtain or retain business. Neither the
Company nor any of its officers, directors, stockholders or employees, nor, to the Seller’s Knowledge, any agent or Representative on
the Company’s behalf, has violated any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or any similar domestic or foreign
anticorruption Law.
3.24 Customers and Suppliers.
(a) Section 3.24(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the ten (10) largest customers of the Company by revenue
generated for the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018, in each case determined without regard the TFX Business,
and sets forth opposite the name of each customer the net sales attributable to such customer for such period.
(b) Section 3.24(b) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the suppliers of the Company, but excluding the
subcontractors, that have received payments from the Company in excess of $200,000 during the years ended December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2018, in each case determined without regard to the TFX Business.
(c) Section 3.24(c) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the ten (10) largest subcontractors of the Company, by expense
incurred for the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018, in each case determined without regard to revenue
attributable to the TFX Business.
The Company has received no written notice or to the Seller’s Knowledge, other notice that any of the customers, suppliers or
subcontractors set forth on Section 3.24(a), Section 3.24(b) or

Section 3.24(c) of the Disclosure Schedule has terminated, or intends to terminate, materially reduce or otherwise materially adversely
modify its relationship with the Company.
3.25 Government Contracts.
(a) Section 3.25(a) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a current list of each Current Government Contract for which the final
payment exceeding $250,000 has not been received. The term “Current Government Contracts” means the Government Contracts to
which the Company is a party (identifying any that were not related to the Business), subject to any prohibition on the disclosure of
classified information, for which: (i) performance has not been completed; (ii) final payment has not been received; and (iii) each
multiple-award indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity prime Government Contract for which the ordering period has not expired.
Subject to applicable Law, the Company has made available to Purchaser copies of all Government Contracts listed in Section 3.25(a)
of the Disclosure Schedule that have or are expected to have an annual revenue in excess of $750,000 during the trailing twelve (12)
month period ending on December 31, 2018. Each Current Government Contract is in full force and effect and constitutes a legal,
valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
(b) Section 3.25(b) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a current list of each Government Bid to which the Company
is a party (identifying any that were not related to the Business), subject to any prohibition on the disclosure of classified information,
with an anticipated annual revenue of $750,000. Subject to applicable Law, the Company has made available to Purchaser copies of all
Government Bids listed in Section 3.25(b) of the Disclosure Schedule.
(c) Except as indicated in Section 3.25(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not received written notice that
it is (or since January 1, 2016 has been) nor to Seller’s Knowledge, any of its Affiliates, trustees, directors, officers, managers,
principals, employees or agents are under administrative, civil or criminal investigation, indictment or information by any
Governmental Entity (except as to routine security investigations), and there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of Company,
threatened audit or investigation by any Governmental Entity of any of the Company or Parent with respect to any alleged material
irregularity, misstatement, omission or violation of Law arising under or relating to a Government Contract or Government Bid.
(d) The Company is (and since January 1, 2016 has been) in compliance in all material respects with all terms and
conditions of each of its Government Contracts and Government Bids and all Laws applicable and pertaining to each such
Government Contract and each Government Bid.
(e) Except as disclosed in Section 3.25(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no outstanding material claims by or
against the Company, on the one hand, and a Governmental Entity, prime contractor, subcontractor or vendor, on the other hand,
arising under any Government Contract. The Company has not initiated or received written notice of material disputes between the
Company and a Governmental Entity under any Law or between the

Company and any Governmental Entity, prime contractor, subcontractor or vendor arising under any such Government Contract.
Since January 1, 2016, no termination for default has been issued or has, to the Knowledge of Seller, been threatened in writing or is
expected with respect to any Government Contract.
(f) The Company is not, and none of the Company’s officers, directors or other persons having primary management
or supervisory responsibility, is, debarred, suspended, deemed non-responsible or otherwise excluded from participation in the award
or performance of any Government Contract, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, has any debarment, suspension or exclusion proceeding
been initiated against the Company.
(g) In connection with each Government Contract and Government Bid, (i) the Company has complied, in all material
respects, with all requirements imposed by Government Contract or Law to assert and protect its rights in technical data, computer
software, and other Intellectual Property that are material to the Business; and (ii) since January 1, 2016, none of the Company nor
Parent has received written notice challenging any proprietary markings or rights asserted by the Company in connection with any
technical data, computer software, or other Intellectual Property.
(h) To the extent applicable and required, the Company has, since January 1, 2016, cost accounting systems,
estimating systems, purchasing systems, billing systems and material management systems that are in compliance in all material
respects with Government Contracts and Laws. Since January 1, 2016, no Governmental Entity, prime contractor, or higher tier
subcontractor under any Government Contract has disallowed any costs claimed by the Company in excess of $250,000 in any annual
incurred cost submission under any Government Contract. Since January 1, 2016, to the Knowledge of Seller, there has been no
material claim of defective pricing, mischarging or improper payments on the part of the Company.
(i) The Company possesses all necessary national security clearances for the execution of its obligations under any
active Government Contract and is in compliance, in all material respects, with all facility and personnel security clearance
requirements imposed by Government Contract or Law. All facility clearances maintained by the Company are valid and in full force
and effect and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there is no proposed or threatened termination of any facility security clearance.
(j) There is no (and, to the Seller’s Knowledge, there are no events or omissions that would reasonably be expected to
result in any) (i) claim against the Company by a Governmental Entity or any prime contractor, subcontractor, vendor or other third
party arising under or relating to any Government Contract or Government Bid; (ii) dispute between the Company and a Governmental
Entity or any prime contractor, subcontractor, vendor or other third party arising under or relating to any Government Contract or
Government Bid; (iii) Company or Parent liability under the False Claims Act; (iv) claim for price adjustment; or (v) other request for a
reduction in the price of any Government Contract, including claims based on actual or alleged defective pricing.

(k) Except as disclosed in Section 3.25(k) of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Seller’s Knowledge, the Company is not
performing any activity under any Government Contract, and has no other relationships with any Person, that is an “organizational
conflict of interest” as defined in FAR Subpart 9.5. To the extent that the Company is performing such activities under Government
Contracts, the Company, is complying with any and all conflict of interest policies established by the Company.
(l) Except as disclosed in Section 3.25(l) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not assigned or otherwise
conveyed or transferred, or agreed to assign or otherwise convey or transfer, any Government Contract or any account receivable
relating thereto, to any Person whether as a security interest or otherwise.
(m) The Company is in compliance with the Federal Acquisition Regulation ethical rules and suspension/debarment
regulations (the “FAR Ethics Rules”). The Company has undertaken the appropriate level of review or investigation to determine
whether the Company is required to make any disclosures to any Governmental Entity under the FAR Ethics Rules. There exist no
facts or circumstances that, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both, would reasonably be expected to constitute a
violation of the FAR Ethics Rules. Except as disclosed in Section 3.25(m) of the Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2016, the
Company has not made any disclosure to any Governmental Entity or other customer or any prime contractor or higher-tier
subcontractor pursuant to any Government Contract or Government Bid or with respect to any alleged violation of Law, irregularity,
misstatement or omission arising under or relating to any Government Contract or Government Bid.
(n) The Company is in compliance in all material respects with all Laws applicable to the use by the Company of any
personal property, equipment or fixtures that are loaned, bailed or otherwise furnished to the Company by or on behalf of the United
States Government.
(o) With respect to the Company’s multiple award schedule Government Contracts, the Company since January 1,
2016: (i) has not charged the U.S. Government a price that is inconsistent with, or disruptive of, the Company’s established basis-ofaward price; (ii) has complied in all material respects with the notice and pricing requirements of the Price Reduction Clause, and there
are no facts or circumstances that would reasonably be expected to result in a demand by the U.S. Government for a refund based
upon the Company’s failure to comply with the Price Reductions Clause; and (iii) has complied in all material respects with all
payment requirements of the Industrial Funding Fee and to the Seller’s Knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances that would
reasonably be expected to result in a demand by the U.S. Government for additional payment(s) based upon the Company’s failure to
comply with the Industrial Funding Fee payments.
(p) The Company has complied in all material respects with all data security, cybersecurity, and physical security
systems and procedures required by its Government Contracts. Any data security, cybersecurity or physical security breach related to
any Government Contract has been reported to the necessary Governmental Entity or higher tier contractor, as required.

3.26 Affiliate Transactions. Except as set forth in Section 3.14(a)(v) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no Contracts,
transactions or other business arrangements between the Company or the Parent, on the one hand, and Seller or any Affiliate or
Related Party of Seller, Parent or the Company, on the other hand. None of any such Affiliates or Related Parties has any material
interest in any material property used by the Company or in any provider of products or services to the Company. Except as set forth in
Section 3.26 of the Disclosure Schedule, no amounts are owed by the Company or the Parent, on the one hand, to the Seller or any
Affiliate or Related Party of the Seller, Parent or the Company, on the other hand. The Seller, the Company and TFX have duly
executed and delivered, and consummated the transactions contemplated by, the TFX Contribution Agreement (and the agreements,
instruments and other documents related thereto), true, correct and complete copies of which are attached hereto in Section 3.26 of the
Disclosure Schedule. Such documents attached hereto in Section 3.26 of the Disclosure Schedule have not been amended, modified or
supplemented by the Seller, the Company and TFX.
3.27 No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article III (as
modified by the Disclosure Schedule), neither the Company, Seller, Parent nor any other Person makes any other express or implied
representation or warranty with respect to the Company, the Business, the TFX Business, the Shared Services and Assets, or the
transactions contemplated hereunder or with respect to any other information provided to the Purchaser, and the Company disclaims
any other representations or warranties, whether made by the Company, the Seller the Parent or any of their respective Affiliates or
other Representatives. The Purchaser acknowledges and understands that none of the Shared Services and Assets will be included in
the Company or available following the Closing except to the extent expressly provided for and agreed to pursuant to the Transition
Services Agreement. The Seller shall not be liable to the Purchaser resulting from the exclusion of the Shared Services and Assets from
the Company, except to the extent expressly provided for and agreed to pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER
The Purchaser represents and warrants to the Company, the Parent and the Seller as follows:
4.1 Organization and Standing. The Purchaser: (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the Laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation; (ii) has all requisite corporate power and authority to own its properties, carry on its
business as now being conducted and as contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in
good standing or has active status in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing or operation of its
properties makes such qualification or licensing necessary.
4.2 Power and Authority; Binding Agreement. The Purchaser has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and
deliver this Agreement and the Transaction

Documents to which it is specified to be a party, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and to perform its
obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and delivery by the Purchaser of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents
to which it is specified to be a party and the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, have
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Purchaser, and no other Legal Proceedings on the part of the
Purchaser are necessary to authorize this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby. This Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party have been or will be duly
executed and delivered by the Purchaser and, assuming the due execution and delivery by the other Parties, constitutes a valid and
binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with its terms, except as limited by the
Enforceability Exceptions.
4.3 Noncontravention.
(a) Neither the execution and delivery by the Purchaser of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents to which it is a
specified party, the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such Transaction
Documents nor the performance of the Purchaser’s obligations hereunder or thereunder do or will require any consent, notice, waiver,
filing or other action by any Person under, conflict with, or result in any material violation or breach of, or default (with or without
notice or lapse of time or both) under, or result in, termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to a loss of a material
benefit under, or result in the creation of any Lien (other than immaterial Liens) in or upon any of the properties or assets of the
Purchaser under, or give rise to any increased, additional, accelerated or guaranteed rights or entitlements under, any provision of: (i)
the Constitutive Documents of the Purchaser; (ii) any Indebtedness or Contract to which the Purchaser is a party or bound by or its
properties or assets are bound by or subject to or otherwise under which the Purchaser has rights or benefits; or (iii) any Law,
Judgment or Contract that is material to the operation of Purchaser’s business to which Purchaser is a party or bound.
(b) Other than the required filings (if any required) with the SEC and under the HSR, no consent, approval, order or
authorization of, registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Entity or other Person is required by or with
respect to the Purchaser in connection with the execution and delivery by the Purchaser of this Agreement or the Transaction
Documents to which it is specified to be a party, the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby or the compliance or performance by the Purchaser with the provisions of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to
which it is specified to be a party, except for such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations, filings and
notices, the failure of which to be obtained or made individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to be material to
the Purchaser or impair in any material respect the ability of the Purchaser to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party, or prevent or materially impede or delay the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

4.4 Brokers. The Purchaser has not employed or entered into any Contract with any investment banker, broker, finder,
consultant or intermediary that would be entitled to any investment banking, brokerage, finder's or similar fee in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
4.5 Due Diligence. The Purchaser has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks of its participation in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.
The Purchaser has conducted its own independent review and analysis of the Company and the condition, operations, and prospects of
the Business. The Purchaser acknowledges that it has had access to the properties and operations of the Company and has had the
opportunity to meet with and ask questions of the Company’s management to discuss the business, assets, liabilities, financial
condition, cash flow and operations of the Company. In entering into this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is
specified to be a party, the Purchaser has relied upon its own review and analysis and the specific representations and warranties of the
Parent, the Seller and the Company expressly set forth in Article III, and not on any representations, warranties, statements, omissions
or other information (including in the virtual data room or the management presentation or any other materials provided by or on behalf
of the Company or Seller) by any Person other than those specific representations and warranties expressly set forth in Article III.
None of the Purchaser’s representations and warranties modify the representations and warranties of the Company or limit the right of
the Purchaser to rely thereon.
4.6 Litigation. There is no Legal Proceeding pending or, to the Purchaser’s Knowledge, threatened against the Purchaser or
involving any of its properties or assets that would reasonably be expected to: (i) have a material adverse effect on the ability of the
Purchaser to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Transaction Documents; or (ii) otherwise prevent, hinder or delay the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, that seeks to enjoin or obtain
damages in respect of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents that
questions the validity of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, or any action taken or to be taken by the Purchaser in
connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
4.7 Financing. The Purchaser has or has access to sufficient funds to permit the Purchaser to consummate this Agreement and
the Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and to pay all
related fees and expenses. The Purchaser’s obligations set forth in this Agreement and such Transaction Documents are not contingent
or conditioned upon any Person’s ability to obtain sufficient funds necessary for the payment of the entire Purchase Price in cash by
wire of immediately available funds or for the Purchaser to perform its obligations with respect to the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement or the Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party.
4.8 Investment Representation. The Purchaser is purchasing the Shares for its own account with the present intention of holding
such Shares for investment purposes and not with a

view to or for sale in connection with any public distribution of such Shares in violation of the Securities Act or state securities Laws.
The Purchaser is an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. The Purchaser
acknowledges that the Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act or any state or foreign securities Laws and that the
Shares may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of unless such sale, transfer, offer,
pledge, hypothecation or other disposition is pursuant to the terms of an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and are
registered under any applicable state or foreign securities Laws or pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act
and any applicable state or foreign securities Laws.
ARTICLE V
COVENANTS
5.1 Publicity. Promptly after the execution of this Agreement, the Purchaser and the Seller will each issue a press release
announcing this transaction substantially in forms attached to this Agreement as Exhibit F. Except as may otherwise be required by
Law or securities exchange rules, no public announcement of this transaction shall be made without the express written consent of the
other Parties, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
5.2 Conduct of the Business Pending Closing. From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing Date and the termination of
this Agreement in accordance with Article X of this Agreement, except (A) as set forth on Schedule 5.2, (B) as required by applicable
Law, (C) to the extent otherwise required by this Agreement, (D) the consummation of the TFX Divestiture in accordance with the
TFX Contribution Agreement or the transactions contemplated by the TFX Contribution Agreement, or (E) with the prior written
consent of the Purchaser (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and shall be deemed granted if the Purchaser does
not respond to such request within three (3) Business Days), the Seller, the Parent and the Company (1) shall cause the Company and
the Parent to conduct the Business in all material respects in the Ordinary Course of Business and in accordance with all applicable
Laws, (2) shall, and shall cause the Company and the Parent to use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to, preserve intact,
in all material respects, the present business organization, assets and customer and supplier relationships of the Business, and (3) shall
not, and shall cause the Company and the Parent to not:
(a) transfer, issue, sell, encumber or dispose of any equity interests of the Company, or grant options, warrants, calls or
other rights to purchase or otherwise acquire equity interests or other securities of, or any stock appreciation, phantom stock or other
similar right with respect to, the Company;
(b) redeem, repurchase or otherwise reacquire any equity interests of the Company, or effect any recapitalization,
reclassification, stock split or any other change in the capitalization of the Company, or any dividend or other distribution by the
Company;
(c) liquidate, dissolve, wind-up or reorganize the Company, or adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation,
dissolution or other reorganization with respect to the Company;

(d) amend the Constitutive Documents or other organizational documents of the Company (whether by merger,
consolidation or otherwise);
(e) in the case of the Company (A) make any loan, advance, capital contribution, guaranty or other extension of credit
to, or investment in, any Person, (B) form any new Subsidiary (if such Subsidiary would be a direct or indirect Subsidiary of the
Company), or (C) acquire, by merging or consolidating with, or agreeing to merge or consolidate with, or purchase substantially all of
the assets of, or otherwise acquire, any business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division
thereof;
(f) incur, assume, guarantee or extend any Indebtedness, except for (i) Indebtedness incurred in the Ordinary Course of
Business that will be fully paid or discharged at, or prior to, the Closing; (ii) Indebtedness (included in subclause (iii) of the definition
of Indebtedness); or (iii) Indebtedness (included in subclause (iv) of the definition of Indebtedness) that will be reflected in the
calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital;
(g) in the case of the Company, make any capital expenditures or commitments therefore in excess of $50,000 in any
individual case or in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate;
(h) enter into any material transaction with any current or former director, officer or employee or Affiliate or Related
Party of the Company, the Parent or the Seller (or any relative of any such current or former director, officer or employee) or any
Affiliate of any such current or former director, officer, employee or relative, except in the Ordinary Course of Business and on an
arms' length basis;
(i) make any material change in the lines of business in which the Company participates or is engaged in respect of the
Business;
(j) (A) to the extent affecting the Company, make any material change in any method of accounting or accounting
practice, except as required by concurrent changes in GAAP, or as required by applicable Law, or (B) change the fiscal year of the
Company;
(k) to the extent relating to or affecting the Company Group or the Business, (1) settle or compromise any material Tax
liability, (2) file or amend any Tax Return of the Company Group (other than a Group Return) without prior consultation with the
Purchaser, (3) enter into any agreement with a Governmental Entity with respect to any Tax, (4) surrender any right to claim a Tax
refund, (5) consent to any extension or waiver of the limitations period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment other than with
respect to any Taxes payable in respect of a Group Return or (6) other than as set forth in Section 5.2(k) of the Disclosure Schedule,
make any Tax election which would have any effect on or be binding on the Company Group for a taxable period or portion thereof
ending after the Closing Date;
(l) (A) accelerate or materially change the payment terms of any accounts receivable or notes payable outside of the
Ordinary Course of Business, (B) delay the payment of or materially change the payment terms of any accounts payable or other
Liabilities outside of

the Ordinary Course of Business, or (C) take any action, or omit to take any action outside of the Ordinary Course of Business, in each
case, that would have the effect of causing the working capital position of the Company to be materially different than historical levels
and trends;
(m) revalue any portion of the assets, properties or business of the Company, other than any write down or write off of
the value of any current asset, except as may be required by GAAP consistently applied;
(n) settle any threatened or pending Legal Proceeding against the Company involving payments by the Company after
the Closing Date in excess of $100,000 with respect to each such Legal Proceeding;
(o) assign, transfer, sell, or otherwise dispose of, or permit to lapse, any rights to the use of, any Company Intellectual
Property; or sell or encumber any other material assets of the Company, in each case, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(p) implement any plant closing or layoff of employees of the Company or the Business that could be reasonably
expected to implicate the WARN Act;
(q) (A) hire or terminate, other than terminations for cause, any employee of the Company at the level of vice president
or above, in each case in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) transfer the employment or services of any employee or independent
contractor of the Parent or the Company to an entity other than the Parent or the Company, or (C) transfer the employment or services
of any Person from Seller or any Affiliate of Seller (other than the Parent or the Company) to the Parent or the Company;
(r) other than as required by the terms of any Benefit Plan or as required by applicable Law, (A) establish, adopt, enter
into, amend or terminate any Company Benefit Plan, (B) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, pay or commit to pay any
bonus or any profit sharing or similar payment, other than such payments or commitments as are consistent with past practices, to, or
increase or commit to increase the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, fringe benefits, severance benefits or other compensation
or benefits payable or provided to any current or former employee, director or independent contractor of the Parent or the Company,
other than such increases that are consistent with past practices or (C) fund, or commit to fund (whether by grantor trust or otherwise),
or accelerate the vesting or payment timing of, any compensation or benefit obligation;
(s) (A) license, distribute, or otherwise make available any Company Intellectual Property to any Person, other than
pursuant to non-exclusive licenses granted to customers or end users in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) license any Intellectual
Property from any Person, (C) covenant not to assert Intellectual Property, or (D) enter into a Contract with respect to the development
of any material Intellectual Property or products with a third party, other than in customer Contracts or Contracts with subcontractors;
(t) allow any registration for any item of Registered Intellectual Property of the Company or the confidentiality of any
trade secret of the Company to lapse;

(u) pay, discharge or satisfy any material claims, material Liabilities or material obligations, except the payment,
discharge or satisfaction of claims settled or compromised to the extent permitted by Section 5.2(n), or ordinary course repayments of
Indebtedness, or waive, release, grant or transfer any rights of material value or modify or change in any material respect any material
Contract or Current Government Contract required to be listed on Schedule 3.25(a), in each case, other than in the Ordinary Course of
Business of the Company or if required by a Governmental Entity; or
(v) enter into any agreement or other commitment to do anything prohibited by this Section 5.2;
provided, however, nothing contained in this Section 5.2 (X) shall prohibit any dividends or other distributions of cash (or any cash
sweeps or similar treasury functions to transfer cash) prior to the Effective Time, to the extent in compliance with applicable Law, from
the Company or the Parent to the Seller or (Y) is intended to give the Purchaser, directly or indirectly, rights to control or direct the
Company’s or Parent’s operations prior to the Closing.
5.3 Further Assurances; Cooperation.
(a) Prior to the Closing, the Parties will use their commercially reasonable efforts to give all notices required to be given
and to obtain all material consents, approvals or authorizations of any third parties (including any Governmental Entities) that are
required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(b) Prior to the Closing, the Parties shall cooperate with one another in determining whether any action by or in respect
of, or filing with, any Governmental Entity, is required or reasonably appropriate, or any action, consent, approval or waiver from any
party to any Listed Contract is required or reasonably appropriate, in connection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the applicable Confidentiality Agreement,
in taking such actions or making any such filings, prior to the Closing, the Parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to
furnish information required of any Governmental Entity in connection therewith (subject to confidential treatment in the case of any
information provided by the Purchaser to the extent reasonably requested by the Purchaser) and timely seek to obtain any such actions,
consents, approvals or waivers.
(c) Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, from time to time following the Closing, as and when requested
by any Party, the other Parties shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, all such documents and instruments and
shall take, or cause to be taken, all such further or other actions as such other Party may reasonably request in order to carry out the
intent and accomplish the purposes of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby. Following the Closing, the Parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts and cooperate with
one another in obtaining any consents, approvals or waivers required or appropriate under any Listed Contract or Law and not
obtained on or prior to the Closing Date.

(d) Following the Closing, at the Seller’s cost, Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Company to use commercially
reasonable efforts to provide any support reasonably requested by Seller and to promptly respond to questions or requests for
information submitted by the Seller to the Company or Purchaser, in each case, in connection with the Seller’s preparation of the
Seller’s 2018 incurred cost submission.
(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary (including the other provisions of this Section 5.3), if
any administrative or judicial action or proceeding is instituted (or threatened to be instituted) challenging any transaction contemplated
by this Agreement as violative of the HSR Act or any other applicable antitrust Law, it is expressly understood and agreed that: (i) the
Purchaser shall not have any obligation to litigate or contest any administrative or judicial action or any order, whether temporary,
preliminary or permanent brought by or before an administrative tribunal, court or other similar tribunal or body; (ii) the Purchaser shall
be under no obligation to make proposals, execute or carry out agreements or submit to orders providing for a Divestiture and (iii) the
Parent, the Seller, and the Company may not conduct or agree to conduct a Divestiture without the prior written consent of the
Purchaser. “Divestiture” shall mean (A) the sale, license or other disposition or holding separate (through the establishment of a trust or
otherwise) of any assets or categories of assets of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or the Company, (B) the imposition of any
limitation or restriction on the ability of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates to freely conduct their business or control the Company, or
(C) the holding separate of any of the Company assets or any limitation or regulation on the ability of the Purchaser or any of its
Affiliates to exercise full rights of ownership of the Company.
5.4 Employees and Employee Benefits.
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5.4 and in Schedule 5.4(a), or as required by applicable Law, the
employees of the Company shall cease to be eligible to participate in or accrue further benefits under the Non-Company Benefit Plans
as of the Effective Time (or as of the last day of the month in which the Closing occurs if coverage continues through month end under
the applicable plan or related insurance policy). Following the Closing Date and until such time as the Purchaser in its sole discretion
and in accordance with applicable Law determines otherwise, the employees of the Company shall participate in the Company Benefit
Plans and/or employee benefit plans maintained by the Purchaser or its Affiliates as the Purchaser shall determine in its sole discretion.
During the period from the date hereof until the Closing Date, with reasonable advance written notice to the Company concerning the
timing, detail and location of the meetings, the Purchaser shall have access to, and the right to engage in discussions and conduct
meetings with, the employees of the Company (excluding any employee of the Company who are “temporary” employees engaged on
assignment at a client) regarding the terms of post-Closing employment of such employees, provided that such discussions and
meetings are not reasonably expected to materially interfere with the employees’ work performance for the Company and Seller shall
be entitled to have a representative present at such meetings. On a schedule mutually acceptable to the Seller and the Purchaser, but in
all events not less than 30 days before the anticipated Closing Date, subject to limitations under applicable Law, the Seller shall provide
the Purchaser with access to all required compensation and benefits

information that is reasonably necessary for, or reasonably requested by, the Purchaser to provide medical, dental, vision and any other
applicable health and welfare benefits to the employees of the Company.
(b) Prior to the Closing Date, the Company, the Parent and the Seller shall take all actions necessary so that, as of the
Closing, (i) the Company Deferred Compensation Plans will be terminated with respect to any current or former Company employees
that are participating in the Deferred Compensation Plans to the extent permitted and in accordance with Code Section 409A (with
payment of all affected participant balances under the plans made to participants at, or as soon as practicable after, Closing in
accordance with Code Section 409A), (ii) the Seller or an Affiliate of Seller (other than the Company or Parent) shall assume all
liabilities and obligations of the Parent and the Company under the Company Deferred Compensation Plans (including all obligations
related to the payment of the Accounts (as defined in the Company Deferred Compensation Plans) and any death benefits of all
participants under the Company Deferred Compensation Plans) as and when due pursuant to the terms of the Company Deferred
Compensation Plans and (iii) any Company employees participating under the Company Deferred Compensation Plans shall cease to
participate in the Company Deferred Compensation Plans and, to the extent permitted by Code Section 409A, shall cease to defer any
compensation (as defined in the Company Deferred Compensation Plans) under the Company Deferred Compensation Plans.
(c) The Seller shall retain all liability and responsibility under and in accordance with the Seller’s and the Company’s
Benefit Plans that provide life insurance, health care, dental care, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, disability, flexible
spending accounts or other group welfare benefits for all claims incurred by the employees of the Company (and their dependents and
beneficiaries) on or before the Effective Time (or on or before the last day of the month in which the Closing occurs if coverage
continues through month end under the applicable plan or related insurance policy). The Purchaser or an Affiliate shall have liability
and responsibility under and in accordance with the Purchaser’s or its Affiliate’s Benefit Plans that provide life insurance, health care,
dental care, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, disability, flexible spending accounts or other group welfare benefits for
such claims incurred by the employees of the Company (and their dependents and beneficiaries) after the Effective Time (or after the
last day of the month in which the Closing occurs if coverage continues through month end under the applicable plan or related
insurance policy). For purposes of this Section 5.4(c), a benefit claim shall be deemed to be incurred as follows: (i) health, dental,
vision, employee assistance program and prescription drug benefits (including in respect of any hospital confinement), upon provision
of such services, materials or supplies; and (ii) life, disability, accidental death and dismemberment and business travel accident
insurance benefits, upon the death, cessation of employment or other event giving rise to such benefits.
(d) The Seller and the applicable Benefit Plan that provides group health benefits will retain any obligations under
COBRA with respect to employees of the Company and other qualified beneficiaries (i) who are enrolled in COBRA continuation
coverage under a Benefit Plan as of the Closing Date or (ii) with respect to whom a qualifying event occurred on

or prior to the Closing Date. The Purchaser shall or shall cause its Affiliates to satisfy any obligation under COBRA with respect to
qualifying events occurring for employees of the Company and other qualified beneficiaries after the Closing Date.
(e) The Company and the Seller shall take all actions necessary to (i) transfer the sponsorship of the Company Benefit
Plans listed in Schedule 5.4(e) to TFX effective as of no later than the day immediately preceding the Closing Date; provided,
however, that such transfer of sponsorship may be made contingent upon the occurrence of the Closing, or if there are no employees of
TFX participating in the Company Benefit Plans listed on Schedule 5.4(e), the Company and Seller may instead take actions necessary
to terminate the plans effective no later than the day immediately preceding Closing; provided, however, such plan terminations may be
made contingent upon the occurrence of the Closing; (ii) transfer sponsorship of the Kforce Government Practice Plan (the “Company
401(k) Plan”) to TFX effective as of no later than the day immediately preceding the Closing Date; provided, however, that such
Company 401(k) Plan transfer of sponsorship may be made contingent upon the occurrence of the Closing, and (iii) provide that each
participant who is a Company employee shall become fully vested in any unvested portion of his or her accounts under the Company
401(k) Plan. The Company shall provide the Purchaser, no later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, with evidence
that sponsorship of the Company Benefit Plans listed in Schedule 5.4(e) and the Company 401(k) Plan has been transferred to TFX
(effective no later than immediately prior to the Closing Date and contingent on the Closing) pursuant to resolutions of the Company’s
Board of Directors and those of TFX. The form and substance of such resolutions shall be subject to prior review and comment by the
Purchaser. If sponsorship of the Company 401(k) Plan is transferred as provided herein, then as soon as reasonably practicable
following the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall designate a defined contribution pension plan of the Purchaser (or an Affiliate of the
Purchaser) with a qualified cash or deferred arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Code (a “Purchaser 401(k) Plan”) that will cover
the employees of the Company who continue employment with the Company or an Affiliate (each a “Continuing Employee”) on and
after the Closing Date. The Purchaser shall cause the Purchaser 401(k) Plan to accept the direct rollover of distributions from the
Company 401(k) Plan with respect to any Continuing Employee who elects such a rollover in accordance with the terms of the
Company 401(k) Plan and the Code.
(f) With respect to any employee of the Company who immediately prior to the Closing Date was a participant in a
health or dependent care flexible spending account plan maintained by the Parent, the Company, the Seller or one of its Affiliates
(collectively, the “Seller FSA Plans”): (i) if the Purchaser or one of its Affiliates maintains a health flexible spending account plan (the
“Purchaser FSA Plan”), the Seller and the Purchaser shall, or shall cause their Affiliates to, effect an FSA Transfer of the health
flexible spending account (if any) of the employees of the Company under the Seller FSA Plans to the Purchaser FSA Plan; and (ii) if
the Purchaser or one of its Affiliates maintains a dependent care flexible spending account plan (the “Purchaser DCFSA Plan”), the
Purchaser shall, or shall cause one of its Affiliates to, effect an FSA Transfer of the dependent care flexible spending account (if any)
of the employees of the Company under the Seller FSA Plans to the Purchaser DCFSA Plan.

(g) This Section 5.4 shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each of the Parties to this Agreement, and
nothing in this Section 5.4, express or implied, shall confer upon any other Person any rights or remedies of any nature whatsoever
under or by reason of this Section 5.4. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the terms set forth in this Section 5.4 shall not create
any right in any employee of the Company or any other Person to any continued employment with the Company, the Purchaser or any
of their respective Affiliates or compensation or benefits of any nature or kind whatsoever.
5.5 Name Change. Within three (3) Business Days after the Closing Date, each of the Company and the Parent will use
reasonable efforts to file all documents, and take such other steps, necessary to change its legal name to a name that does not contain
the word “Kforce” or “KGS”. Within thirty (30) days after the Closing Date, each of the Company and the Parent will use reasonable
efforts to file all documents, and take such other steps, necessary to change its legal name in its state foreign qualifications to do
business to such other names that do not contain the word “Kforce” or “KGS”, and, within forty-five (45) days after the Closing Date,
the Company will use reasonable efforts to submit change of name agreements (reflecting names that do not contain the word “Kforce”
or “KGS”) for approval in the case of its Government Contracts under which performance is then active (and use its commercially
reasonable efforts to provide written notice of its legal name changes to the counterparties to its other contracts under which
performance is then active); provided that, for avoidance of doubt, (x) the Company may continue to use the word “Kforce” or “KGS”
in its name (to the extent part of its current or former name) (i) with respect to any Contracts to which it is, or becomes, a party (and in
related documents or correspondence) until the requisite change of name agreements are accepted and counter-signed by the applicable
Governmental Entities or other Persons or otherwise become effective or such Contracts are amended or otherwise modified by the
applicable Governmental Entities or other Persons to reflect its name change, (ii) subject to clause (i) above, in any Government Bid
submitted by it on or before the Closing Date and in any Contracts resulting from the acceptance of such Government Bid, and in any
related documents or correspondence, and (iii) in any documents or correspondence related to its filings to qualify to do business or
other regulatory filings until such qualifications or filings are amended or otherwise modified to reflect its name change. In addition,
following the Closing, none of the Company, Parent or the Purchaser shall use the name “Kforce” or the acronym “KGS” or any
related logo on any medium, including signs, boxes, invoices, promotional materials or packaging; provided, however, that the
Company and the Purchaser may use “(formerly known as Kforce Government Solutions)” for a period of three (3) months after the
Closing and thereafter, to the extent constituting trademark “fair use”, the Company may indicate that it was formerly known by its
former name, provided, however, that “Kforce” “KGS” or any related logo shall not be used in any promotional material, marketing
material, advertising or press releases following the expiration of the period of three (3) months after the Closing. The Seller, on behalf
of itself and its Subsidiaries, acknowledge and agree that, from and after the Closing, the Seller and its Subsidiaries shall not advertise,
promote or describe any products or services using the phrase “Kforce Government Solutions” (or any other Mark in which such
phrase is included).
5.6 Websites.

(a) The Seller shall maintain ownership of www.kforcegov.com and the other domain names set forth on Section
3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedules and the ownership of such websites shall not be transferred as part of this transaction; provided,
however, that as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing and no later than three days following the Closing,
www.kforcegov.com will automatically redirect to a new URL address for the Company, which is to be provided by the Purchaser,
and all content will be removed from www.kforcegov.com. After six (6) months following the Closing, the Seller shall no longer have
any obligation to have www.kforcegov.com automatically redirect to a new URL address for the Company.
(b) Immediately following the Closing, the Purchaser and the Company may establish a website regarding the Business,
provided the website domain name does not include “Kforce” or “KGS.”
(c) As soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing and no later than thirty (30) Business Days following the
Closing, the Seller will remove any references to “KGS” or “Kforce Government Solutions,” as well as information and links related
to the Company or the Business, from www.Kforce.com.
5.7 HSR Filings. Each of the Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to file, as soon as reasonably practicable, all
notices, reports and other documents required to be filed with any Governmental Entity under the HSR Act with respect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and to submit promptly any additional information requested by any such Governmental
Entity. The Purchaser shall be responsible for paying any fees in connection with any filings to be made under the HSR Act.
5.8 TFX Divestiture.
(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Purchaser and the Seller agree that the
Company shall be entitled to undertake the transactions contemplated by the TFX Contribution Agreement that have not already been
undertaken in connection with the consummation of the TFX Contribution Agreement Closing.
(b) From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement in accordance with
Article X, except with the prior written consent of the Purchaser, the Company shall comply with its obligations in the TFX
Contribution Agreement and shall not amend or otherwise modify, or waive any provision of, the TFX Contribution Agreement.
(c) In the event of the sale or other transfer of all or a significant portion of the TFX Business or the TFX Excluded
Assets by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries to one or more acquirors in one or a series of related transactions, the Seller shall obtain,
as a condition to such sale or other transfer, a written undertaking from such acquirors (legally binding on them) to refrain from,
directly or indirectly, asserting or commencing, instituting or causing to be commenced, any claim against the Company, the Purchaser
or any of their Affiliates, or any current or former directors, officers or employees of any of the foregoing, in respect of the

TraumaFX Business or the TFX Excluded Assets, with such undertaking (a true, correct and complete copy of which shall be
delivered by the Seller to the Purchaser promptly following the execution thereof) providing that the Company, the Purchaser, such
Affiliates, and such current or former directors, officers and employees are express third-party beneficiaries of such undertaking and
shall each be entitled to enforce such undertaking against such acquirors (and provided that no such undertaking shall relieve the Seller
of its obligations hereunder).
5.9 Access to Information. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement
in accordance with Article X or the Closing Date, upon reasonable prior notice, the Parent and the Seller shall, and shall cause the
Company to, afford the Purchaser and its authorized Representatives reasonable access during normal business hours to (i) the
personnel of the Company and (ii) books, records or Contracts to the extent relating to the Company; provided, however, that any such
access or furnishing of information shall be conducted at the Purchaser’s expense without reimbursement from the Parent, the Seller,
the Company or their respective Affiliates, under the supervision of the Company’s personnel and in such a manner as to not
unreasonably interfere with the normal operations of the Company. For the avoidance of doubt, any information furnished or made
available by the Parent, the Seller or the Company to the Purchaser pursuant to this Section 5.9 shall be treated as Confidential
Information (as defined in the Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of October 22, 2018, by and between the Seller and the Purchaser
(the “Confidentiality Agreement”)) and shall be treated in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary in this Agreement, the Parent, the Seller and the Company shall not be required to disclose any information to the
Purchaser or its Representatives if such disclosure would (x) jeopardize any attorney-client or other legal privilege, or (y) contravene
any applicable Laws (including applicable privacy or data protection Laws) or binding agreement entered into prior to the date hereof,
and Seller may withhold any information otherwise included in any income Tax Return or related work papers concerning the
Company or the Parent that relates to any other Affiliate of the Seller (other than a predecessor of the Company or Parent).
5.10 Notice; Effect of Notice. From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing Date and the date on which this Agreement
is terminated in accordance with Article X, the Seller shall notify the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall notify the Seller, in writing,
promptly after becoming aware of any event, transaction or circumstance that causes or would reasonably be expected to cause or
constitute a breach in any material respect of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of such notifying party (or any
Affiliate thereof) in this Agreement; provided, however, that no such notice shall have any adverse effect on the ability of the notified
party to assert the failure of any conditions to its obligation to close set forth in Article VI or to assert a breach of any representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement of another Party in this Agreement.
5.11 R&W Policy. The Purchaser will obtain and bind, at the equal cost and expense of the Purchaser and the Seller, the R&W
Policy at or before Closing. The R&W Policy shall provide that the insurer will waive and not pursue any subrogation rights against
the Seller with respect to any Losses covered thereunder, unless such Losses were caused by any fraud by the Seller. The Purchaser
agrees that neither it nor its Affiliates shall consent to any amendment to

the insurer's subrogation rights against the Seller in the R&W Policy, without the written consent of the Seller. Seller will, and will
cause the Company to reasonably cooperate with Purchaser’s efforts to obtain and bind the R&W Policy. Purchaser shall not agree or
consent to any amendment, restatement or other modification or waiver of the R&W Policy or any term thereof in any manner that
would reasonably be expected to materially adversely impact the Seller, except, in each case, with the prior written consent of the
Seller.
5.12 Affiliate Transactions. On or before the Closing Date, the Seller shall cause all Liabilities of the Company and the Parent
to the Seller or any of its Affiliates, including under any Contracts between the Company or the Parent, on the one hand, and one or
more of its Affiliates, on the other hand, to be terminated in full, without any Liability surviving or arising therefrom for the Purchaser,
the Parent, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates following the Closing; provided that the Seller, the Parent and the
Company will not terminate any of the Transaction Documents, any ongoing obligations or Liabilities set forth in the TFX
Contribution Agreement or any Contracts or Liabilities set forth on Schedule 5.12.
5.13 DSS Notification. On and before the Closing Date, the Seller and the Company: (a) shall provide adequate assurances to
the Purchaser that the Company and Parent provided timely pre-signing and pre-Closing notices to the Defense Security Service
(DSS), and any other Governmental Entity responsible for the maintenance of the Company’s security clearances, and (b) shall take
and shall continue to take any and all requisite steps to cause the Company and Parent to retain, as required by the Purchaser, and to
assist the Purchaser (and its officers, directors, employees and agents) in obtaining, the requisite security clearances for the Purchaser to
own and operate the Company (and any successor thereto) and its business as currently conducted without delay or interruption.
5.14 No Solicitation of Competing Transaction. From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing Date and the date on which
this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Article X, neither the Seller, nor the Parent nor the Company shall (and each of them
shall cause their respective Representatives not to) solicit or encourage the initiation or submission of interest, offers, inquiries or
proposals (or consider or entertain any of the foregoing) from any Person (including by way of providing any non-public information
concerning the Company, its business or assets to any Person or otherwise), initiate or participate in any negotiations or discussions, or
enter into, accept or authorize any agreement or agreement in principle, or announce any intention to do any of the foregoing, with
respect to any expression of interest, offer, proposal to acquire, purchase, license, or lease (i) all or a substantial portion of the
Company’s or the Parent’s business or assets, or (ii) the Company’s or the Parent’s capital stock or other securities, in each case
whether by stock purchase, merger, consolidation, combination, reorganization, recapitalization, purchase of assets, tender offer, lease,
license or otherwise (any of the foregoing, a “Competing Transaction”). Each of the Seller, the Parent and the Company shall, and
each of them shall cause their respective Representatives to, immediately discontinue any ongoing discussions or negotiations (other
than any ongoing discussions with Purchaser) relating to a possible Competing Transaction, and shall, to the extent permitted under
any confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement existing as of the date hereof, promptly provide the Purchaser with notice of any
written expression of interest, proposal or offer relating to a

possible Competing Transaction that is received by such Party or any of its Representatives, which notice shall include copies of any
such notice, inquiry or proposal, if in writing. The Seller represents and warrants to the Purchaser that (i) this Section does not and will
not conflict with or violate any agreement, understanding or arrangement, whether written or oral, to which the Seller, the Parent or the
Company, or any of their Affiliates are currently bound, and (ii) no breach or violation of the exclusivity provision of the Letter of
Intent has occurred or is continuing. Purchaser acknowledges that a Competing Transaction does not include the potential divestiture of
TFX and that nothing in this Section 5.14 will limit any right for Seller to negotiate or enter into any agreements with respect to the
potential divestiture of TFX (so long as the Purchaser, the Parent, the Company and their post-Closing Affiliates are fully indemnified
by the Seller with respect thereto).
ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING
6.1 Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Close. The respective obligations of each Party to consummate this Agreement are
subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:
(a) No Law shall exist or be enacted or promulgated by any Governmental Entity which would prohibit the
consummation by such Party of the transactions contemplated hereby;
(b) Such Party shall not be prohibited, by any Judgment, from consummating the transactions contemplated hereby;
(c) Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have been commenced or threatened any Legal Proceeding (i)
involving any material challenge to, or seeking material damages or other material relief in connection with, any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or which may result in a Material Adverse Change, or (ii) that may have the effect of preventing,
materially delaying, making illegal, imposing material limitations or conditions on or otherwise materially interfering with any of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
(d) (i) all applicable waiting periods (and any extensions thereof) under the HSR Act and all other applicable antitrust or
merger control laws or regulations of any Governmental Entity shall have expired or otherwise been terminated, and (ii) no action or
proceeding shall have been instituted, or threatened to be instituted, challenging the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as
violative of any antitrust or merger control Laws or regulations of any Governmental Entity.
6.2 Conditions to the Purchaser's Obligation to Close. The obligation of the Purchaser to consummate this Agreement is also
subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) (i) The representations and warranties of the Parent, the Seller and the Company contained in this Agreement that
are Fundamental Representations (other than the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.17 (Taxes) and Section 3.19
(Benefit Plans) and subclause (iii) of the first sentence of Section 3.1 (Organization and Standing)), without giving effect to any
materiality or Material Adverse Change qualifications therein, shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date hereof and as of the
Closing with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing (other than those representations and warranties that
address matters only as of a particular date or only with respect to a specific period of time, which need only be accurate as of such
date or with respect to such period), and (ii) all other representations and warranties set forth in Article III (including the representations
and warranties set forth in Section 3.17 (Taxes) and Section 3.19 (Benefit Plans) and subclause (iii) of the first sentence of Section 3.1
(Organization and Standing)), (A) that are qualified as to Material Adverse Change or materiality shall be true and correct as of the date
of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except for
representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such date), and (B)
that are not qualified as to Material Adverse Change or materiality shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this
Agreement and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing (except for
representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all material respects as
of such date).
(b) The Parent, the Seller and the Company shall have performed and complied, in all material respects, with all
covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them on or prior to the Closing. The
Purchaser shall have received at the Closing a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by an executive officer of the
Seller, certifying to the fulfillment of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a) and this Section 6.2(b), with respect to the Company;
(c) Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred a Material Adverse Change in the Company; and
(d) The Parent, the Seller or the Company, as applicable, shall have delivered all of the Closing deliveries set forth in
Section 7.2(a) and 7.2(b).
6.3 Conditions to the Seller's Obligation to Close. The obligation of the Seller to consummate this Agreement is also subject to
the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:
(a) (i) The representations and warranties of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement which are Fundamental
Representations, without giving effect to any materiality or Material Adverse Change qualifications therein, shall be true and correct in
all respects as of the date hereof and as of the Closing with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing (other
than those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date or only with respect to a specific period of
time, which need only be accurate as of such date or with respect to such period), and (ii) all other representations and warranties set
forth in Article IV, (A) that are qualified as to Material Adverse Change or materiality shall be

true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of
the Closing (except for representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date, in which case they shall be true and correct as
of such date), and (B) that are not qualified as to Material Adverse Change or materiality shall be true and correct in all material
respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the
Closing (except for representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all
material respects as of such date).
(b) The Purchaser shall have performed and complied, in all material respects, with all covenants and agreements
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing. The Seller shall have received at the
Closing a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by an executive officer of the Purchaser, certifying the fulfillment of
the conditions set forth in Section 6.3(a) and this Section 6.3(b), with respect to the Company;
(c) The Purchaser shall have obtained the R&W Policy, and it shall be in full force and effect; and
(d) The Purchaser shall have delivered all of the Closing deliveries set forth in Section 7.2(c).
ARTICLE VII
CLOSING
7.1 Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the “Closing”) will take place at 12:01 a.m. (eastern time) on
a date that is mutually agreed to by the Parties not to exceed ten (10) Business Days after the satisfaction or waiver in writing of the
conditions set forth in Article VI via an electronic closing in which separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original,
but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument, will first be delivered by electronic mail exchange of signature
pages (the “Closing Date”) and shall be effective as of 12:01 a.m. on the day of the Closing (the “Effective Time”).
7.2 Deliveries. At the Closing:
(a) The Parent, the Seller or the Company will deliver to the Purchaser:
(i) a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by the Secretary or other officer of the Seller, certifying
as follows:
(A) the representations and warranties of the Parent, the Seller and the Company contained in this
Agreement that are Fundamental Representations (other than the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.17 (Taxes) and
Section 3.19 (Benefit Plans) and subclause (iii) of the first sentence of Section 3.1 (Organization and Standing)), without giving effect
to any materiality or Material Adverse Change qualifications therein, are true and correct in all respects as of the date hereof and as of
the Closing (other than those representations

and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date or only with respect to a specific period of time, which are true and
correct as of such date or with respect to such period), and
(B) all other representations and warranties set forth in Article III (including the representations and
warranties set forth in Section 3.17 (Taxes) and Section 3.19 (Benefit Plans) and subclause (iii) of the first sentence of Section 3.1
(Organization and Standing)), (A) that are qualified as to Material Adverse Change or materiality are true and correct as of the date of
this Agreement and as of the Closing Date (other than those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular
date or only with respect to a specific period of time, which are true and correct as of such date or with respect to such period), and (B)
that are not qualified as to Material Adverse Change or materiality are true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this
Agreement and as of the Closing Date (other than those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date
or only with respect to a specific period of time, which are true and correct as of such date or with respect to such period);
provided that such certificate required by this Section 7.2(a)(i) shall include disclosure of any new matter only if it first arose after the
date hereof and only if it is material and required to be disclosed in order for such representations and warranties as of the Closing to be
true and correct as of the Closing (a “New Material Matter”); provided further that (A) the disclosure of such New Material Matter
shall not be effective for purposes of any representation or warranty made as of the date hereof (or as of any earlier date or with respect
to any earlier period) and (B) the disclosure of such New Material Matter shall in no way be effective for purposes of updating,
modifying or supplementing the Disclosure Schedule or for purposes of the conditions to Closing in Article VI;
(ii) a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by the Secretary or other officer of the Seller, certifying
and attaching copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company, authorizing the execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party, and the incumbency of the persons executing
this Agreement and other documents on behalf of the Company, all certified by an executive officer of the Company;
(iii) resignations, effective as of the Closing, of each of the directors of the Parent, the Company and Retained
Personnel;
(iv) evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser that (A) all Closing Debt Amount applicable to the
Company or Parent have been terminated and released as of the Closing (all of which is identified in Schedule 7.2(a)(iv)) and (B) all
Liens applicable to the Company Group securing such Closing Debt Amount have been released; and evidence reasonably satisfactory
to the Purchaser that all other Liens applicable to the Company Group (other than Permitted Liens) have been released;
(v) the Flow of Funds Memorandum executed by the Parent and the Company;

(vi) a duly executed copy of each Transaction Document to which the Seller, the Parent or the Company is a
party; and
(vii) certificates from the states of organization of each of the Parent and the Company, dated no earlier than
thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date, as to the good standing (or similar status) of the Parent and the Company in such
jurisdictions.
(b) The Seller will deliver to the Purchaser:
(i) the certificate required by Section 6.2(b);
(ii) a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by the Secretary or other officer of the Seller, certifying
and attaching copies of the resolutions of the Boards of Directors of the Parent and the Seller, authorizing the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is specified to be a party, and the incumbency of the
persons executing this Agreement and other documents on behalf of the Parent and the Seller, all certified by executive officers of the
Parent and Seller;
(iii) the Flow of Funds Memorandum executed by the Seller;
(iv) the certificates representing the Shares, endorsed in blank or accompanied by duly executed assignment
documents;
(v) all books and records of the Parent and the Company; provided, however, that the Seller may maintain
copies of the books and records and if the Seller is unable to deliver all of the physical books and records immediately upon the
Closing, it shall do so as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing;
(vi) a duly executed copy of each Transaction Document to which it is a party; and
(vii) an affidavit of non-foreign status of the Seller, dated as of the Closing Date in form and substance required
under Section 1445 of the Code and the Regulations thereunder.
(c) The Purchaser will deliver to the Seller:
(i) the certificate required by Section 6.3(b);
(ii) a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by the Secretary or other officer of the Purchaser,
certifying and attaching copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Purchaser, authorizing the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is a party, and the incumbency of the persons executing this
Agreement and other documents on behalf of the Purchaser, all certified by an executive officer of the Purchaser;
(iii) the Flow of Funds Memorandum executed by the Purchaser;

(iv) a duly executed copy of each Transaction Document to which it is a party; and
(v) an amount equal to the Purchase Price, paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance
with the Flow of Funds Memorandum. The Flow of Fund Memorandum shall provide for the Purchaser to pay the Seller at the
Closing an amount equal to (a) the Purchase Price, minus (b) the sum of (1) the amount of Indebtedness to be repaid on the Closing
Date, if any; (2) 50% of the R&W Policy Expenses, (3) the amount of any other unpaid Company Transaction Expenses on the
Closing Date (including any Transaction Compensation Payments); (4) the Working Capital Escrow Deposit and the Indemnity
Escrow Deposit as set forth in Section 7.3 below; and (5) any deficit balance in Cash.
(d) The Purchaser will pay an amount equal to the Escrow Deposit to the Escrow Agent.
(e) The Purchaser will pay an amount equal to the R&W Policy Expenses to the R&W Policy Provider (50% of which
shall be deducted from the Purchase Price).
7.3 Escrow. On the Closing Date, the Purchaser, the Seller and Branch Banking and Trust, N.A. (the “ Escrow Agent”) shall
enter into an Escrow Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (the “Escrow Agreement”). The Purchaser shall withhold
Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) (the “Working Capital Escrow Deposit”), plus Five Hundred Seventy-Five
Thousand Dollars ($575,000) (the “Indemnity Escrow Deposit,” and together with the Working Capital Escrow Deposit, the “Escrow
Deposit”), from the Purchase Price and deposit on the Closing Date such amounts into escrow pursuant to the terms of the Escrow
Agreement. The Working Capital Escrow Deposit shall be deposited into the Working Capital Account under the Escrow Agreement
to secure the payment of any shortfall in the Closing Date Net Working Capital, and the Indemnity Escrow Deposit shall be deposited
into the Indemnity Account under the Escrow Agreement to secure the payment of the Seller’s indemnity obligations pursuant to
Article VIII. The Working Capital Escrow Deposit and the Indemnity Escrow Deposit shall be held and released in accordance with
the terms of the Escrow Agreement.
7.4 Flow of Funds Memorandum. Not later than three (3) days prior to the Closing Date, the Seller and the Purchaser shall
finalize a flow of funds memorandum setting forth the following (including all amounts, payees, wire transfer instructions and
calculations in reasonable detail): (a) the amount of Indebtedness to be repaid on the Closing Date, if any; (b) the amount of unpaid
Company Transaction Expenses on the Closing Date (including any Transaction Compensation Payments); (c) the Working Capital
Escrow Deposit and the Indemnity Escrow Deposit; (d) any deficit balance in Cash; and (e) the net amount of the Purchase Price to be
paid to the Seller (such statement, the “Flow of Funds Memorandum”).

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION
8.1 Survival. The representations and warranties of the Parties contained in this Agreement, and in any certificate, schedule or
document delivered pursuant hereto shall be deemed to have been relied on by the Parties, and shall survive the Closing for a period of
twelve months; provided, however, that the representations and warranties contained in Sections 3.1 (Organization and Standing), 3.2
(Power and Authority; Binding Agreement), 3.5 (Title to Shares), 3.6 (Capitalization), 3.17 (Taxes), 3.19 (Benefit Plans) and 3.22
(Brokers); and 4.1 (Organization and Standing), and 4.2 (Power and Authority; Binding Agreement) (the “ Fundamental
Representations”) shall survive the Closing for the longer of a period of six (6) years or the expiration of the applicable statute of
limitations. All covenants of the Purchaser, the Parent, the Seller and the Company will survive the Closing until fully performed in
accordance with their terms; provided, that the right to make a claim for indemnity pursuant hereto with respect to any breach or nonfulfillment of any pre-Closing covenant shall survive the Closing and terminate and expire twelve (12) months after the Closing Date.
The applicable survival periods described in this Section 8.1 supersede any applicable statute of limitations with respect to any such
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing in this Section 8.1, the limitations on survival set forth
herein shall not apply to claims based on fraud, which shall survive until ninety (90) days after the expiration of the applicable statute
of limitations (and not less than six (6) years). If a party makes any claim for indemnification pursuant to this Agreement on or prior to
the end of the applicable survival period for the representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on which such claim is based as set
forth in this Section 8.1, and to the extent such timely claim is not fully and finally resolved prior to the end of the applicable survival
period, such representation, warranty, covenant or agreement shall survive with respect to such claim until such claim is finally and
fully resolved.
8.2 Indemnification of the Purchaser. From and after the Closing, subject to the provisions of this Article VIII, the Seller shall
indemnify the Purchaser, its Affiliates and each of their respective officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents and
Representatives (each, a “Purchaser Indemnified Party”) against, and hold each Purchaser Indemnified Party harmless from and
against, any and all Losses suffered or incurred by such Purchaser Indemnified Party, arising from, relating to or otherwise in
connection with the following (whether or not involving a Third Party Claim) (collectively, the “Purchaser Indemnifiable Loss”):
(a) any breach of any representation or warranty of the Seller contained in Article III of this Agreement or in any other
agreement, certificate or instrument executed and delivered by the Seller pursuant to this Agreement;
(b) any breach or failure to perform any covenant or agreement of the Seller contained in this Agreement or in any other
agreement or instrument executed and delivered by the Seller pursuant to this Agreement;
(c) Company Taxes;

(d) the Assumed Liabilities (as defined in the TFX Contribution Agreement) and any Liabilities arising from or in
connection with the sale or transfer of the TFX Business or the TFX Contribution Agreement or related to the TFX Divestiture;
(e) any Liabilities arising from or in connection with any and all of the Company’s obligations under or related to the
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 26, 2014, by and among TFX, Employee Leasing Solutions, Inc., the Company and the
other parties named therein, with respect to the deferred payment thereunder or otherwise;
(f) any Indebtedness of the Company or the Parent existing as of the Closing Date to the extent not paid, discharged or
extinguished at or prior to the Closing;
(g) any Indebtedness of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries and any other Liabilities of the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries (other than the Company and the Parent) existing as of the Closing;
(h) any Company Transaction Expenses (including Transaction Compensation Payments and related Taxes) to the
extent not paid at the Closing or otherwise deducted from the Purchase Price for payment by Purchaser following the Closing pursuant
to the Flow of Funds Memorandum;
(i) any claims for indemnification or similar obligation of the Company or Parent by any director, manager, officer,
employee or equity owner of the Parent or the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries with respect to any acts or omissions of
any of such Persons prior to the Closing; or
(j) any matter described on Schedule 8.2.
8.3 Indemnification of the Seller. From and after the Closing, the Purchaser shall indemnify the Seller and each of its Affiliates
and each of their respective officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents and Representatives (each a “Seller Indemnified Party”)
against and hold each Seller Indemnified Party harmless from any and all Losses suffered or incurred by any such Seller Indemnified
Party arising from, relating to or otherwise in connection with:
(a) any breach of any representation or warranty of the Purchaser contained in Article IV of this Agreement or in any
other agreement, certificate or instrument executed and delivered by the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement; or
(b) any breach or failure to perform any covenant or agreement of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement or in any
other agreement or instrument executed and delivered by the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement.
8.4 Indemnification Procedure for Third Party Claims.
(a) In order for an Indemnified Party to be entitled to any indemnification provided for under Section 8.2 or 8.3 in
respect of, arising out of or involving a Third Party Claim, such Indemnified Party must notify the Indemnifying Party in writing of the
Third Party

Claim within twenty (20) days after receipt by such Indemnified Party of notice of the Third Party Claim; provided, however, that
failure to give such notification shall not affect the indemnification provided under Section 8.2 or 8.3, except to the extent the
Indemnifying Party has been actually and materially prejudiced as a result of such failure. Thereafter, the Indemnified Party shall
deliver to the Indemnifying Party, within ten (10) days after the Indemnified Party's receipt thereof, copies of all notices and documents
(including court papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the Third Party Claim; provided, however, that failure to deliver
such notices and documents shall not affect the indemnification provided under Section 8.2 or 8.3, except to the extent the
Indemnifying Party has been actually and materially prejudiced as a result of such failure. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right
upon written notice to the Indemnified Party (the “Defense Notice“), within thirty (30) days after receipt from the Indemnified Party of
notice of such Third Party Claim, to conduct, at its expense, the defense against such Third Party Claim; provided, that,
notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnifying Party will not be entitled to control, and the Indemnified Party will be entitled to have
control over, the defense or settlement of any Third Party Claim (and the cost of such defense and any Losses with respect to such
Third Party Claim shall constitute an amount for which the Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification hereunder) if (1) the Third
Party Claim involves a criminal proceeding, action, indictment, allegation or investigation; (2) if the Third Party Claim seeks injunctive
relief; (3) the Third Party Claim could result in suspension or debarment of the Purchaser or the Company by a Governmental Entity;
(4) Losses are reasonably expected by Purchaser to exceed the unreserved or unclaimed amount remaining in the Escrow Account
under the Escrow Agreement; (5) any insurer, including the insurer under the R&W Policy, requires, as a condition to an Indemnified
Party’s eligibility to recover insurance proceeds on account of such Third Party Claim, that such carrier control the matter; (6)
Purchaser intends to pursue a claim under the R&W Policy; (7) the Third Party Claim involves a customer or material business
relationship of the Purchaser or the Company; (8) the Third Party Claim involves a Tax matter (other than a Tax matter that is an
income Tax matter controlled by Seller pursuant to Article IX); (9) the Third Party Claim is made by a Governmental Entity (other than
a Third Party Claim involving the IRS for a Tax matter as set forth in subsection (8)); (10) the Third Party Claim involves any of the
matters set forth on Schedule 8.2 hereof; (11) the Indemnifying Party is not reasonably, diligently or in good faith conducting a defense
of the Third Party Claim (and the Indemnifying Party is provided written notice thereof by the Purchaser and the Indemnifying Party
does not cure such action or inaction within ten (10) Business Days); or (12) the Indemnified Party has been advised in writing by legal
counsel that a conflict of interest exists which, under applicable principles of legal ethics, would prohibit a single legal counsel from
representing both the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party in such Third Party Claim.
(b) If the Indemnifying Party assumes control of the defense and settlement of a Third Party Claim in accordance with
this Section 8.4, (i) the Indemnifying Party shall acknowledge in writing that the Third Party Claim is within the scope of its
obligations hereunder and shall hold the Indemnified Party harmless from and against the full amount of any Losses resulting therefrom
(subject to the limitations and other terms and conditions of this Agreement), (ii) the Indemnifying Party shall select counsel reasonably
satisfactory to the Indemnified Party, and (iii) the Indemnifying Party will not compromise or settle any such Third Party Claim (other
than, after consultation with Indemnified Party, an action, suit, proceeding,

claim or demand to be settled solely by the payment of money damages and/or the granting of releases, provided that no such
settlement or release shall acknowledge the Indemnified Party’s liability for future acts) without the prior written consent of the
Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
(c) In the event that the Indemnifying Party does not elect to conduct the defense of the subject Third Party Claim, or
ceases to continue the defense in good faith following written notice thereof by the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party does
not cure such action or inaction within ten (10) Business Days, or the Indemnified Party has the right to assume the defense and
settlement of the Third Party Claim hereunder, then the Indemnified Party may conduct the defense and settlement of the subject Third
Party Claim and the Indemnifying Party will cooperate with and make available to the Indemnified Party such assistance and materials
as may be reasonably requested by the Indemnified Party. With respect to any such Third Party Claim, if the Indemnifying Party has
acknowledged that the Third Party Claim is within the scope of its obligations hereunder and shall hold the Indemnified Party harmless
from and against the full amount of any Losses resulting therefrom, subject to the limitations and other terms and conditions of this
Agreement, the Indemnified Party will not compromise or settle such Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the
Indemnifying Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
(d) In the event that the Indemnifying Party conducts the defense and settlement of the subject Third Party Claim, the
Indemnified Party will cooperate with and make available to the Indemnifying Party such assistance and materials as may be
reasonably requested by it, and the Indemnified Party shall have the right, at its expense, to participate in the defense assisted by
counsel of its own choosing; provided that the Indemnified Party shall have the right to compromise and settle the Third Party Claim
only with the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed.
(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be entitled to conduct any Tax Proceeding relating to the Company
Group except as provided by Section 9.
8.5 No Double Recovery; Use of Insurance; Tax Effect.
(a) The amount of any Losses payable under this Article VIII by the Indemnifying Party shall be net of any amounts
actually recovered by the Indemnified Party under applicable insurance policies (including the R&W Policy) or from any other Person
responsible therefor, and shall be increased or reduced by the amount of any Tax benefits actually realized or Tax costs actually
incurred by the Indemnified Party, either by reason of the incurrence of the Loss for which indemnification is payable or receipt of any
indemnification payment under this Agreement, so that the amount payable as indemnification for such Loss fairly reflects that actual
economic loss to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party receives any amounts under applicable insurance policies, or from any
other Person responsible for any Losses, subsequent to an indemnification payment by the Indemnifying Party, then such Indemnified
Party shall promptly reimburse the Indemnifying Party for any payment made or expense incurred by such Indemnifying Party in
connection with providing such indemnification payment up to the amount received by the Indemnified Party, net of any direct, out-ofpocket

expenses reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Party in collecting such amount. The Purchaser Indemnified Parties’ right to
indemnification pursuant to Section 8.2(a) shall be satisfied as follows: (i) first, subject to the Indemnification Deductible if applicable,
during the period for which the Escrow Agreement remains in effect, satisfied by payment from the Indemnity Escrow Deposit
pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (to the extent available); (ii) second, satisfied by payment from the R&W Policy up to an amount
equal to the applicable policy limit under the R&W Policy (to the extent available); and then (iii) third, subject to this Agreement,
including the applicable limitations set forth in this Article VIII, satisfied by payment from the Seller.
(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable
under this Article VIII for any (i) Losses relating to any matter to the extent that (A) the Indemnified Party shall have otherwise been
compensated for such matter pursuant to the Purchase Price adjustment under Section 2.3 hereof; or (B) the Indemnified Party shall
have otherwise been compensated for such matter pursuant to, or the Loss was already paid to the Indemnified Party under, any other
provision of this Agreement, so as to avoid duplication or “double counting” of the same Loss; or (ii) Losses that are for punitive
damages or multiplier of profits, earnings or cash flow including earnings before interest (except to the extent that such damages are
paid to a third party pursuant to a settlement or Judgment in accordance with Section 8.4).
(c) The Indemnified Parties shall take, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to take, all reasonable steps to mitigate
and otherwise minimize their Losses to the maximum extent required by law upon and after becoming aware of any event which
would reasonably be expected to give rise to any Losses; provided, that no Indemnified Party shall be required to initiate or pursue any
claim (i) in any Legal Proceeding or (ii) against any insurer (other than the R&W Policy Provider with respect to the R&W Policy) if
the Indemnified Party believes in good faith that its insurance premiums would materially increase as a direct result of a successful
claim.
8.6 Limitation on Indemnification.
(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the Seller shall not be liable hereunder to the
Purchaser Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 8.2(a) as a result of any breach of any of the representations or warranties of the
Seller as set forth in Article III (other than the Fundamental Representations) until the Losses incurred by the Purchaser Indemnified
Parties as a result of such breaches shall exceed in the aggregate Five Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($575,000) (the
“Indemnification Deductible”), and then only to the extent of such excess; provided that the foregoing limitation in this Section 8.6(a)
shall not apply to claims based on fraud or breaches of Fundamental Representations, with respect to which, in each case, all Losses in
connection therewith shall be recoverable from the first dollar.
(b) The aggregate amount of Losses required to be paid by the Seller pursuant to Section 8.2(a) as a result of any breach
of any of the representations and warranties of the Seller as set forth in Article III, or in any certificate delivered by the Seller pursuant
to Section

8.2(a), shall not exceed in the aggregate $1,150,000 (the “Cap Amount”); provided that no provision herein will prohibit any Purchaser
Indemnified Party from recovery of amounts under the R&W Policy and provided that the foregoing limitation in this Section 8.6(b)
shall not apply to claims based on fraud or breaches of Fundamental Representations, with respect to which, in each case, no Losses
shall count towards the Cap Amount for any purpose under this Agreement. After the payment by the Seller of Losses that equal the
Cap Amount, any and all claims for indemnification under Section 8.2(a) shall be satisfied solely by recovery under the R&W Policy;
provided that Seller shall remain liable for claims based on fraud or breaches of Fundamental Representations.
(c) Regardless of the limitations set forth in Sections 8.6(a) and 8.6(b), the aggregate amount of Losses required to be
paid by the Seller pursuant to Section 8.2(a) shall not exceed the Purchase Price; provided that the foregoing limitation in this Section
8.6(c) shall not apply to claims based on fraud.
(d) For purposes of determining the existence of any breach of any representation or warranty, and for calculating the
amount of any Losses arising from any breach of any representations or warranty, all representations and warranties shall be treated as
if the words “material,” “materially,” “in all material respects,” “Material Adverse Change” or similar words or phrases containing such
words were omitted from such representations and warranties.
(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the representations, warranties, covenants
and agreements contained herein, and any Person’s right to indemnification or other remedies with respect thereto, shall not be affected
or deemed waived by reason of (a) any investigation made by or on behalf of such Person or any of its Affiliates or the directors,
officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel, accountants and other agents of such Person or any of its Affiliates or the
fact that such Person or any of its Affiliates or the directors, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel, accountants
and other agents of such Person or any of its Affiliates knew or should have known at any time that any such representation or
warranty is, was or might be inaccurate, or that any such covenant or agreement was, or may have been breached, in each case, at any
time, whether before or after the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Closing, or (b) such Person’s waiver of any condition
to the Closing or participation in the Closing.
(f) Effective upon the Closing, the Seller waives, and acknowledges and agrees that the Seller shall not have, and shall
not exercise or assert (or attempt to exercise or assert), any right of contribution, right of indemnity or other similar right or remedy
against the Parent or the Company or the Purchaser in connection with any actual or alleged breach by the Parent or the Company of
any representation, warranty or obligation set forth in this Agreement. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document, the Seller, for itself and its Affiliates, hereby irrevocably waives, releases and discharges the Company, the
Parent, the Purchaser and their respective Affiliates, directors, officers and employees from any and all Liabilities and obligations to the
Seller of any kind or nature whatsoever arising on or prior to the Closing Date.

(g) The Purchaser may make claims under this Article VIII for potential or contingent damages or Losses, and from
time to time, the Purchaser may amend any timely filed indemnification claim to reflect additional Losses with respect to such claim.
8.7 Exclusive Remedy. The Parties agree that, from and after the Closing Date, the indemnification or reimbursement
obligations of the Parties set forth in this Article VIII shall constitute the sole and exclusive remedies of the Parties for any Losses
based upon, arising out of or otherwise in respect of breaches of the provisions set forth in this Agreement, the TFX Contribution
Agreement or any certificate executed and delivered by a Party pursuant to this Agreement (except to the extent other remedies are
otherwise expressly provided for in the TFX Contribution Agreement or any such certificate); provided, that the provisions of this
Section 8.7 will not, subject to Sections 8.1, 8.2 and 8.6, prevent or limit any claims or rights under the R&W Policy or a cause of
action or other remedy (a) on account of intentional (and not constructive) fraud, intentional misrepresentation, and criminal matters, (b)
under Section 2.3 to enforce any decision or determination of the Arbitrator, or (c) under Section 11.17 to obtain equitable remedies,
including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of any covenants set forth in this Agreement and to enforce specifically the
terms and provisions hereof. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 8.7 shall not apply to the Escrow Agreement, the Transition
Services Agreement, the TFX Transition Services Agreement or the Noncompetition, Nonsolicitation Agreement.
8.8 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments . Except as otherwise required by applicable Law, the Parties shall treat any
indemnification payment made hereunder as an adjustment to the purchase price for income Tax purposes.
8.9 Attorneys’ Fees. To the extent an Indemnifying Party is required to pay for any Losses under this Article VIII or is subject
to equitable relief, the Parties agree that the Indemnifying Party shall indemnify the Indemnified Party against and hold the Indemnified
Party harmless from and against any and all Losses arising from any action, suit or proceeding commenced by the Indemnified Party
for the purpose of enforcing any of its rights under this Article VIII (including any of the Indemnified Party’s reasonable expenses of
attorneys).
ARTICLE IX
TAX MATTERS
The following provisions shall govern the allocation of responsibility as between the Purchaser and the Seller for certain Tax
matters:
9.1 Taxable Periods Ending on or Before the Closing Date.
(a) The Seller, at its expense, shall properly prepare or cause to be prepared all Tax Returns required to be filed by or
with respect to the Company Group for all taxable periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date (“Seller Prepared Returns”), which
for the avoidance of doubt shall include all income Tax Returns (or separate company pro-forma drafts) with respect to taxable periods
of the Company Group for which a consolidated, unitary or

combined Tax Return of the Seller will include the operations of the Company Group (“Seller Group Returns”). Seller Prepared
Returns shall be reviewed and finalized for filing under the procedures described in Section 9.1(b). The Seller shall cause all Seller
Prepared Returns to be timely filed, and shall timely pay or cause to be paid any Taxes due with respect to all Seller Prepared Returns.
Unless consented to by the Purchaser (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), such Seller Prepared Returns shall include no
elections that were not made in the last similar Tax Return and shall be prepared in a manner consistent with the last previous similar
Tax Return filed by or with respect to the Company Group and in compliance with Law, except for changes in the Law or applicable
regulations.
(b) The Seller shall provide a draft copy of each Seller Prepared Return that is not an income Tax Return to the
Purchaser at least fifteen (15) days prior to the filing deadline of such Tax Return for the Purchaser's review and reasonable comment.
With respect to income Tax Returns, not later sixty (60) days before the filing of any Seller Prepared Returns that are income Tax
Returns, the Seller shall deliver to the Purchaser (i) a pro-forma federal income Tax Return for each of the Company and the Parent
that reflects the separate income of Company Group as it will be determined for purposes of a Seller Group Return that includes the
ending date of such pro-forma Tax Return, along with a copy of all Tax elections proposed to be made by Seller with respect to the
Company Group in such Seller Group Return, and (ii) all draft income Tax Returns for the Company Group that are required to be
filed separately by the Company Group. The Purchaser shall provide the Seller with any comments on Seller Prepared Returns within
ten (10) days after the Purchaser's receipt of each Seller Prepared Return, except that in the case of income Tax Returns, such review
period shall be thirty (30) days.
(c) If no comments are received by the Seller from the Purchaser within the permitted review period, or otherwise upon
resolution of any disagreement regarding such Seller Prepared Return, the Seller will provide a copy of such Tax Return (other than
Seller Group Returns) to the Purchaser suitable for execution by an authorized officer of the Company Group. If the Purchaser
provides comments on a Seller Prepared Return, the Purchaser and the Seller will negotiate in good faith to resolve any disagreement
regarding such Tax Return. If the Purchaser and the Seller are unable to resolve any such disagreements at least ten (10) days before
the due date for filing of the relevant Tax Return, such dispute shall be resolved by the Arbitrator in accordance with the procedures set
forth in Section 2.3(b). If the Arbitrator has not resolved any such dispute before the due date of any Seller Prepared Return subject to
an unresolved disagreement, (i) in the case of a Seller Prepared Return other than a Seller Group Return, the Purchaser shall be entitled
to cause to Company Group to file such Seller Prepared Return reflecting the Purchaser’s position, and shall cause the Company
Group file an amendment to such Tax Return if the Arbitrator determines that such amendment is appropriate, and (ii) in the case of a
Seller Group Return that is an income Tax Return, the Seller shall be entitled to file such Seller Group Return reflecting the Seller’s
position and shall file an amendment to such Tax Return if the Arbitrator determines that such amendment is appropriate. Not later than
five (5) days prior to the due date for payment of Taxes with respect to the taxable period covered by each Seller Prepared Return other
than a Seller Group Return, the Seller shall pay to the Purchaser the amount of any Taxes required to be paid by the Company Group
in connection with such Tax Return (as shown by such Tax Return or, if such payment is due before

such Tax Return is prepared and agreed between the Parties, as reasonably estimated by the Purchaser to be due). A refund of Tax
paid in connection with a Seller Prepared Return shall be paid to Seller as provided in Section 9.4. The Seller and the Purchaser shall
reasonably and in good faith cooperate regarding the contents and filing of all Seller Prepared Tax Returns. Where the filing of any
such Tax Returns will be extended, if the Seller or its Tax Return preparer is unable to execute and file an extension, or if any Taxes
are due with such extension, the Seller will provide a completed extension request to the Purchaser at least five (5) days prior to the
filing deadline for such request and will pay to the Purchaser any amount reasonably estimated to be due with such request at the same
time.
9.2 Tax Periods Beginning Before and Ending After the Closing Date; Straddle Period Taxes . The Purchaser shall properly
prepare or cause to be prepared and file or cause to be filed any Tax Returns of the Company Group for taxable periods that begin on
or before the Closing Date and end after the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period,” and a Tax Return for such period a “Straddle Period
Return”). The Purchaser will provide a copy to the Seller at least fifteen (15) days prior to filing of each Straddle Period Return, along
with a statement of the portion of the Tax shown as due on such Tax Return that is a Company Tax required to be indemnified by
Seller pursuant to Section 8.2. The Seller shall provide the Purchaser with any comments on all such Tax Returns within ten (10) days
after the Seller's receipt of the same; provided that if no comments are received by the Purchaser from the Seller within this timeframe,
the Seller agrees that the Purchaser may assume that the Seller has no comments. Such Tax Returns shall be prepared on a basis that is
consistent with the last previous similar Tax Return and in compliance with Law, except for changes in the Law or applicable
regulations. The Seller and the Purchaser shall reasonably and in good faith cooperate regarding the contents and filing of all Straddle
Period Returns. Not later than five (5) days prior to the due date for payment of Taxes with respect to any Tax Return for a Straddle
Period, the Seller shall pay to the Purchaser the amount of any Company Taxes with respect to such Tax Return. A refund of Tax paid
in connection with a Straddle Period Return that is attributable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall be
paid to Seller as provided in Section 9.4.
9.3 Straddle Period Taxes. The Parties agree that taxable periods of the Company Group shall be treated as ending as of the
close of the Closing Date to the extent permitted by applicable Law. The Parties acknowledge that for federal income Tax purposes,
the taxable year of the Company Group shall close at the end of the Closing Date pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.150276(b)(1)(ii)(A)(1), and thereafter the Company Group shall be a member of the federal income tax consolidated group (within the
meaning if Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-1(h)) of which the Purchaser is a member. For purposes of preparing the federal
income Tax Returns of the Company Group for its taxable year ending on the Closing Date and the first taxable year ending thereafter,
the Parties agree that no ratable allocations shall be made pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-76(b)(2), unless consented
to by both the Seller and the Purchaser. In the case of Taxes that are payable with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of any
such Taxes that is attributable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall be:

(a) in the case of Taxes that are either (i) based upon or related to income or receipts, or (ii) imposed in connection with
any sale or other transfer or assignment of property (real or personal, tangible or intangible) or other specifically identifiable payment or
event, deemed equal to the amount that would be payable if the Tax period of the Seller ended with (and included) the Closing Date;
provided that exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including depreciation and amortization
deductions), other than with respect to property placed in service after the Closing, shall be allocated between the period ending on and
including the Closing Date and the period beginning after the Closing Date in proportion to the number of days in each period; and
(b) in the case of Taxes that are imposed on a periodic basis with respect to the assets or capital of the Seller and other
Taxes not reasonably allocable to specific income, receipts, transfers or other payments or events described in Section 9.3(a)(i), deemed
to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period (or, in the case of such Taxes determined on an arrears basis, the amount
of such Taxes for the immediately preceding period), multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in
the portion of the period ending on and including the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the
entire period.
9.4 Tax Refunds. If any determination of Tax liability of the Company Group by a Taxing Authority results in a refund or
credit of an overpayment of any Company Taxes (other than as a result of a carryback of a Tax attribute from a taxable period (or a
portion of a Straddle Period) beginning after the Closing Date), which Company Taxes either (a) were paid by any the Company
Group or the Seller before the Closing Date and such overpayment was not included as an asset (or was an offset to Tax liabilities that
did not reduce liabilities) in computing the Closing Date Net Working Capital or (b) were previously borne by the Seller pursuant to an
indemnification obligation under this Agreement, the Purchaser shall pay to the Seller an amount equal to such Tax overpayment and
interest received thereon minus any Tax payable by the Purchaser or its Affiliates with respect to the receipt or crediting or such Tax
overpayment or interest thereon, and all costs reasonably incurred by the Purchaser and its Affiliates in obtaining a refund or credit of
such overpayment.
9.5 Cooperation on Tax Matters.
(a) The Purchaser, the Company, the Parent and the Seller shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably
requested by the other Party, in connection with the filing of Tax Returns pursuant to this Article IX and any audit, litigation or other
Legal Proceeding with respect to Taxes of the Company Group. Such cooperation shall include the retention and (upon the other
Party's request) the provision of records and information which are reasonably relevant to any such audit, litigation or Legal
Proceeding and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any
material provided hereunder. The Purchaser, the Company, the Parent and the Seller agrees to retain all books and records with respect
to Tax matters pertinent to the Company Group relating to any taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until the expiration of
the statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by the Purchaser or the Seller, any extensions thereof) for the respective

taxable periods, to abide by all record retention obligations imposed by any Governmental Entity with respect to such records, and to
give the other Parties hereto reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such books and records and, if
another Party so requests, allow such Party to take possession of or make copies of such books and records.
(b) Each Party shall cooperate with any requesting Party to obtain any certificate or other document from any
Governmental Entity or any other Person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any Tax that could be imposed on the
Purchaser or the Seller or their Affiliates (including, but not limited to, with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby); provided
that such cooperation shall not cause the requested party to incur any material additional Tax liabilities or other adverse consequences. .
(c) The Purchaser, the Company, the Parent and the Seller further agree, upon request, to provide the other Party with
all information that any Party is required to report pursuant to Section 6043A of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
9.6 Audits.
(a) If any Party or any Affiliate of a Party receives any notice of a pending or threatened Tax audit, assessment, or
adjustment or other Legal Proceeding relating to Tax Returns or Tax liabilities of the Company Group for a taxable period beginning
before the Closing Date (a “Tax Proceeding”), such Party shall promptly notify the other Parties of such Tax Proceeding within fifteen
(15) Business Days after its receipt of such notice provided, however, that failure to deliver such notices and documents shall not affect
the indemnification provided under Section 8.2 or 8.3, except to the extent the Party entitled to such notice been actually and materially
prejudiced as a result of such failure. The Parties agree to consult with and to keep the other Parties hereto informed regarding the
conduct and status of any Tax Proceeding to the extent that such Tax Proceeding could affect a liability of such other Parties (including
indemnity obligations under this Agreement).
(b) The Purchaser shall have the right to conduct and control all Tax Proceedings relating to the Company Group
except for Tax Proceedings relating to (i) any Seller Group Return (a “Seller Consolidated Tax Proceeding”) or (ii) any separate
income Tax Return of the Company Group for a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date (a “Company Income Tax
Proceeding”, and collectively with a Seller Consolidated Tax Proceeding, a “Seller Tax Proceeding”). The Seller shall conduct and
control all Seller Consolidated Tax Proceedings and may elect to conduct any Company Income Tax Proceeding, pursuant to the
provisions of Section 8.4. The Seller shall keep the Purchaser informed of all matters arising in any Seller Tax Proceeding conducted
by the Seller that relates to the Company Group or the Business and may reasonably affect any Purchaser Indemnified Party (without
regard to whether such effect would give rise to indemnification liability under Section 8.2), and shall consult with the Purchaser
regarding the conduct of such Seller Tax Proceeding to the extent relevant to the Tax attributes or Tax obligations of the Company
Group.
(c) The Purchaser shall have the right, at its own expense, to participate through counsel of its choice in any Company
Income Tax Proceeding being conducted by the

Seller and shall be entitled to control the disposition of any issue involved in any such Tax Proceeding that does not affect a potential
Tax liability of the Seller (including indemnity liability under Section 8.2). The Seller shall have the right at its own expense to
participate through counsel of its choice in any Tax Proceeding relating to a Straddle Period being conducted by the Purchaser.
(d) Neither the Seller nor the Purchaser shall agree to any settlement or concession with respect to any Tax Proceeding
if such settlement or concession would reasonably affect any Tax liability of the other Party or its Affiliates.
(e) Except as provided otherwise in this Section 9.6, the provisions of Section 8.4 shall govern the manner in which Tax
Proceedings are conducted or resolved.
9.7 Certain Taxes. Each Party shall be responsible for the payment of any transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration
and other Taxes incurred by it in connection with the sale of the Shares contemplated by this Agreement.
9.8 Tax Sharing Agreements. All Tax Sharing Agreements involving the Company Group shall be terminated as of the Closing
Date and, after the Closing Date, the Company Group shall not be bound thereby or have any liability thereunder.
9.9 Amendments. The Purchaser, Parent and the Company Group shall not amend any Tax Returns for the Company Group
for any taxable periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date without the Seller’s prior written consent, not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed.
9.10 Section 338 Election. Seller shall not be required to join in any election under Code section 338. If Purchaser elects any
such election with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, all costs of
such election, including any Tax liability incurred by the Parent or the Company, shall be at the expense of Purchaser, and Purchaser
shall indemnify Seller for any Loss incurred by Seller as a result of such an election.
ARTICLE X
TERMINATION
10.1 Termination of Agreement. The Parties may terminate this Agreement as provided below:
(a) Either the Purchaser or the Seller may terminate this Agreement if the Closing has not occurred on or before the
sixtieth (60th) day after the date hereof, provided that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(a) shall not be
available to any Party whose breach of, or failure to perform any obligation under, this Agreement has been the cause of or resulted in
the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date;

(b) The Purchaser and the Parent, the Seller and the Company may terminate this Agreement by mutual written consent
at any time prior to the Closing;
(c) The Purchaser may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Seller if the Closing does not occur due
to the failure of any condition precedent under Sections 6.1 or 6.2 to be satisfied, provided that the right to terminate this Agreement
under this Section 10.1(c) shall not be available to the Purchaser if the Purchaser's breach of, or failure to perform any obligation under,
this Agreement has been the cause of or resulted in the failure of any condition precedent under Sections 6.1 or 6.2 to be satisfied;
(d) The Parent, the Seller or the Company may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Purchaser if the
Closing does not occur due to the failure of any condition precedent under Sections 6.1 or 6.3 to be satisfied, provided that the right to
terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(d) shall not be available to the Parent, the Seller or the Company if the breach of, or
failure to perform any obligation under, this Agreement by the Parent, the Seller or the Company has been the cause of or resulted in
the failure of any condition precedent under Sections 6.1 or 6.3 to be satisfied by any Party;
(e) Either the Purchaser or the Seller may terminate this Agreement if any court, judicial authority or Governmental
Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, promulgated, enforced or entered any injunction, order, decree or ruling, taken any
other action or failed to take any other action which, in any such case, has become final and non-appealable and has the effect of
making the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal, or otherwise preventing or prohibiting
consummation of such transactions; provided, however, that the provisions of this Section 10.1(e) shall not be available to any Party
unless such Party shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to oppose any such action or to have such action vacated or made
inapplicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or
(f) The Purchaser may terminate this Agreement if a Material Adverse Change has occurred.
10.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.1, (i) all obligations under this
Agreement shall terminate and shall be of no further force or effect and there shall be no further liability on the part of the Purchaser,
the Parent, the Seller or the Company to one another; provided, however, that (i) the rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in this
Section 10.2 and Sections 5.1 (Publicity), Section 5.9 (Access to Information), and Article XI (Miscellaneous) shall survive such
termination and (ii) no termination of this Agreement shall release, or be construed as releasing, any Party from any liability to any
other Party which may have arisen under this Agreement prior to termination.
ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS
11.1 Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement, including the Recitals, the Disclosure Schedule and the Exhibits,
together with the Transaction Documents and the

Confidentiality Agreement, contains the entire agreement among Parties with respect to the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and supersede all prior discussions, understandings, agreements and representations, and shall not be modified or affected
by any offer, proposal, statement or representation, oral or written, made by or for any Party in connection with the negotiation of the
terms hereof. The Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate in full upon the Closing, with no rights or obligations surviving or arising
therefrom. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by subsequent instruments signed by the Parties hereto.
11.2 Section Headings; Interpretation; Disclosure Schedules. Reference in this Agreement to a Section, Article, or Schedule,
unless otherwise indicated, shall constitute references to a Section or an Article of this Agreement or a Section of the Disclosure
Schedule, as the case may be. The section headings and article titles contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only
and do not form a part hereof and shall not affect in any way the meaning or the interpretation of this Agreement. Wherever the words
“include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without
limitation.” The words “herein,” “hereinafter,” and “hereunder,” and words of similar import used in this Agreement shall refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The singular of a term shall also include the plural of that
term and the plural shall also include the singular and the masculine shall include the feminine, unless the context clearly indicates
otherwise. The schedule numbers in the Disclosure Schedule correspond to the section numbers in this Agreement; provided, however,
that any information disclosed in one schedule of the Disclosure Schedule constitutes disclosure for purposes of all other schedules of
the Disclosure Schedule where cross-reference of scheduled items is included or where such applicability is readily apparent on the
face of the Disclosure Schedule (and not from reading any underlying agreement or other document).
11.3 Notices. Any notice hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if personally delivered to the other Party or if
delivered by confirmed facsimile or by e-mail or one (1) Business Day after being sent to the recipient by reputable overnight courier
service (charges prepaid), addressed to the Parties as follows:
To the Company or Parent
(prior to Closing): [***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
To the Seller: [***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
With copies to: [***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
To the Purchaser: [***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
With copies to: [***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
or to such other address as any Party notifies the other Parties of in accordance herewith.
11.4 No Presumption Against Drafter. Each of the Parties acknowledges that it has been represented by independent counsel of
its choice throughout all negotiations that have preceded the execution of this Agreement and that it has executed the same with
consent and upon the advice of said independent counsel. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this
Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties,
and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise, or rule of strict construction applied, favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of
the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Accordingly, any rule of law or any legal decision that would require
interpretation of any ambiguities in this Agreement against the Party that drafted it is of no application and is hereby expressly waived
by the Parties hereto.
11.5 Nonassignability. This Agreement shall not be assigned, by operation of law or otherwise, except that the rights and
obligations of the Purchaser hereunder may be assigned to any Affiliate of the Purchaser (except that no such assignment shall relieve
the Purchaser of its obligations hereunder). Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the
benefit of and be enforceable by the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.
11.6 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except for the Purchaser Indemnified Parties as expressly provided in this Agreement, this
Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties and their permitted successors and assigns and nothing herein expressed or implied shall
give or be construed to give to any Person, other than the Parties and such successors and assigns, any legal or equitable rights
hereunder.
11.7 Governing Law. ALL QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE CONSTRUCTION, VALIDITY AND
INTERPRETATION OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS SHALL BE GOVERNED BY
AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF
LAWS PRINCIPLES OF SUCH STATE.
11.8 Jurisdiction and Venue . EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 2.3(b) OF THIS AGREEMENT, ALL ACTIONS
OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND EACH OF THE TRANSACTION
DOCUMENTS AND OTHER ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS SHALL BE BROUGHT IN, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS WITH RESPECT THERETO TO THE EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF, THE COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE OR THE FEDERAL COURTS OF THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA SITTING IN THE STATE OF DELAWARE, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT THEREFROM.
EACH OF THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT
PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE
IN ANY SUCH COURT OF ANY SUIT OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR
THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS. EACH OF THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES,
TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT FORUM TO THE
MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT. ANY PARTY SEEKING RELIEF
UNDER SECTION 10 OF THIS AGREEMENT MUST FIRST PROVIDE REASONABLE NOTICE TO THE OTHER
PARTIES. EACH PARTY AGREES THAT SERVICE OF SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT OR ANY OTHER PROCESS
THAT MIGHT BE SERVED IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE MADE ON SUCH PARTY BY SENDING OR
DELIVERING A COPY OF THE PROCESS TO THE PARTY TO BE SERVED AT THE ADDRESS OF THE PARTY AND
IN THE MANNER PROVIDED FOR THE GIVING OF NOTICES IN SECTION 11.3. NOTHING IN THIS SECTION,
HOWEVER, SHALL AFFECT THE RIGHT OF ANY PARTY TO SERVE LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER
PERMITTED BY LAW. EACH PARTY AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING SO
BROUGHT SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER
MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW.
11.9 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW THAT CANNOT
BE WAIVED, EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT
(WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE), ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY FORUM IN
RESPECT OF ANY ISSUE, CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING IN WHOLE OR IN PART
UNDER, RELATED TO, BASED ON OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTION
DOCUMENTS OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING AND
WHETHER SOUNDING IN TORT OR CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE. ANY PARTY HERETO MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL
COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION 11.9 WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE
CONSENT OF EACH SUCH PARTY TO THE WAIVER OF ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

11.10 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement shall, to any extent, be held by a court of competent jurisdiction
to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such term or provision to Persons or
circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and this Agreement
shall be deemed severable and shall be enforced otherwise to the full extent permitted by law; provided, however, that such
enforcement does not deprive any Party hereto of the benefit of the bargain.
11.11 Fees and Expenses. Except as set forth in Section 2.3 or as provided in Article VIII, including Section 8.2(j), (a) the
Seller will bear its, the Parent’s and the Company’s costs and expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred in connection with
this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (b) the Purchaser will bear its own costs and expenses
(including legal fees and expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
11.12 Cooperation. The Parties agree to use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with requests from
the other Parties in connection with this Agreement and otherwise.
11.13 Confidentiality; Maintenance of Books and Records.
(a) From and after the Closing, the Seller (i) shall treat and hold as confidential all information concerning this
Agreement, the Parent, the Company and the Business that is not already generally available to the public (the “Purchaser Confidential
Information”), and (ii) shall not disclose, transfer, transmit or use any of the Purchaser Confidential Information, except to the extent:
(A) compelled to disclosure by judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of Law, (B) previously known by the Person
receiving such Purchaser Confidential Information, or (C) in the public domain through no fault of the receiving Person. The Seller
hereby acknowledges that after the Closing such Purchaser Confidential Information will constitute proprietary and trade secret
information of Purchaser. In the event the transactions contemplated hereby are not consummated, the Seller shall, and shall cause its
Affiliates and Representatives to promptly deliver to Purchaser all copies of the Purchaser Confidential Information and destroy all
notes, memoranda, summaries, analyses, compilations and other writings related thereto or based thereon.
(b) From and after the Closing, the Purchaser (i) shall treat and hold as confidential all information concerning this
Agreement, the Seller and the other businesses of the Seller (not related to the Parent, the Company or the Business) that is not already
generally available to the public (the “Seller Confidential Information”), and (ii) shall not disclose, transfer, transmit or use any of the
Seller Confidential Information, except to the extent: (A) compelled to disclosure by judicial or administrative process or by other
requirements of Law, (B) previously known by the Person receiving such Seller Confidential Information, or (C) in the public domain
through no fault of the receiving Person.
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained herein shall prohibit a Party hereto from making any disclosure
which such Party reasonably believes is required by or

advisable according to applicable Laws, regulations or stock market rules after using reasonable efforts to give notice to the other
Parties hereto.
(d) For a minimum period of seven (7) years following the Closing or longer if required by Law: (i) the Purchaser shall
retain the Company's records, as they exist as of the Closing and (ii) upon the Seller’s reasonable request, and subject to applicable law
and at the Seller’s expense, the Purchaser shall provide to the Seller, or make available to the Seller for viewing and copying, records
and information which are reasonably relevant to any Legal Proceeding and make employees available on a mutually convenient basis
to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Before the expiration of this seven (7) year
period, the Seller shall have the right to require the Company to retain certain specifically identified records, at the Seller’s expense.
(e) For a minimum period of seven (7) years following the Closing or longer if required by Law: (i) the Seller shall
retain any records related to the Company, as they exist as of the Closing and (ii) upon the Purchaser’s reasonable request and at the
Purchaser’s expense, and subject to applicable law, the Seller shall provide to the Purchaser, or make available to the Purchaser for
viewing and copying, records and information which are reasonably relevant to any Legal Proceeding and make employees available
on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Before the
expiration of this seven (7) year period, the Purchaser shall have the right to require the Seller to retain certain specifically identified
records, at the Purchaser’s expense.
(f) Notwithstanding the foregoing in this Section 11.13, (i) the covenants contained in this Section 11.13 shall apply to
paper records and the Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to apply such covenants to records maintained solely in
electronic format, (ii) nothing herein shall require any party to disclose information (A) if such disclosure would jeopardize attorneyclient or other legal privilege or contravene applicable law or (B) in the event such information relates to any matter which is the
subject of a dispute or Legal Proceeding involving the Parties, in which case the applicable rules of discovery shall apply, (iii) records
required to be maintained pursuant to this Section may be destroyed in accordance with the regular document-retention policies of the
Purchaser or the Seller, as the case may be, if such policies conflict with this Agreement, and (iv) records required to be maintained
pursuant to this Agreement may be destroyed other than pursuant to the regular document-retention policies of the Purchaser or the
Seller, as the case may be, provided that the Party proposing to destroy such records shall first give written notice to the other Party of
its intent to destroy such records, specifying in reasonable detail the contents of the records to be destroyed. The Party receiving such
notice shall thereupon have 30 days following such notice to object and to agree in writing to take possession of the records proposed
for destruction. Upon receipt of such objection/agreement, the Party proposing to destroy the records in question shall transfer the
records to the objecting Party, who shall be responsible for payment of all reasonable shipping and other expenses in connection
therewith.
11.14 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts each of which shall be deemed to constitute
an original and shall become effective when one or more

counterparts have been signed by each Party hereto and delivered to the other Parties. This Agreement, any and all agreements and
instruments executed and delivered in accordance herewith, along with any amendments hereto or thereto, to the extent signed and
delivered by means of a facsimile machine, e-mail, DocuSign or other means of electronic transmission, shall be treated in all manner
and respects and for all purposes as an original signature, agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same binding
legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person.
11.15 Disclosure Generally. The Disclosure Schedule attached hereto are incorporated herein and expressly made a part of this
Agreement as though completely set forth herein. All references to this Agreement herein or in any of the Disclosure Schedules shall
be deemed to refer to this entire Agreement, including all Disclosure Schedules.
11.16 Acknowledgment by the Purchaser. In connection with the Purchaser’s investigation of the Company and Parent, the
Purchaser or the Purchaser’s Representatives have received from or on behalf of the Company certain projections, including projected
statements of operating revenues and income from operations of the Company for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018 and for
subsequent fiscal years and certain business plan information for such fiscal year and succeeding fiscal years. The Purchaser
acknowledges that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections and other forecasts and plans, that
the Purchaser is familiar with such uncertainties, that the Purchaser is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the
adequacy and accuracy of all estimates, projections and other forecasts and plans so furnished to it (to the extent provided in good
faith). Accordingly, neither the Parent, the Seller nor the Company makes any representations or warranties whatsoever with respect to
such estimates, projections and other forecasts and plans (including the accuracy or veracity of purported factual data contained
therein).
11.17 Specific Performance. The Parties agree that if any provision of this Agreement is not performed in accordance with its
terms or is otherwise breached, irreparable harm would occur, no adequate remedy at law would exist, and damages would be difficult
to determine. Accordingly, it is agreed that the Party or Parties not in breach shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent
breaches of this Agreement, and to the remedy of specific performance of the terms and conditions hereof, in addition to any other
remedies that may be available, at law or in equity, by reason of such breach. All rights and remedies of the Parties under this
Agreement shall be cumulative and the exercise of one or more rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise of any other right or
remedy available under this Agreement or applicable Law.
[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be signed by their respective duly authorized
representatives as of the date first written above.
MANTECH INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
By: /s/ Michael R. Putnam
Name: Michael R. Putnam
Title: Senior Vice President, Corporate & Regulatory Affairs
KFORCE GOVERNMENT SOLUTIONS, INC.
By: /s/ Jeffrey Hackman
Name: Jeffrey Hackman
Title: Vice President
KFORCE GOVERNMENT HOLDINGS INC.
By: /s/ Jeffrey Hackman
Name: Jeffrey Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
KFORCE INC.
By: /s/ David M. Kelly
Name: David M. Kelly
Title: Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

[***] indicates that certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted because the information is (i) not
material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if disclosed.

Execution Version
AMENDMENT NO. 1
TO
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into
as of March 29, 2019, by and among ManTech International Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Purchaser”), Kforce
Government Solutions, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation (the “Company”), Kforce Government Holdings Inc., a Florida corporation
(the “Parent”), and Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Seller”). Capitalized terms used in this Amendment and not otherwise
defined herein have the meanings given in the Purchase Agreement (as defined below).
RECITALS
A. The Purchaser, the Company, the Parent and the Seller are parties to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of
February 28, 2019, pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Parent, and thereby indirectly acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Parent’s wholly owned subsidiary,
the Company (the “Purchase Agreement”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement.
B. The parties desire to amend the Purchase Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 11.1 thereof.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1. Amendments. The parties hereby agree to amend the Purchase Agreement as follows:
(a) Exhibit B of the Purchase Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(i) by deleting the line item for [***] and replacing it with the following:
[***]

Company

[***]

(ii) by deleting the line item for [***]and replacing it with the following:

1

Second Updated and Restated Transaction Bonus
Letter, dated as of March 25, 2019, by and between
[***], the Company and the Seller

[***] indicates that certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted because the information is (i) not
material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if disclosed.

[***]

Company

[***]

Updated and Restated Transaction Bonus Letter,
dated as of March 19, 2019, by and between [***],
the Company and the Seller

2. Miscellaneous.
(a) Except to the extent specifically amended hereby, the Purchase Agreement is unmodified and remains in full force
and effect.
(b) This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts each of which shall be deemed to constitute an
original and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each party hereto and delivered to the other
parties. This Amendment, to the extent signed and delivered by means of a facsimile machine, e-mail, DocuSign or other means of
electronic transmission, shall be treated in all manner and respects and for all purposes as an original signature, agreement or instrument
and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person.
(c) This Amendment and the rights and duties of the Parties hereunder shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts made and to be performed wholly within such state,
without regard to the conflict of laws principles of such state.
(d) This Amendment will be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and
assigns.

[Signature Page Immediately Follows]

2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment to be signed by their respective duly authorized
representatives as of the date first written above.

MANTECH INTERNATIONAL
CORPORATION
By: /s/ Michael R. Putnam
Name: Michael R. Putnam
Title: Senior Vice President, Corporate
& Regulatory Affairs
KFORCE GOVERNMENT SOLUTIONS, INC.
By: /s/ Jeffrey Hackman
Name: Jeffrey Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
KFORCE GOVERNMENT HOLDINGS INC.
By: /s/ David M. Kelly
Name: David M. Kelly
Title: Senior Vice President & Chief
Financial Officer
KFORCE INC.
By: /s/ David M. Kelly
Name: David M. Kelly
Title: Senior Vice President & Chief
Financial Officer

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Stock Purchase Agreement

KFORCE INC.
2019 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
Grantee:
Type of Award:
Date of Grant:
Grant (# of awards):
Fair Market Value on Date of Grant:
Kforce Inc. (the “Firm”), pursuant to its 2019 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), hereby grants the shares summarized above to stated Grantee. The shares are subject to
the terms and conditions set forth within the Plan, and unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this Agreement;
however, certain terms of this award are provided below:
Vesting
Subject to the terms and conditions within Section 5 of the Plan, the restricted stock awarded to the Grantee vests, as
follows: ____________________________________
Other Terms
The following “Other Terms” are applicable to this award unless otherwise addressed in an employment agreement between the employee and the Firm.
In the case of a change in control, death of the Grantee or total and permanent disability (as defined in the Plan), the unvested portion of the award shall vest immediately.
If the Grantee voluntarily resigns or is terminated with or without cause, the unvested portion of the award shall be forfeited immediately.
Dividend and Voting Rights
The unvested portion of the RS granted above contains the following terms as it relates to dividend and voting rights (the vested portion of the RS granted above has
equivalent rights to a share of Kforce common stock):
Dividend Rights:
__ Right to dividends or dividend equivalents 1
__ No right to dividends or dividend equivalents rights 2
Voting Rights: the unvested restricted stock contains voting rights unless the shares have been forfeited by the grantee.
1

The Firm shall make any payments related to dividends declared in additional shares of restricted stock, which shall be treated as part of the grant of the underlying restricted stock. The grantee’s interest in such stock
dividend shall be forfeited or shall become nonforfeitable at the same time as the underlying restricted stock is forfeited or becomes nonforfeitable.
2

The grantee shall not be entitled to any future payments to compensate the grantee for the shares not containing dividend rights.

Tax Withholding
Upon the occurrence of a vesting event, the Grantee must satisfy the federal, state, local or foreign income and social insurance withholding taxes imposed by reason of
the vesting of the restricted stock. The Grantee shall make an election with respect to the method of satisfaction of such tax withholding obligation in accordance with procedures
established by the Firm.
83(b) Election
In order for an election pursuant to IRS Code 83(b) to be valid, you are required to provide a signed election form to Kforce. Please consult your tax advisor prior to
making any such 83(b) election.

General Disclaimer
The Firm undertakes no duty or responsibility for providing periodic updates to you in the future as it relates to this award.

Approval of Award (Grantor):
Name Printed

Signature

Acceptance of Award (Grantee):
Name Printed

Signature

* By signing this Award Agreement, you acknowledge receipt of the (i) Prospectus covering common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and other stock-based awards granted under the 2019 Stock Incentive Plan and (ii) a copy of our Annual Report for our most recently
completed fiscal year.

KFORCE INC.
2019 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
Grantee:
Type of Award:
Date of Grant:
Grant (# of awards):
Fair Market Value on Date of Grant:

Kforce Inc. (the “Firm”), pursuant to its 2019 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), hereby grants the RSUs summarized above to stated Grantee,
pursuant to the Other Stock-Based Award provisions of Section 9 of the Plan. Each RSU represents the right to receive a share of the Firm's common stock if
the RSU becomes vested in accordance with this Agreement. The RSUs are subject to the terms and conditions set forth within the Plan, and unless otherwise
defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this Agreement; however, certain terms of this award are provided
below:
Vesting
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the RSUs awarded to the Grantee vest, as follows, provided that on each vesting date the Grantee is
an Employee of or Consultant to the Firm or a Subsidiary: ___________________________________
Dividend Equivalents
Prior to the issuance of shares in settlement of the RSUs granted above, the RSUs contain the following terms as it relates to dividend equivalents:
Dividend Equivalent Rights:
__ Right to dividend equivalents 1
__ No right to dividend equivalents 2
1

The grantee will accrue dividend equivalents equal to the cash dividend or distribution that would have been paid on the RSUs had the RSUs been issued and outstanding shares on the record date for the
dividend/distribution. The dividend equivalents will be converted into additional RSUs based on the Fair Market Value of the underlying shares on the record date of such dividend/distribution, and any resulting
fractional number of RSUs will be rounded to the nearest whole number. The grantee’s interest in such additional RSUs shall be forfeited or shall become nonforfeitable and subject to settlement at the same time as the
RSUs to which they relate are forfeited or become nonforfeitable and subject to settlement.
2

The grantee shall not be entitled to any future payments to compensate the grantee for the award not containing dividend equivalent rights.

Timing and Manner of Settlement of Vested RSUs
Vested RSUs will be settled by the Firm delivering to the Grantee a number of shares equal to the number of vested RSUs. Except as otherwise
provided in a valid deferral election, settlement of vested RSUs will occur as promptly as practicable after the date on which the RSUs become vested, but in
no event later than 30 days after the vesting date. Any fractional shares will be rounded down to the next whole number of shares. Subject to any conditions
and procedures deemed appropriate or necessary from time to time by the Compensation Committee of the Firm's Board of Directors (the "Committee"),
including the required timing of a deferral election and the suspension of the right to elect deferrals or to make changes in any existing deferral election, the
grantee may elect to defer the RSU settlement date using the deferral election form provided by the Firm.

Code Section 409A
Payments made pursuant to this Agreement are intended to be exempt from Code Section 409A or to otherwise comply with Code Section 409A.
Accordingly, the provisions of this section will supersede any other provision of this Agreement or the Plan in order that the RSUs, and related dividend
equivalents and any other related rights, will be exempt from or otherwise comply with Code Section 409A. In addition, the Firm reserves the right, to the
extent the Firm deems necessary or advisable in its discretion, to unilaterally amend or modify the Plan and/or this Agreement to ensure that all RSUs, and
related dividend equivalents and any other related rights, are exempt from or otherwise have terms that comply, and in operation comply, with Code Section
409A (including, without limitation, the avoidance of penalties thereunder). The Firm makes no representations that the RSUs, and related
dividend equivalents and any other related rights, will be exempt from or avoid any penalties that may apply under Code Section 409A, makes no
undertaking to preclude Code Section 409A from applying to the RSUs and related dividend equivalents and any other related rights, and will not indemnify
or provide a gross up payment to a grantee (or his or her beneficiary) for any taxes, interest or penalties imposed under Code Section 409A. Each portion
of RSUs (including dividend equivalents accrued thereon) that is scheduled to become vested and nonforfeitable at a separate stated vesting date under this
Agreement will be deemed a separate payment for purposes of Code Section 409A.
In the case of any RSUs that constitute a deferral of compensation under Code Section 409A ("Code Section 409A RSUs"), the following restrictions
will apply:
•

•

•

Separation from Service. Any payment in settlement of the Code Section 409A RSUs that is triggered by a termination of Continuous Status as an
Employee or Consultant (or other termination of employment) hereunder will occur only if the grantee has had a “separation from service” within
the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-1(h), with such separation from service treated as the termination for purposes of determining the
timing of any settlement based on such termination.
Application of Six-Month Delay. If (1) the grantee has a separation from service (within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-1(h)) for a
reason other than death, and (2) a payment in settlement of Code Section 409A RSUs is triggered by such separation from service, and (3) the grantee
is a “specified employee” under Code Section 409A, then, to the extent required for compliance with Code Section 409A, the settlement of Code
Section 409A RSUs that is triggered by separation from service where the settlement otherwise would occur within six months after the separation
from service will be made on the date six months and one day after separation from service. During the six-month delay period, accelerated
settlement will be permitted in the event of the grantee’s death and for no other reason, except to the extent permitted under Code Section 409A.
The settlement of Code Section 409A RSUs may not be accelerated by the Firm except to the extent permitted under Code Section 409A. The Firm
may, however, accelerate vesting of Code Section 409A RSUs without changing the settlement terms of such Code Section 409A RSUs.

Any restriction that is imposed on Code Section 409A RSUs under the terms of this Agreement or other documents solely to ensure compliance with
Code Section 409A shall not be applied to an RSU that is not a Code Section 409A RSU, except to the extent necessary to preserve the status of such RSU as
not being a “deferral of compensation” under Code Section 409A. If any mandatory term that is required for any RSUs, or related dividend equivalents
or other related rights, to avoid tax penalties or additional taxes under Code Section 409A is not otherwise explicitly provided in this Agreement or other
applicable documents, such term is hereby incorporated by reference and fully applicable as though set forth at length herein. With respect to any settlement
of any RSUs during a specified period following the stated vesting date or other date triggering a right to settlement, the grantee will have no discretion
or influence on any determination as to the tax year in which the settlement will occur.

General Disclaimer

The Firm undertakes no duty or responsibility for providing periodic updates to you in the future as it relates to this award.
Approval of Award (Grantor):
Name Printed

Signature

Acceptance of Award (Grantee):
Name Printed

Signature

* By signing this Award Agreement, you acknowledge receipt of the (i) Prospectus covering common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and other stock-based awards granted under the 2019 Stock Incentive Plan and (ii) a copy of our Annual Report for our most recently
completed fiscal year.

FIRST AMENDMENT AND CONSENT
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT AND CONSENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of February 28, 2019, is by and among
KFORCE INC., a Florida corporation (the “Borrower”), the Subsidiary Guarantors party hereto (the “Guarantors”), the Lenders (as
defined below) party hereto and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as administrative agent on behalf of the
Lenders under the Credit Agreement (as hereinafter defined) (in such capacity, the “ Administrative Agent”). Capitalized terms used
herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement (as defined below).
WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Guarantors, certain banks and financial institutions from time to time party thereto (the
“Lenders”) and the Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of May 25, 2017 as modified by that
certain Consent, dated as of July 19, 2017 and as further modified by that certain Consent, dated as of September 8, 2017 (as amended,
modified, extended, restated, replaced, or supplemented from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”);
WHEREAS, the Borrower informed the Administrative Agent that it intends to sell or cause to be sold all or substantially all of
the assets or Equity Interests of Kforce Government Holdings Inc. and Kforce Government Solutions, Inc. and/or TraumaFX Solutions,
Inc. (together, the “First Amendment Asset Sales”) within one year of the First Amendment Effective Date (as defined below);
WHEREAS, the Borrower informed the Administrative Agent that it intends to make a one-time payment to fund a
supplemental executive retirement plan (the “SERP Payment” and the “SERP,” respectively) in an amount up to $15,000,000;
WHEREAS, the Credit Parties have requested that the Required Lenders (i) amend certain provisions of the Credit Agreement
to permit, among other things, the First Amendment Asset Sales and (ii) consent to the SERP Payment; and
WHEREAS, the Required Lenders are willing to (i) to make such amendments to the Credit Agreement and (ii) consent to the
SERP Payment, each in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements hereinafter set forth, and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
1.1 New Definitions. The following definitions are hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement in the appropriate
alphabetical order:
“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial
Ownership Regulation.
“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“First Amendment Asset Sales ” means the sale by Borrower of all or substantially all of the assets or Equity Interests of
(i) Kforce Government Holdings Inc. and Kforce Government Solutions, Inc. and/or (ii) TraumaFX Solutions, Inc. on or before
February 28, 2020.
“First Amendment Effective Date” means February 28, 2019.
“Replacement Rate” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.8(c).
1.2 Amendment to Definition of Capital Expenditures. The definition of “Capital Expenditures” set forth in Section 1.1 of the
Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“Capital Expenditures” means, with respect to Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a Consolidated basis, for any period,
(a) the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures that are (or would be) set forth as capital
expenditures in a consolidated statement of cash flows of such Person for such period prepared in accordance with GAAP and

(b) additions for implementation costs of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract after giving effect to Accounting
Standards Update No. 2018-15.
1.3 Amendment to Definition of Capital Lease. The definition of “Capital Lease” set forth in Section 1.1 of the Credit
Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“Capital Lease” means any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a
combination thereof, for which the lessee’s obligations are or would be required to be classified and accounted for as capital
leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP as in effect on the Closing Date (assuming for such purposes that the
leases were in existence on the Closing Date), without regard to any classification or reclassification as financing or operating
leases upon the Person’s adoption of leasing standard ASC 842.
1.4 Amendment to Definition of Consolidated EBITDA. The definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” set forth in Section 1.1 of
the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
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“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, the sum of the following determined on a Consolidated basis, without
duplication, for Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP: (a) Consolidated Net Income for such period plus (b)
the sum of the following, without duplication, to the extent deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income for such period:
(i) the provision for federal, state, local and foreign taxes, (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense, (iii) amortization and depreciation
expenses, (iv) amortization associated with implementation costs of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract after giving
effect to Accounting Standards Update No. 2018-15, (v) share based compensation expense to the extent not settled in cash, (vi)
losses from discontinued operations, (vii) severance amounts paid or accrued (to the extent not added back in a prior period)
and charges incurred during such period in connection with the redemption or repurchase of options or shares of former
employees of Borrower and its Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount not to exceed $4,000,000 during any four (4) consecutive
fiscal quarter period, (viii) Transaction Costs; provided that the aggregate amount of Transaction Costs related to Permitted
Acquisitions or any proposed acquisition that does not close added back under this clause (viii) shall not exceed $5,000,000
(unless otherwise agreed to by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion) for similar acquisitions during any four (4)
consecutive fiscal quarter period, (ix) any losses on sales of or impairment of property, plants, equipment and intangible assets,
(x) other expenses reducing Consolidated Net Income that do not represent a cash item in such period or future periods, (xi)
other reasonable non-recurring or unusual cash expenses incurred during such period not to exceed $3,000,000 during any four
(4) consecutive fiscal quarter period and (xii) any extraordinary charges, less (c) the sum of the following, without duplication,
to the extent included in determining Consolidated Net Income for such period: (i) interest income, (ii) any extraordinary gains
(including income or gains from discontinued operations), (iii) non-cash gains or non-cash items increasing Consolidated Net
Income, and (iv) any gains on sales of property, plant and equipment. For purposes of this Agreement, Consolidated EBITDA
shall be adjusted on a Pro Forma Basis.
1.5 Amendment to Definition of LIBOR. The definition of “LIBOR” set forth in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby
amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“LIBOR” means, subject to the implementation of a Replacement Rate in accordance with Section 5.8(c),
(1) for any interest rate calculation with respect to a LIBOR Rate Loan, the rate of interest per annum determined on the
basis of the rate as set by the ICE Benchmark Administration (“ICE”) (or the successor thereto if ICE is no longer making such
rate available) for deposits in Dollars for a period equal to the applicable Interest Period which appears on Reuters Screen
LIBOR01 Page (or any applicable successor page) at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two (2) London Banking Days
prior to the first day of the applicable Interest Period. If, for any reason, such rate does not appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR01
Page (or any applicable successor page), then “LIBOR” shall be determined by the Administrative Agent to be the arithmetic
average of the rate per annum at which deposits in Dollars would be offered by first class banks in the London interbank market
to the Administrative Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two (2) London Banking Days prior to the first day of
the applicable Interest Period for a period equal to such Interest Period, and
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(2) for any interest rate calculation with respect to a Base Rate Loan, the rate of interest per annum determined on the
basis of the rate as set by the ICE (or the successor thereto if ICE is no longer making such rate available) for deposits in Dollars
for an Interest Period equal to one month (commencing on the date of determination of such interest rate) which appears on the
Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (or any applicable successor page) at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on such date of
determination, or, if such date is not a Business Day, then the immediately preceding Business Day. If, for any reason, such rate
does not appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (or any applicable successor page) then “LIBOR” for such Base Rate Loan
shall be determined by the Administrative Agent to be the arithmetic average of the rate per annum at which deposits in Dollars
would be offered by first class banks in the London interbank market to the Administrative Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m.
(London time) on such date of determination for a period equal to one month commencing on such date of determination.
Each calculation by the Administrative Agent of LIBOR shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent
manifest error.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) in no event shall LIBOR (including, without limitation, any Replacement Rate with
respect thereto) be less than 0% and (ii) unless otherwise specified in any amendment to this Agreement entered into in
accordance with Section 5.8(c), in the event that a Replacement Rate with respect to LIBOR is implemented then all references
herein to LIBOR shall be deemed references to such Replacement Rate.
1.6 Amendment to Section 1.3. Section 1.3(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted.
1.7 Addition of Section 1.13. A new Section 1.13 of the Credit Agreement is hereby added to read as follows:
SECTION 1.13 Rates. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have any
liability with respect to, the administration, submission or any other matter related to the rates in the definition of “LIBOR”
(other than Administrative Agent’s calculation of LIBOR).
1.8 Amendment to Section 5.8. Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
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(a) Circumstances Affecting LIBOR Rate Availability . Unless and until a Replacement Rate is implemented in
accordance with clause (c) below, in connection with any request for a LIBOR Rate Loan or a conversion to or continuation
thereof or otherwise, if for any reason (i) the Administrative Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and
binding absent manifest error) that Dollar deposits are not being offered to banks in the London interbank Eurodollar market for
the applicable amount and Interest Period of such Loan, (ii) the Administrative Agent shall determine (which determination shall
be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that reasonable and adequate means do not exist for the ascertaining the
LIBOR Rate for such Interest Period with respect to a proposed LIBOR Rate Loan or (iii) the Required Lenders shall determine
(which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that the LIBOR Rate does not adequately and fairly
reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining such Loans during such Interest Period, then the Administrative Agent
shall promptly give notice thereof to Borrower. Thereafter, until the Administrative Agent notifies Borrower that such
circumstances no longer exist, the obligation of the Lenders to make LIBOR Rate Loans and the right of Borrower to convert
any Loan to or continue any Loan as a LIBOR Rate Loan shall be suspended, and Borrower shall either (A) repay in full (or
cause to be repaid in full) the then outstanding principal amount of each such LIBOR Rate Loan together with accrued interest
thereon (subject to Section 5.1(d)), on the last day of the then current Interest Period applicable to such LIBOR Rate Loan; or
(B) convert the then outstanding principal amount of each such LIBOR Rate Loan to a Base Rate Loan as of the last day of such
Interest Period.
(b) Laws Affecting LIBOR Rate Availability . If, after the date hereof, the introduction of, or any change in, any
Applicable Law or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or
comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any of the Lenders (or any of
their respective Lending Offices) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such
Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency, shall make it unlawful or impossible for any of the Lenders (or
any of their respective Lending Offices) to honor its obligations hereunder to make or maintain any LIBOR Rate Loan, such
Lender shall promptly give notice thereof to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice
to Borrower and the other Lenders. Thereafter, until the Administrative Agent notifies Borrower that such circumstances no
longer exist, (i) the obligations of the Lenders to make LIBOR Rate Loans, and the right of Borrower to convert any Loan to a
LIBOR Rate Loan or continue any Loan as a LIBOR Rate Loan shall be suspended and thereafter Borrower may select only
Base Rate Loans and (ii) if any of the Lenders may not lawfully continue to maintain a LIBOR Rate Loan to the end of the then
current Interest Period applicable thereto, the applicable Loan shall immediately be converted to a Base Rate Loan for the
remainder of such Interest Period.
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(c) Alternative Rate of Interest. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 5.8(a) above, if the Administrative
Agent has made the determination (such determination to be conclusive absent manifest error) that (i) the circumstances
described in Section 5.8(a)(i) or (a)(ii) have arisen and that such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary, (ii) any applicable
interest rate specified herein is no longer a widely recognized benchmark rate for newly originated loans in the U.S. syndicated
loan market in the applicable currency or (iii) the applicable supervisor or administrator (if any) of any applicable interest rate
specified herein or any Governmental Authority having, or purporting to have, jurisdiction over the Administrative Agent has
made a public statement identifying a specific date after which any applicable interest rate specified herein shall no longer be
used for determining interest rates for loans in the U.S. syndicated loan market in the applicable currency, then the
Administrative Agent may, to the extent practicable (in consultation with Borrower and as determined by the Administrative
Agent to be generally in accordance with similar situations and similar borrowers in other transactions in which it is serving as
administrative agent and otherwise consistent with market practice generally), establish a replacement interest rate (the
“Replacement Rate”), in which case, the Replacement Rate shall, subject to the next two sentences, replace such applicable
interest rate for all purposes under the Loan Documents unless and until (A) an event described in Section 5.8(a)(i), (a)(ii), (c)(i),
(c)(ii) or (c)(iii) occurs with respect to the Replacement Rate or (B) the Required Lenders (directly, or through the
Administrative Agent) notify Borrower that the Replacement Rate does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders
of funding the Loans bearing interest at the Replacement Rate. In connection with the establishment and application of the
Replacement Rate, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be amended solely with the consent of the
Administrative Agent, as may be necessary or appropriate, in the opinion of the Administrative Agent, to effect the provisions
of this Section 5.8(c). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents (including,
without limitation, Section 12.2), such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other
party to this Agreement so long as the Administrative Agent shall not have received, within five (5) Business Days of the
delivery of such amendment to the Lenders, written notices from such Lenders that in the aggregate constitute Required
Lenders, with each such notice stating that such Lender objects to such amendment (which such notice shall note with
specificity the particular provisions of the amendment to which such Lender objects). To the extent the Replacement Rate is
approved by the Administrative Agent in connection with this clause (c), the Replacement Rate shall be applied in a manner
consistent with market practice; provided that, in each case, to the extent such market practice is not administratively feasible for
the Administrative Agent, such Replacement Rate shall be applied as otherwise reasonably determined by the Administrative
Agent (it being understood that any such modification by the Administrative Agent shall not require the consent of, or
consultation with, any of the Lenders).
1.9 Amendment to Section 7.23. Section 7.23 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following sentence to
the end of the paragraph as follows:
As of the First Amendment Effective Date, all of the information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification is
true and correct.
1.10 Amendment to Section 8.3. Section 8.3 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new subsection (g) at the
end of such section to read as follows, and by making the necessary grammatical changes thereto as necessary to incorporate such
change:
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(g) any change in the information provided in the Beneficial Ownership Certification that would result in a change to the
list of beneficial owners identified in parts (c) or (d) of such certification.
1.11 Amendment to Section 8.18. Section 8.18 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as
follows:
Anti-Corruption; Beneficial Ownership Certification. (i) Maintain in effect policies and procedures designed to ensure
compliance by Borrower, its Subsidiaries, and their respective directors, officers, employees, and agents with Anti-Corruption
Laws and applicable Sanctions applicable to the conduct of the business of Borrower and its Subsidiaries, (ii) notify the
Administrative Agent and each Lender that previously received a Beneficial Ownership Certification of any change in the
information provided in the Beneficial Ownership Certification that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners
identified therein and (iii) promptly upon the reasonable request of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, provide the
Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, any information or documentation requested by it for purposes of
complying with the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.
1.12 Amendment to Section 9.3(s). Section 9.3(s) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as
follows:
(s) Investments of any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof not otherwise permitted pursuant to this Section in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $25,000,000 at any time outstanding.
1.13 Amendment to Section 9.5. Section 9.5 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new subsection (l) at the
end of such section to read as follows, and by making the necessary grammatical changes thereto as necessary to incorporate such
change:
(l) the First Amendment Asset Sales.
1.14 Addition of Section 9.18. A new Section 9.18 of the Credit Agreement is hereby added to read as follows:
SECTION 9.18 Recent Changes in Delaware Law. Notwithstanding anything herein or any other Loan Document to the
contrary, no Credit Party that is a limited liability company may divide itself into two or more limited liability companies or
series thereof (pursuant to a “plan of division” as contemplated under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act or
otherwise) without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, except that any Credit Party that is a limited liability
company may divide itself into two or more limited liability companies or series thereof (pursuant to a “plan of division” as
contemplated under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the
Administrative Agent so long as all such limited liability companies or series thereof are Borrowers (if the entity divided is a
Borrower) or Guarantors (if the entity divided is a Guarantor) and such new Borrowers or new Guarantors, as applicable,
comply with the obligations set forth in Section 8.17 and the other applicable further assurances obligations set forth in the Loan
Documents.
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1.15 Amendment to Section 12.2. The proviso in Section 12.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new
clause (vii) to read as follows, and by making the necessary grammatical changes thereto as necessary to incorporate such change:
(vii) the Administrative Agent may, without the consent of any Lender, enter into amendments or modifications to this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or enter into additional Loan Documents as the Administrative Agent
reasonably deems appropriate in order to implement any Replacement Rate or otherwise effectuate the terms of Section 5.8(c) in
accordance with the terms of Section 5.8(c).
ARTICLE II
CONSENT
2.1 Consent. Notwithstanding any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, the Required Lenders
hereby consent to (i) the Borrower making the SERP Payment in an aggregate amount not to exceed $15,000,000, (ii) the Borrower
making additional payments in various amounts to the SERP on substantially similar terms to the initial SERP Payment (which
additional payments as permitted under Section 9.7 of the Credit Agreement and the SERP Payment will not be deemed “Investments”
under the Credit Agreement), (iii) the investment of assets held pursuant to the SERP by or on behalf of the Credit Parties without regard
to limitations imposed by Section 9.3 of the Credit Agreement, and (iv) distributions under the SERP to plan beneficiaries; provided in
each case that on a Pro Forma Basis after giving effect to such action the Borrower will be in pro forma compliance with the financial
covenants set forth in Section 9.14 of the Credit Agreement. The provisions of this section shall be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into the Credit Agreement.
2.2 Effectiveness of Consent. This consent shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth herein and shall not (a) be
construed as a consent to any other action or a waiver of any provision, breach, Default or Event of Default other than as specifically
consented to or waived herein nor as a consent to any other action or a waiver of any provision, breach, Default or Event of Default of
which the Lenders have not been informed by the Credit Parties or any of them, (b) affect the right of the Lenders to demand
compliance by the Credit Parties with all terms and conditions of the Loan Documents, except as specifically modified or waived by this
Amendment, (c) be deemed a consent to or waiver of any future transaction or future action on the part of the Credit Parties requiring
the Lenders’ or the Required Lenders’ consent or approval under the Loan Documents, or (d) except as consented to or waived hereby,
be deemed or construed to be a waiver or release of, or a limitation upon, the Agent’s or the Lenders’ exercise of any rights or remedies
under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, whether arising as a consequence of any Default or Event of Default which
may now exist or otherwise, all such rights and remedies hereby being expressly reserved.
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ARTICLE III
CONDITION TO EFFECTIVENESS
3.1 Closing Conditions. This Amendment shall become effective as of the day and year set forth above (the “First Amendment
Effective Date”) upon satisfaction of the following conditions (in each case, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent):
(a) Executed Amendment. The Administrative Agent shall have received a copy of this Amendment duly executed by
each of the Borrower, the Guarantors, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent.
(b) Fees and Expenses. The Administrative Agent shall have received from the Borrower such fees and expenses that are
payable in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and King & Spalding LLP shall have
received from the Borrower payment of all outstanding reasonable fees and expenses previously incurred and all reasonable
fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Amendment.
(c) Beneficial Ownership Certification. The Administrative Agent and each other Lender requesting the same shall have
received from any Credit Party that qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation a
Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to such Credit Party.
(d) Miscellaneous. All other documents and legal matters in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Amendment shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent and its counsel.
ARTICLE IV
MISCELLANEOUS
4.1 Amended Terms. On and after the First Amendment Effective Date, all references to the Credit Agreement in each of the
Loan Documents shall hereafter mean the Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment. Except as specifically amended hereby or
otherwise agreed, the Credit Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect according to its terms.
4.2 Representations and Warranties of Credit Parties. Each of the Credit Parties represents and warrants as follows:
(a) It has taken all necessary corporate and other organizational action required of it to authorize the execution, delivery
and performance of this Amendment.
(b) This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by such Person and constitutes such Person’s legal, valid
and binding obligation, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be subject to (i) bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance or transfer, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally
and (ii) general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).
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(c) No consent, approval, authorization, or order of, or filing, registration or qualification with, any court or
governmental authority or third party is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by such Person of
this Amendment where the failure to obtain such required consent, approval, authorization, order, filing, registration or
qualification could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(d) The representations and warranties set forth in Article VII of the Credit Agreement and in the other Loan Documents
are true and correct in all material respects, except to the extent any such representation and warranty is qualified by materiality
or reference to Material Adverse Effect, in which case, such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects,
on and as of the date hereof (except for any such representation and warranty that by its terms is made only as of an earlier date,
which representation and warranty shall remain true and correct as of such earlier date, except for any representation and
warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect, which such representation and warranty shall be
true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date).
(e) After giving effect to this Amendment, no event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Default or an
Event of Default.
4.3 Loan Document. This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document under the terms of the Credit Agreement.
4.4 Further Assurances. The Credit Parties agree to promptly take such action, upon the request of the Administrative Agent,
as is reasonably necessary to carry out the intent of this Amendment.
4.5 Entirety. This Amendment and the other Loan Documents embody the entire agreement among the parties hereto relating to
the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede all previous documents, agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to
the subject matter hereof and thereof.
4.6 Counterparts; Telecopy . This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different
counterparts), each of which when so executed and delivered will constitute an original, but all of which when taken together will
constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means shall be
effective as an original and shall constitute a representation that an original will be delivered.
4.7 No Actions, Claims, Etc. As of the date hereof, each of the Credit Parties hereby acknowledges and confirms that it has no
knowledge of any actions, causes of action, claims, demands, damages and liabilities of whatever kind or nature, in law or in equity,
against the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, or the Administrative Agent’s or the Lenders’ respective officers, employees,
representatives, agents, counsel or directors arising from any action by such Persons, or failure of such Persons to act, under the Credit
Agreement on or prior to the date hereof.
4.8 GOVERNING LAW . THIS AMENDMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW
OTHER THAN NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW 5-1401 AND 5-1402.
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4.9 Successors and Assigns. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their
respective successors and assigns.
4.10 Consent to Jurisdiction; Service of Process; Waiver of Jury Trial . The jurisdiction, service of process and waiver of
jury trial provisions set forth in Sections 12.5 and 12.6 of the Credit Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference, mutatis mutandis.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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KFORCE INC.
FIRST AMENDMENT AND CONSENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed on the date first above written.
BORROWER:
KFORCE INC., as Borrower
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Accounting
GUARANTORS:
KFORCE GOVERNMENT SOLUTIONS, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Vice President
KGS TRAINING TECHNOLOGIES, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
TRAUMAFX SOLUTIONS INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
KFAH, LLC, as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Vice President
KFAH II, LLC, as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Vice President

KFORCE.COM, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: President
KFORCE FLEXIBLE SOLUTIONS, LLC, as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
KFORCE GOVERNMENT HOLDINGS INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
KFORCE STAFFING SOLUTIONS OF CALIFORNIA, LLC, as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Vice President
KFORCE GLOBAL SOLUTIONS, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
ROMAC INTERNATIONAL, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: President
KFORCE SERVICES CORP., as Subsidiary Guarantor
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Hackman
Name: Jeffrey B. Hackman
Title: Senior Vice President
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, in its capacity as Administrative
Agent, Issuing Lender, Swingline Lender and as a Lender
By: /s/ Lynn E. Culbreath
Name: Lynn E. Culbreath
Title: Senior Vice President

LENDERS:
U.S. Bank National Corporation, in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ Kenneth R. Fieler
Name: Kenneth R. Fieler
Title: Vice President
REGIONS BANK, in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ Stowe Query
Name: Stowe Query
Title: Vice President
BMO Harris Bank, N.A., in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ Betsy Phillips
Name: Betsy Phillips
Title: Director
Fifth Third Bank, in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ David A. Austin
Name: David A. Austin
Title: Senior Vice President
MUFG Bank Ltd. (f/k/a The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.), in its capacity as a
Lender
By: /s/ Liwei Liu
Name: Liwei Liu
Title: Vice President
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Bank of America, N.A., in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ Carmen Cardozo
Name: Carmen Cardozo
Title: Senior Vice President
Branch Banking and Trust Company,
in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ Scott Fricke
Name: Scott Fricke
Title: Senior Vice President
IBERIABANK, a Louisiana state-chartered bank,
in its capacity as a Lender
By: /s/ Michael J. Roth
Name: Michael J. Roth
Title: Executive Vice President

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David L. Dunkel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kforce Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: May 2, 2019
/s/ DAVID L. DUNKEL
David L. Dunkel,
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David M. Kelly, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kforce Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: May 2, 2019
/s/ DAVID M. KELLY
David M. Kelly,
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Kforce Inc. (“Kforce”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), I, David L. Dunkel, Chief Executive Officer of Kforce, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d));
and
(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Kforce.
Date: May 2, 2019
/s/ DAVID L. DUNKEL
David L. Dunkel,
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Kforce Inc. (“Kforce”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), I, David M. Kelly, Chief Financial Officer of Kforce, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d));
and
(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Kforce.
Date: May 2, 2019
/s/ DAVID M. KELLY
David M. Kelly,
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

